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DAY 01 – 11 March 2016 

 

  [9.30 am] 

 

SJH:   Yes, good morning, and thank you for all the cooperation we have had 5 

to date and work that has been done in attempt to reach agreement; it is 

a tsunami of paper in this particular case. 

 

 Just before I ask you to open, Mr Laing, just a reminder we put out a 

minute to this effect that timings must be adhered to, cross-10 

examination, all such other matters; we need that cooperation because 

you will have noted from the schedule which has changed, because on 

a number of days it did have us sitting until about 8.30, 9.00 pm, but 

we still need to stick closely to the timetable. 

 15 

 So unless anyone has got anything else to raise we will go straight to 

you, Mr Laing. 

 

MR LAING:   If the Panel pleases you will have a fairly lengthy opening from 

me but I will just touch on the various topics and as the hearing goes on 20 

- - - 

 

SJH:   Just pause for a moment.  Yes, thank you. 

 

MR LAING:   If, as we come to each topic, there is a need to expand on my 25 

opening I am more than happy to do so at that stage.  So I will try to 

keep this fairly brief and just really go through the highlights of each 

topic.   

 

 Just one housekeeping matter, a number of memoranda or caucusing 30 

statements were filed late yesterday and I will deal with them a bit later 

on in my submission, so there has been some progress towards 

hopefully shortening this hearing already. 

 

SJH:   Yes, look it is - - - 35 

 

MR LAING:    And I do hope that it will continue. 

 

SJH:   It is a dynamic process and I am sure it will because it has in all the 

other hearings, thank you. 40 

 

MR LAING:   So if I start just at page 2; as with many other hearings the issues 

have been considerably narrowed through mediation and formal 

discussions, as I say some joint statements have been filed and some 

memoranda just dealing with agreements. 45 
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 So if I can just indicate today we will no longer be cross-examining 

Deborah Hewett, the Panel was advised about that this morning I 

believe. 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you. 5 

 

MR LAING:   And that is good and there is some obviously much lesser 

amount of cross-examination required of Ms Kelly Andrew as well so 

that is just two things happening today.   

 10 

SJH:   Just one matter, perhaps we could raise it at the start, we have been 

provided with some New Zealand standards that Mr Goodwin is going 

to produce.  It seemed to us it would be helpful if all relevant standards 

just not noise but any other New Zealand standard, if the Council could 

make that available as a bundle at some stage during the hearing. 15 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, we can go through and - - - 

 

SJH:   It does not need to be done today, but at some stage. 

 20 

MR LAING:   I just received this thing from Mr Goodwin and I did not know 

he was producing it, but it is the New Zealand standard. 

 

SJH:   But it would just be useful to have them all gathered together in one 

place. 25 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, thank you, we will attend to that.   

 

 So the first topic is noise and noise is of course divided into two parts; 

noise general and airport noise, and we will be dealing with general 30 

noise today. 

 

SJH:   I just again repeat on the record that for the airport stuff I stand recused.   

 

MR LAING:   Thank you, Mr Chair.  On pages 3, 4 and the top of page 5 I 35 

have set out the issues in tabular form, I thought that was probably the 

most helpful way to deal with it, and as the hearing goes on we can 

obviously have some reality checks in terms of what is outstanding on 

each issue.   

 40 

 But you can see there is a number of issues there and some of which 

will be dealt with by agreement by caucusing, other ones are 

outstanding, particularly those in relation to temporary military training 

activities, another one is ventilation systems and also special audible 

character. 45 
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 So they are the ones I think mainly you are going to hear about today. 

 

 At 2.5 on page 5, I just very briefly noted there that it is possible 

Council and KiwiRail can resolve their outstanding issues and that has 

effectively been done already, there is a joint statement dealing with 5 

that. 

 

  [9.35 am] 

 

 I then go on to deal with special audible character adjustment, 10 

temporary military training activities, you are going to hear that 

evidence today, I do not need to deal with that in my opening. 

 

 Then at page 7 I move to aircraft noise, it is quite a complex topic.  I 

set out some background in 3.2, there is a designation which has 15 

already been dealt with as part of the Plan review process – It is beyond 

challenge, and I refer there to the operational noise contours and also 

then at 3.3 the revised proposal, there are revised or constrained 

contour proposal which came from the Airport Company. 

 20 

 3.4, the proposal contains two sets of contours one for aircraft 

operational noise and one for engine testing. 

 

 And then about halfway down page 8 I set out a number of the main 

contour descriptions that will be relevant to the hearing; it is quite 25 

complex, but I just thought it might be useful for the Panel to have all 

those in one place and I am sure other parties will want to comment on 

our understanding of those, but they are there for your consideration in 

due course. 

 30 

 Page 10, I just deal with two scope issues relating to the airport noise 

position and I then deal with those two issues up to page 12, and then I 

set out the outstanding issues, again in tabular form, for your 

consideration.  I am not going to go through those now, they are all 

quite discrete issues and you are going to hear a lot of evidence about 35 

them. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just flagging, Mr Laing, in regard to the standards issues 

and it may well be they are in front of us now, but it is particularly 

important that we have those standards available when it comes to the 40 

testing of that evidence where there are differences of opinion between 

Dr Chiles and Mr Day on the interpretation of standards. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, we will see if we can get that underway today, so it is 

going to be Monday. 45 
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 And the bottom of page 14 onwards I just deal in very general terms 

about the Council’s response to various issues and that keeps on going 

up to page 18, but I am just going to skim over that now unless there 

are any specific questions or issues you have got on that at this stage, 

but as far as possible I have got the Council’s position summarised 5 

there. 

 

 You are obviously going to hear from the Airport Company about their 

position in due course and from various resident submitters as well.   

 10 

 Page 18 I move on very briefly to the Special Purpose Golf Resort 

zone.  You will be hearing from Ms Glenda Dixon this afternoon on 

that topic, there is no submitter evidence and I just very briefly explain 

the Council’s position in respect of that zone. 

 15 

 The next topic is at page 20 aircraft protection.  There is a legal issue 

sitting in there between Transpower and other parties, as to the 

Resource Management National Environmental Standards for 

Electricity Transmission Activities regulations. and I explain the 

Council’s position in relation to that in page 20, on to page 21. 20 

 

 Page 21, also I just deal with the two outstanding issues bird strike, and 

the legal question I have already discussed. 

 

 Then we come on to bird strike at page 22.  This has been quite a 25 

fraught issue, it is quite clear that the consequence of bird strike could 

be catastrophic but equally there is very little information, really 

empirical information about the scale and extent of that risk at the 

airport.   

 30 

 So whatever the Council did is bound to be wrong, but it believes that 

the package of measures that it arrived at through the proposed Plan 

process is reasonable. and I summarise it at 5.11.  The 

Airport Company has a different package of bird strike rules, which are 

annexed to Mr Bonis’ evidence-in-chief.   35 

 

  [9.40 am] 

 

 So I then can move on to page 23, guest accommodation; I explain 

there the nature of that proposal and then I deal with one specific issue 40 

concerning the zoning of 455 Memorial Avenue which is part of the 

Commodore Hotel.  There are two legal issues in relation to that 

proposal, which I set out at page 25, and I deal with them in turn at 

page 26 and on to page 28.  Then I again set out the outstanding issues 

and that goes on from page 28 to page 29.   45 
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 Then I come to sale of alcohol and I have made some quite detailed 

submissions on that topic.  It is quite a difficult topic, you will hear 

from the Crown today on that they have a different view, but I thought 

it would be useful in opening to at least set out the Council’s views in 

some detail.  Obviously the main issue is overlap and what extent this 5 

overlap. 

 

SJH:   Just your paragraph 7.5, Mr Laing, “The position adopted by 

Pacific Park appears to be now broadly supportive” – It seems to me 

that Ms McLaughlin took a position after mediation and conferencing, 10 

she then changed it and now she has changed it again; isn’t it rather that 

the Council has taken more cognisance and moved closer to the 

hospitality industry, would that not be a fairer way to put it? 

 

MR LAING:   I don’t think it is fair to say that the Council’s – Ms McLaughlin 15 

has read all the evidence, she formed her own views, I do not think it is 

in anyway due to a suggestion that there has somehow been lobbying or 

something like that. 

 

SJH:   No, I was not suggesting that at all, I am just saying it would appear not 20 

that they have come around to your view but rather the other way 

around, not from lobbying just from the evidence? 

 

MR LAING:   Well, hopefully that is what it is saying there. 

 25 

SJH:   I am not putting it in the pejorative sense. 

 

MR LAING:   No. 

 

SJH:   I am just saying you put it the wrong way round.   30 

 

MR LAING:   Well, I said “now broadly supportive” but that is now as at 

today but, no, I take your point, Mr Chair, I take your point.  The 

Council is now fairly well aligned with the hospitality industry on that 

point. 35 

 

SJH:   And we accept there is a significant issue between the RMA and the 

SSAA, which probably would be better after we have heard the 

evidence and dealt with again in closing although one can see a need 

for the overlap, and we would hope the Crown and the Council and the 40 

hospitality industry would continue to work on that. because it seems to 

us it is open for there to be an overlap as long as it is properly managed 

and there seems to be a great deal of sense in it. 
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MR LAING:   Yes, with respect, sir, exactly and we certainly will be prepared 

to keep working on that point.  I have mentioned it to my friend 

Mr Allen. 

 

SJH:   I am sure Mr Allen has taken my comments on board. 5 

 

MR LAING:   I do believe it really cries out for some sort of resolution. 

 

SJH:   Yes, I agree. 

 10 

MR LAING:   But I have gone into some detail because - - - 

 

SJH:   I understand why. 

 

MR LAING:   Because there has been a change of heart on the part of the 15 

Council and I thought “Well, I need to really explain that from a legal 

perspective” – Ms McLaughlin will explain that from the evidential 

expert perspective.   

 

 So that takes me quite a way over, I am more than happy to answer 20 

questions about that but it is probably better you hear the evidence. 

 

 So if we could go over to page 45 and I there set out what I see as the 

outstanding issues; in the round there is a whole lot of nuances that 

perhaps are not captured there but there is five key issues there.  The 25 

last one is a fairly minor technical issue.  The other ones are quite 

important in principle issues and I have just set out there what the 

Council’s view is about those various issues. 

 

 And there is obviously ongoing negotiations with Pacific Park that are 30 

not completed but hopefully will result in a memorandum early next 

week that at least as between the Council and Pacific Park can narrow 

those issues down further.  So that is sale of alcohol. 

 

 The next topic is temporary activities buildings and events and I just, at 35 

page 46, deal with the two outstanding issues there that I am aware of 

so that not a lot of dispute or time needs to be taken up with that.   

 

 Sorry, I should say that those issues go on to page 47.   

 40 

  [9.45 am] 

 

 The Panel differently constituted has already heard a lot of evidence 

about Hagley Park and from the Open Space Chapter there was an issue 

there as to whether there should be a separate zone.  There is still work 45 

coming through dealing with the redrafting of objectives and policies 
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from the Open Space Chapter.  So there is a degree of overlap there but 

I have set out the issues that I can detect from the submissions. 

 

SJH:   Again that is an area where I am, as you will be aware, recused. 

 5 

MR LAING:   Yes.  At 8.4 I do mention there scope issues, there are a number 

of scope issues.  I have not gone into them in any detail in opening; 

they are quite complex but in my view the issues around the 

relationship between the Reserves Act, Management Plans and District 

Plan has been covered off in quite a lot of detail in our submissions in 10 

relation to the open space chapter. 

 

 So the next issue is signs. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just on that, Mr Laing, you may just want to at some stage 15 

cover in your submissions on this whole bit anything that we need to 

know about as this constituted Panel on those overlap areas, I anticipate 

what those submissions are about but it might just be helpful for us to 

have the record of those matters within this Panel as well. 

 20 

MR LAING:   What I have done here is I have sort of referred to them, I am 

happy later on at some stage to - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Simply append them. 

 25 

MR LAING:   Yes, I can certainly append them in my closing but if you want 

them on the record earlier I can deal with that as well. 

 

SJH:   They will be in our records and online, so perhaps the Secretariat can 

drag those out for us. 30 

 

MR LAING:   I will come back to that issue in closing anyway because the 

Temporary Activity issues are a bit of a subset of the wider issue about 

those relationship to the Reserves Act and the Hagley Park 

Management Plan so I intend to come back to that. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I noted the substantive points were about that on 

your table, a number of them. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, thank you, sir. 40 

 

 Then I come to Signs, there is a large number of issues that are 

identified at pages 49, 50 and 51.  I do not want to take you through 

those now.  There is some agreement that has been reached, but I do 

not think it has been recorded yet in any caucusing statement, has it? 45 

No? 
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 So it is likely that the scope of those issues will narrow before you have 

to hear the evidence on those topics.   

 

 Then scheduled activities which exclude guest accommodation at 5 

page 52 and on to page 53, I set out the summary of the outstanding 

issues there.  One of the issues is really whether the two Cathedrals 

should be scheduled, as opposed to be zoned.  The Council’s position is 

that they do not need to be scheduled.  So you will be hearing evidence 

about that and I deal with that topic a bit more on page 53 and 54.   10 

 

 Then the next topic at page 54 is Outdoor Lighting and Glare; a number 

of issues there, those are set out at pages 55 and 56.  Most of them 

again are really expert evidence issues, some are planning issues but 

again you will be hearing evidence in due course on those. 15 

 

 And then I move on at page 56 to Waterbody Setbacks and a number of 

issues outlined at 57 and 58.  And I just deal very briefly at pages 58 

and 59 about the new Strategic Directions objective for freshwater.   

 20 

 That is quite a complex issue that crosses a number of proposals and I 

say at 12.7 “Council anticipates a memorandum will be filed shortly 

with the Panel” and it set out a suggested approach for hearing 

evidence on any new objective” so that is work progress but you will 

be getting hopefully a memorandum on that topic. 25 

 

  [9.50 pm] 

 

 And finally but not least, other new rules; there is just a few issues 

there, but you will be hearing from Ms McLaughlin later in the day on 30 

that topic. 

 

 So that hopefully covers the issues at this stage, I am more than happy 

to answer any questions. 

 35 

SJH:   Yes, thank you. very much Mr Laing, that is a very succinct and a 

helpful opening, we are grateful.  Mr Daysh, do you have any 

questions? 

 

MR DAYSH:   No questions, sir. 40 

 

SJH:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No questions, thank you. 

 45 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 
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MS DAWSON:   Just a couple of questions, just to make sure I am clear about 

the Council’s position on a couple rule type matters.  One is to do with 

the operational noise rules for the Airport 

 5 

 As I understand it, and I want to know if I am correct, there are no new 

rules proposed in any of the zones that relate to activities, sensitive 

activities within the 15 dBA contour through this Hearing.  We have 

heard about various of them through some of - - - 

 10 

MR LAING:   In relation to 50 contour? 

 

MS DAWSON:   The 50 contour, yes. 

 

MR LAING:   I do not think so in this Hearing- - - 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   This Hearing? 

 

MR LAING:   I would like to speak to double clarify that with Ms Dixon, but I 

think that is correct. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, we have heard some zones and we have had rules 

relating to that as we go, but there are no new ones – that is what I want 

to know; any new rules in the zones themselves, in this Hearing? 

 25 

MR LAING:   I think that is correct, there is an issue with the Isaac Trust 

around a Lmax- - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   Lmax, yes. 

 30 

MR LAING:   - - - which you are probably aware of, which is quite a separate 

issue. 

 

MS DAWSON:   This is more to do with the sensitive activity controls within 

the 50? 35 

 

MR LAING:   That is correct, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   If you could just - - - 

 40 

MR LAING:   I will, I have a note of that and I will just double check for you. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right. 

 

 And then the other one was to do with engine testing noise, again, just a 45 

couple of times in your opening submissions, you said that the 50 dBA 
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engine testing contour is for information purposes only, and there is no 

justification or need for a rule.  But I noted in the Council’s closing 

position on the Rural zones, a rule relating to sensitivities activities 

within the 50 dBA engine testing contour, was included, I think as an 

amendment in the closing. 5 

 

 So I just want to know what the Council’s final position is on that; 

whether it is “yes in the Rural but not anywhere else” or “not in any of 

the zones”. 

 10 

MR LAING:  I do not know that as well, I will have to come back to you on 

that, I was not involved in the rural Hearing, it may be yes; I 

understand the issue, yes, that is good. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Right, thank you. 15 

 

MR LAING:   Is that all? 

 

MS DAWSON:   That is all, I just want clarification on those two matters, 

thank you. 20 

 

SJH:   Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, thank you, sir. 

 25 

SJH:   Thank you Mr Laing.  Mr Allen? 

 

MR ALLEN:   Thank you, sir, and does the Panel have a copy of the Crown’s 

opening? 

 30 

SJH:   We have, and we have looked at it, and we have read it. 

 

MR ALLEN:   Perfect.  Just straight to paragraph 4 then, please, that is on 

page 4, and that is just a summary of the outstanding issues. 

 35 

 I just want to very briefly highlight what is there, and also to reiterate 

what my friend has said on behalf of the Council, that there are still 

ongoing discussions on these outstanding matters, and hopefully issues 

in dispute will narrow and ideally resolutions will be gained, and we 

will keep the Panel informed throughout. 40 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MR ALLEN:   So those matters in dispute have already been summarised, so I 

will not go into them, but the first ones in issue about ventilation, 45 
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mechanical ventilation systems inside dwellings, and I am just looking, 

that is paragraph A. 

 

 Skipping to paragraph D, there are issues, and discussion is still 

ongoing regarding temporary military training activities.  We will do 5 

some cross-examination on that this morning.  The Crown’s witnesses 

are actually appearing next Friday on that topic.  There are ongoing 

discussions still today and continuing over from yesterday, so it will be 

focused cross-examination there. 

 10 

 The Crown also, in terms of temporary military training activities, has 

concern in paragraph E there about helicopter noise levels. 

 

 Then skipping to paragraph G, there are a few technical matters still 

outstanding in terms of signage; again, hopefully those can be further 15 

narrowed. 

 

 And finally, which my friend has already discussed with the Panel, the 

sale of alcohol provisions. 

 20 

 So unless the Panel has any questions, I do not intend to spend more 

time now going through those submissions. 

 

  [9.55 am] 

 25 

 One matter I do have to ask for, and it is for the very first witness and 

mindful of all the Panel’s directions, is the Crown sought five minutes 

for Mr Camp to be cross-examined.  I ask respectfully for the Panel for 

up to 10 minutes.  I forgot that we will also be cross-examining him on 

temporary military training activities.   30 

 

 On that basis too, the Crown has withdrawn - - - 

 

SJH:   Has that just occurred to you, is that why you have not filed a 

memorandum seeking an extension? 35 

 

MR ALLEN:   Sir, that is right, when I was preparing I muddled up the 

timeframes.  Sir, also the Crown has withdrawn its cross this afternoon 

with Mr Chiles on the basis we can ask the questions of Mr Camp and - 

- - 40 

 

SJH:   That extension is granted. 

 

MR ALLEN:   Thank you, sir. 

 45 
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 So unless the Panel – oh, just one other housekeeping matter too; in 

terms of works for the purpose of earthquake recovery, the Crown is 

preparing but does not have ready yet, but will be provided up, a map 

of the Port Hills Recovery zone, just to assist in some of the technical 

matters that will be dealt with in the evidence as the Crown’s witnesses 5 

come through the Hearing, but it was just a brief housekeeping matter. 

 

 So any questions sir, from the Panel? 

 

SJH:   Let’s see, Mr Daysh. 10 

 

MR DAYSH:   No questions. 

 

SJH:   Ms Huria. 

 15 

MS HURIA:   No questions. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson. 

 

MS DAWSON:   No questions, thank you. 20 

 

SJH:   Judge. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No thank you, sir. 

 25 

SJH:   Thank you very much, and again, we are grateful for the opening. 

 

MR ALLEN:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Mr Caldwell. 30 

 

MR CALDWELL:   If it pleases the Panel, Ms Limmer will just speak briefly 

to the opening submissions. 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you. 35 

 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, sir.  I understand the Panel has a copy of my 

submissions on from yesterday. 

 

 Just really to assist in understanding the Trust’s interests in this chapter, 40 

it relates to the Peacock Springs area and the Trust has in previous 

chapters outlined the difference, or the different activities that occur on 

its land.   

 

 There is a distinct area within which conservation activities occur, 45 

particularly captive bird breeding programmes of endangered species.  
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There is a very large piece of land, approximately 1,100 hectares, and a 

good deal of that is used for other activities such as quarrying and 

farming activities, so in this chapter, the focus is on Peacock Springs 

and on enabling the continuation of those conservation activities. 

 5 

 In that regard then, the Trust has submitted in respect of the general 

noise provisions, particularly a submission in opposition to a request 

that carting noise in the vicinity be permitted, effectively without any 

constraints. 

 10 

 It has submitted in relation to aircraft noise, but only engine testing 

noise, and just in respect of the exchange, before the Lmax limit is 

sought only in respect of engine testing noise, not operational aircraft 

noise. 

 15 

 And finally, in respect of the bird strike provisions and particularly the 

status of new water bodies within the Peacock Springs conservation 

area. 

 

 Just at paragraph 7 of the submissions, I commence a discussion of the 20 

Peacock Springs area.  The evidence and submissions on that, have 

been provided to the Panel before, particularly in the chapter 17 and 

chapter 18 Hearings, so I will not repeat the detail there. 

 

 I refer, particularly to paragraph 11 perhaps, as our main three of the 25 

critical activities that in my submission emphasise just how important 

the activities undertaken at Peacock Springs are to New Zealand and to 

the conservation of these critically endangered species, some of which 

are on the brink of extinction and the Panel may have heard in the news 

just in the last week of the release of orange-fronted parakeet into the 30 

Hurunui, and those parakeet came from the Trust aviaries.   

 

 We developed an argument in the chapter 18 Hearing, that 

Peacock Springs qualifies as a significant habitat of indigenous fauna, 

and the detail that sites behind that submission is outlined and 35 

footnoted in these legal submissions. 

 

 And regardless of the finding on the Section 6C matter, it is submitted 

that on a cost benefit analysis, the activities undertaken and the 

submission’s requests, are justified. 40 

 

 At paragraph 17; in order to minimise the possibility of increased 

adverse effects being brought about by permitted activities, and to 

provide for reasonable evolution of Peacock Springs, without 

unnecessarily high regulatory hurdles. 45 
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  [10.00 am] 

 

 At paragraph 18, I commence a discussion about the submission in 

respect of cart noise.  Now Mr Frances confirmed to the Panel he 

would be calling expert evidence to support that further submission.  5 

That evidence did not materialise.  The Council and the Trust have 

provided expert evidence against that submission, so I submit a 

decision rejecting it is well supported by the evidence in front of you, 

and there is no evidence to the contrary.   

 10 

 At paragraph 22, I commenced discussion of the airport-related 

submissions and that is in respect of engine testing noise and the bird 

strike rules.   

 

 In respect of engine testing noise; the key difference there between the 15 

operational aircraft noise and engine testing noise is that engine testing 

noise single events can endure for considerably longer than take-off or 

landings, five to 30 minutes is the evidence, and it is peak noise for that 

length of time that is of concern to the Trust, hence the request for an 

Lmax to keep noise levels to what the Trust understands they are at the 20 

moment.   

 

 So it is not seeking that they be constrained or unwound from where 

they currently are ,but simply that they do not increase.  There is some - 

- - 25 

 

SJH:    But that is per aircraft, not cumulative? 

 

MS LIMMER:   That is correct, sir, it is a single event noise.  It is just the 

maximum single event noise that can be emitted and the request is for a 30 

limit of 80 dB in that regard. 

 

 There is some suggestion from the Council that that may inhibit some 

trade-offs, some reductions of noise elsewhere.  The Trust submission 

on that, and I say, I want to stress to you on that, is simply that shifting 35 

more noise nuisance over to the western side of the airport is not the 

answer.  The Trust is not the only neighbour there; there are a number 

of residents in between the Trust and the airport as well. 

 

 And in respect of bird strike, the Trust seeks a site specific regime on 40 

the basis that the activities at Peacock Springs have been successfully 

managed now for a number of years and there are a large number of 

water bodies there already.  It seeks controlled activity status, so the 

airport can still be involved in the formulation of consent conditions 

but the Trust has certainty of granted consent. 45 
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 Those are my submissions, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   No, no questions, sir. 5 

 

SJH:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No, sir. 

 10 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No questions, thank you.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Limmer, just on the bird strike matter where you 15 

referred to the position vis-à-vis the airport’s proposal; does the Trust 

have a position vis-à-vis the Council’s proposal? 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, sir, with Council’s proposal also puts new water bodies 

in a restricted discretionary status category.  So the Trust’s submission 20 

on that is that it should be controlled just for Peacock Springs. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so in other words, in terms of both of those, the 

relief were you to secure that relief your position would be neutral as to 

whether it was the Council’s proposal, or the airport’s proposal? 25 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, sir.  It would require amendments to the proposal before 

the Panel.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 30 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, sir. 

 35 

SJH:   Call your first witness please, Mr Laing. 

 

MR LAING   Thank you, Chair. 
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<STUART CAMP, sworn [10.03 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR LAING  [10.03 am] 

 

MR LAING:   Good morning, your full name is Stuart Camp? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes, it is. 5 

 

MR LAING:   You have prepared a statement of evidence-in-chief? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 

 10 

MR LAING:   You have also a rebuttal statement? 

 

MR CAMP:   That is correct.   

 

MR LAING:   And further, you have signed an expert conferencing statement 15 

between yourself and Dr Childs, is that correct? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes, I have. 

 

MR LAING:   Does the Panel have that available? 20 

 

SJH:   Yes, we do, thank you. 

 

MR LAING:   Have you got any corrections to make to your evidence? 

 25 

MR CAMP:  Yes, I have one minor correction, please, in my evidence-in-chief, 

paragraph 6.1.1, page 11.  The statement at the second line currently 

says “from both Industrial and Commercial zones”.  It should just read 

“Industrial zones”. 

 30 

SJH:   So we strike out “and Commercial”, thank you. 

 

MR CAMP:   And the same in the final line of that paragraph, thank you, and 

that is consistent with the joint conferencing statement on that issue. 

 35 

  [10.05 am] 

 

MR LAING:   And so subject to those corrections, do you confirm that your 

two statements are correct? 

 40 

MR CAMP:   Yes I do. 

 

MR LAING:   And now could I come to your highlights package, please. 

 



 Page 18 

  

Ch6: General Rules and Procedures Commenced 29.02.16 

MR CAMP:   Thank you.  The opening legal submissions have really covered 

where we are at with a lot of issues.  Most noise issues have been 

resolved, but there are a small number now to be addressed.   

 

 Special Characteristics; Lyttelton Port Company’s request for higher 5 

noise level to the Industrial zones, some issues around temporary 

military training activities which again are ongoing and there is some 

room for more discussions on that.   

 

 There is a minor outstanding issue with regard to the use of tonal 10 

reversing alarms in the southwest Hornby Industrial zone.  I agree with 

the points being raised, I am just concerned that the idea of trying to 

prohibit them is using a sledgehammer to crack a nut and I think I have 

proposed an advice note and, I think, a simpler means of achieving that. 

 15 

 And then the remaining issue about noise from ventilation systems; 

Mr Hunt in his rebuttal, is concerned in that he does not believe there 

needs to be any noise limit on ventilation systems.  I have argued in my 

evidence that it is important to ensure that residents get a reasonable 

system, otherwise they simply will not use it.   20 

 

 Mr Hunt is now claiming that there is no simple way of measuring 

compliance with that, which I find quite an astounding claim given that 

we measure noise from air conditioning systems on a very regular basis 

and it is exactly the same measurements.  I remain of the view that is 25 

expressed in my evidence. 

 

 That is my summary. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 30 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS BAZALO [10.07 am] 

 

MS BAZALO:  Thank you, sir. 

 35 

 Thank you, Mr Camp, there are just a couple of issues as you have 

alluded to outstanding from your Client’s perspective (ph 2.43) and 

firstly I would like to talk about the ventilation systems, that is rule 

6.1.5.2.6. 

 40 

 Now, do you have expertise in ventilation systems, beyond noise 

levels? 

 

MR CAMP:   Not specifically, no.  I deal with noise. 

 45 
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MS BAZALO:   Thank you, and as you have said, compliance would require 

further expert noise assessment, would it not? 

 

MR CAMP:   To measure compliance with the noise levels? 

 5 

MS BAZALO:   Yes. 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 

 

MS BAZALO:   And it would also require some sort of certification or 10 

compliance programme, to check that that is being complied with, is 

that correct? 

 

MR CAMP:   The rules do not require a compliance certification.  If Council 

decided to ask for it then you would need to do it, yes, but as with a lot 15 

of rules checking for compliance really only happens if there is a 

problem with it.   

 

MS BAZALO:   And that compliance issue would also arise in terms of the 

flow rate and there would need to be some sort of process in place to 20 

ensure that the assessments would be undertaken, wouldn’t there? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes, if you wanted proof that it was complying. 

 

MS BAZALO:   Ventilation systems are covered by the Building Code, are 25 

they not? 

 

MR CAMP:   In very vague terms, yes. 

 

MS BAZALO:   Do you agree that we should be trying to avoid unnecessary 30 

duplication of regulation in the Replacement Plan? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 

 

MS BAZALO:   And do you accept then that if there are to be controls in the 35 

Plan beyond those in the Building Code they should be carefully 

considered by the relevant experts with experience in ventilation 

systems, with regard to noise? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 40 

 

MS BAZALO:   Thank you.  Turning now to rule 6.1.5.2 A(ii) – so this is the 

noise level design. 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 45 
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MS BAZALO:   So you took care in attending conferencing in drafting your 

evidence-in-chief and rebuttal evidence, didn't you? 

 

MR CAMP:   Sorry, would you mind repeating your question? 

 5 

MS BAZALO:   You took care preparing your evidence-in-chief and your 

rebuttal evidence, and attending the original expert conferencing 

session, did you not? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes, I did. 10 

 

  [10.10 am] 

 

MS BAZALO:   And in the first expert conferencing statement, and then in 

your evidence-in-chief, and then in your rebuttal evidence, you agreed 15 

that a 35 dBA noise level was appropriate, did you not? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes, I did. 

 

MS BAZALO:   Now, in the conferencing statement that was filed yesterday, 20 

you, for the first time, say that a noise level of 30 dBA or lower, is 

preferable, do you not? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes; in essence what I am saying is that, in an ideal world, one 

would aim for 30 dBA, no question. 25 

 

 What I am saying is I do not believe these rules are about creating an 

ideal solution; they are about providing something that is generally 

expectable.  So they are a minimum performance standard in my view.   

 30 

MS BAZALO:   And your only justification in that conferencing statement is 

that that sort of level would normally be recommended for higher 

quality dwellings, isn’t it? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 35 

 

MS BAZALO:   Turning now to the temporary military training activities 

issue, and firstly the rule around helicopter landings, that is rule 

6.1.4.2.8. 

 40 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 

 

MS BAZALO:   The Crown seeks that the relevant New Zealand standard 

applies to helicopter landing, does it not? 

 45 

MR CAMP:   Yes, it does. 
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MS BAZALO:   And other District Plans use this standard to control helicopter 

noise levels, don’t they? 

 

MR CAMP:   The standard is intended for uncommonly used for, permanent 5 

helipads.  In my view it does not work for something like temporary 

military training, where it might be two or three landings in one site 

and never again. 

 

MS BAZALO:   The question, Mr Camp, was that other District Plans use that 10 

standard, don’t they? 

 

MR CAMP:   I am not aware of any of them using that standard for temporary 

helicopter landings. 

 15 

MS BAZALO:   Have you read the evidence of Mr Robert Owen? 

 

MR CAMP:   His evidence - - - 

 

MS BAZALO:   His evidence-in-chief from Mr Robert Owen on behalf of the 20 

Defence Force? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes, yes, I have. 

 

MS BAZALO:   Thank you.  You will find in there that he refers to other 25 

District Plans that use that standard.  Generally speaking, would you 

support the use of the standard to provide consistency? 

 

MR CAMP:   The reason I do not like it here is I do not - - - 

 30 

SJH:   No, you are being asked generally would you support, and then we will 

go onto the next bit. 

 

MR CAMP:   Okay, thank you, sir.  For permanent helipads, yes.   

 35 

MS BAZALO:   Just looking at this rule a bit more closely, have you read the 

Crown’s opening submissions? 

 

MR CAMP:   Just very quickly, yes.   

 40 

MS BAZALO:   I will just take you to paragraph 48 which sets out what the 

Crown is seeking in terms of that rule. 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 

 45 
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MS BAZALO:   Do you accept that in its current form, clause D of this rule 

will apply to all helicopter landings that are 450 metres from a 

residential site, will it not? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes, it will. 5 

 

MS BAZALO:   And do you accept the Crown’s proposal that beyond 

450 metres from a site there should be no limitations on helicopter 

movements? 

 10 

MR CAMP:   I do not accept that there should be none because you then create 

the ability to have somebody set up a commercial helipad as a 

permitted activity.  So I think there needs to be some restriction, 

whatever that might be. 

 15 

MS BAZALO:   But there is a distance presumably from beyond – there will 

be a distance when there is no kind of noise effect of the helicopter 

landings.  So here we are saying further than 450 metres there will not 

be an effect; presumably there becomes a point when there will be no 

effect? 20 

 

MR CAMP:   There must become a point somewhere, yes. 

 

MS BAZALO:   In terms of the setback approach – this is the last issue I just 

want to address – so the Crown’s proposed approach for dealing with 25 

noise from temporary and military training activities, is to use setback 

distances, isn’t it? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes – sorry, a two-tiered approach; setbacks and noise limits, 

yes. 30 

 

MS BAZALO:   Yes, thank you. 

 

 And that approach allows the Defence Force to simply apply setback 

distances across the country when it comes to planning for its 35 

temporary and military training activities, does it not? 

 

MR CAMP:   If it was accepted everywhere in the country, yes. 

 

MS BAZALO:   But it has been accepted in other District Plans, hasn’t it? 40 

 

MR CAMP:   In some, and it has been rejected in others. 

 

MS BAZALO:   Mr Camp, do you accept that temporary military training 

activities play an important role in our communities including for 45 

emergency purposes? 
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MR CAMP:   Yes, I do. 

 

MS BAZALO:   Thank you.  No further questions. 

 5 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Campbell?   

 

 Just for the record, you are counsel appearing for this organisation, 

could you just, for the record could you just tell us what law firm you 

are associated - - - 10 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   I do not represent a law firm, I am the manager at the - - - 

 

SJH:   I am sorry? 

 15 

MR CAMPBELL:   I am a manager of Service. 

 

SJH:   The organisation? 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   The organisation. 20 

 

SJH:   So are you a lawyer or not? 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   No, I am not. 

 25 

SJH:   Okay, all right, so you are appearing for the organisation? 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   Correct, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, go ahead. 30 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CAMPBELL [10.15 am] 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   Sir, I would just like to clarify whether the assistant has 

hand printed copies of the two measurements of sound, the standards?. 35 

 

SJH:   Yes, we do have those. 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   And have they been given to Mr Camp and the Council as 

well? 40 

 

SJH:   Yes, apparently.   

 

 Just before you go on, Mr Goodwin is going to produce these? 

 45 

MR CAMPBELL:   Yes, he will. 
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SJH:   We will give them an exhibit number of exhibit one and two at this stage 

to keep track of them.  Thank you. 

 

EXHIBIT #1 – NZ STANDARD ACOUSTICS – ENVIRONMENTAL 5 

NOISE 

 

EXHIBIT #2 – NZS 6802: 1991 ASSESSMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL 

SOUND  

 10 

MR CAMPBELL:   Mr Camp, I will start with the possible outcomes.  So the 

issue is clear to the Panel. 

 

 Is it correct that if the Hearing Panel accepts your evidence for the city 

the effect is to include in a proposed noise rule, what I call an 15 

“exception clause”; but if the Panel accepts Mr Goodwin’s evidence, 

there will be no exception clause, that is right, is it not? 

 

MR CAMP:   That is correct. 

 20 

MR CAMPBELL:   If the words “proposed” in one sentence in rule 6.1.3(3)A 

in the General Section of the proposed Plan under the heading 

“Measuring Noise; That’s The Issue” that is correct, is it not? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes, it is. 25 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   And it is true, is it not, this section of the Plan applies 

throughout all zones unless there is a specific separate rule for the zone, 

or type of activity? 

 30 

MR CAMP:   That is correct. 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   Is it true an adjustment for special audible characteristics 

can be regarded as a sort of penalty for a sound source under 

investigation, when calculating what the standard calls a “rating level”? 35 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   On the same page of the standard there is another type of 

adjustment provided for making an assessment, isn’t there? 40 

 

MR CAMP:   A duration adjustment? 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   That is correct, a duration adjustment. 

 45 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 
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MR CAMPBELL:   Is it true an adjustment for duration can be regarded as a 

sort of bonus for the sound source under investigation, when 

calculating the rating level? 

 5 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   Does the notified Plan include any specific exclusion 

clause covering the topic of an adjustment for duration, in the same 

way it does for special audible characteristics? 10 

 

MR CAMP:   No, it does not. 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   So is it correct that your advice and opinion on measuring 

noise excludes the potential penalty adjustment for special audible 15 

characteristics but includes the potential bonus adjustment for duration? 

 

MR CAMP:   That is correct, yes. 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   Does that approach potentially benefit noise makers when 20 

an assessment is being made in accordance with the rules proposed? 

 

MR CAMP:   There will be a minor benefit in a very small number of cases, 

yes. 

 25 

MR CAMPBELL:   If you were a few metres distant; say would a screech from 

a failed bearing on a fan, or dropping a heavy metal sheet onto 

concrete, be a prominent audible characteristic of sound? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes, but I am not sure it would constitute a complaint. 30 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   Thinking of the sound source and its potential perception 

by people as an unwanted sound; does the decibel level of a sound 

effect its perception by people? 

 35 

MR CAMP:   Sorry, could you repeat your question? 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   Does the decibel level of a sound, affect its perception by 

people? 

 40 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   Does the duration of sound, affect its perception by 

people? 

 45 

MR CAMP:   Yes, it does. 
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MR CAMPBELL:   Does a character of the sound, affect its perception by 

people? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 5 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   Do you accept potential complainants about noise, usually 

have no idea of its decibel level? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 10 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   If your proposed assessment method benefits noise 

makers, do you accept it is a potential dis-benefit to people and 

communities who might find the noise source intrusive because of 

some special audible characteristic? 15 

 

MR CAMP:   I mean, I discuss that in some detail in my evidence - - - 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   Yes, you say in your evidence - - - 

 20 

SJH:   Let the witness finish the answer please, Mr Campbell. 

 

MR CAMPBELL:  Certainly, sir. 

 

MR CAMP:   I have yet to find a case – looking through all the company 25 

records – where the noise problem was solely due to the special audible 

character.  That when people complain about a noise source, inevitably 

it is as much about it being loud as it is about it having special 

character. 

 30 

MR CAMPBELL:   Thank you. 

 

  [10.20 am] 

 

 You say in your evidence, do you not, in paragraph 5.4 page 7 of your 35 

evidence-in-chief, a reason for excluding the adjustment for SAC, is 

that they are not in the operative Plan, which has reasonably stringent 

noise limits? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes, that is correct. 40 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   And you also say that imposing the adjustment would 

necessitate a review of those decibel limits; that is one of your reasons, 

is it not? 

 45 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 
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MR CAMPBELL:   You are introducing a duration adjustment through the 

citation of NZS 6802 2008, as the assessment method in the rule in 

question, are you not? 

 5 

MR CAMP:   That is almost in the existing rules already. 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   Is it true that the provision will potentially mean a daytime 

decibel noise limit can be exceeded by up to five decibels, if that 

adjustment is applied according to the standards assessment method?    10 

 

MR CAMP:   You are talking about the duration adjustment, yes? 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   Yes, correct. 

 15 

MR CAMP:   Yes, one could exceed the limit by up to five decibels for short 

periods of time. 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   So logic dictates, you should also believe imposing that 

provision in the rule, would make review of your reasonably stringent 20 

noise limits necessary, as the operative Plan noise limits are actually 

potentially going to be 5 dB less stringent, if that daytime adjustment is 

applied. 

 

 Is that logical; yes or no? 25 

 

SJH:   The witness will answer as they see fit, you watch too much TV I think, 

Mr Campbell. 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   Thank you, sir. 30 

 

MR CAMP:   So the operative rules in essence do it now, because the operative 

rules specifically require a one hour assessment.  The way that the 2008 

Standard works, you assess it over 15 minutes.  If a noise source only 

operated over 15 minutes, the difference between a 15 minute leq and 35 

one-hour leq would be six decibels. 

 

 So in essence, the 5 dB duration adjustment is there already for short 

duration sources.  So I do not believe the duration adjustment affects 

my argument about consistency with the operative rules. 40 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   Thank you.  Moving on to tonal noise sources and SAC; 

when you appeared as a witness for Fulton Hogan on Chapter 17 Rural 

Hearing, on 25 November last year, there was a discussion about 

reversing beepers, is that true? 45 
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MR CAMP:   Yes. 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   Ms Dawson asked you about what matters you might like 

to add to a Management Plan, is that correct? 

 5 

MR CAMP:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   And your answer to her on line 34 and 35, page 861 of the 

transcript, says, does it not, “If I understand you correctly, you are 

talking adding things like reversing beepers?” 10 

 

MR CAMP:   That sounds correct, yes. 

 

MR CAMPBELL:  What is it about reversing beepers that needs special 

attention in a Noise Management Plan? 15 

 

MR CAMP:   There is no question that reversing beepers can be annoying at 

times, and whether or not they are – they can be very annoying even if 

they comfortably comply with the noise rules. 

 20 

MR CAMPBELL:  So if you are nearby, is the sound of most reversing beepers 

a special audible characteristic? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 

 25 

MR CAMPBELL: And there will be no penalty for special audible 

characteristics of reversing beepers if assessed under rule 6.1.3.3A in 

the Plan, as you propose, would there? 

 

MR CAMP:   No, there would not.  But as a I just noted, whether the 30 

adjustment applied or not, it still would not capture reversing alarms. 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   Can I draw your attention to page 18 - - - 

 

SJH:   Do you have many more because you have had your time, Mr Campbell, 35 

how many more questions; you have had your time? 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   I have a number, but you wish to - - - 

 

SJH:   Well, you had better do it and you better do it quickly.  The time limit I 40 

have mentioned already and you were well aware of it, you did not ask 

for any extension. 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   Thank you, sir.  Can I draw your attention, page 18, 

Section 6 of the New Zealand Standard 6802 2008; are you aware of 45 
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the commentary on Section C6.1.2 in the introduction to the section 

heading, “Rating Levels”, on page 18? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes, I am. 

 5 

  [10.25 am] 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   Can you read out aloud the 13 words of the first sentence 

to that commentary? 

 10 

MR CAMP:   “Character level and duration are the main physical factors in 

influencing response to noise.” 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   Do you acknowledge the next sentence states adjustments 

should be made for special audible character duration and 15 

intermittency? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   I will end it there, sir. 20 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Arthur-Young? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS ARTHUR-YOUNG [10.25 am] 

 25 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Good morning, sir. 

 

 Good morning, Mr Camp; a couple of questions for you around the 

ventilation systems. 

 30 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Turning first to noise limit.  In the joint witness 

statement that both you and Dr Chiles prepared, you both agreed that a 

noise limit of 30 dB or lower, for a ventilation system in a bedroom, 35 

would be preferable, is that right? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   And this morning in response to questions from my 40 

friend from the Crown, you acknowledged that in fact that would be 

ideal, is that right? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 

 45 
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MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   If I could refer you to Dr Chiles primary statement, 

at paragraph 4.3, he has undertaken a calculation to combine both 

railway noise sound at 35 dB, with a ventilation system which 

generates 35 decibels, is that right? 

 5 

MR CAMP:   Yes he has. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   And his calculation results in an overall combined 

level of 38 dB in that situation, is that right? 

 10 

MR CAMP:   That is correct, yes. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   So in that case, that would breach the control you 

are proposing for that rule, would it not? 

 15 

MR CAMP:   Yes, it is a tricky one though. 

 

 Whenever you have two noise sources of the same level, you get a 

three decibel increase; so 35 plus 35 always equals 38, no question.   

 20 

 But in this case we have a constant level of 35 from ventilation and a 

very intermittent level from rail noise.  So it is going to be probably 

11 hours of the day when they are not adding together, and then 

three minutes when a train passes when they are. 

 25 

 So I am quite comfortable with the answer even though it is correct.  It 

is correct technically; it just does not sit right with me.  I am still 

comfortable that 35 decibels is an acceptable level for a ventilation 

system. 

 30 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   But you would acknowledge, would you not, that at 

some of those times, that ventilation system would breach the rule, 

wouldn’t it? 

 

MR CAMP:   The ventilation system would not breach it, the combined level 35 

would breach it; the rule itself only requires that the ventilation system 

meets 35, so you can go and measure that when a train is not there if 

you want to measure compliance. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Right, but when the trains there, there would- - - 40 

 

MR CAMP:   But when the train is there it is probably 60 decibels, it just 

averages out to 35. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   So one potential mechanism thought to meet that 45 

standard which I think is acknowledged in the joint witness statement 
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you signed with Dr Chiles, would be to require ventilation systems to 

meet a lower sound level of 30 dB? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes, it would. 

 5 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   And that would be a preferable noise environment 

for a bedroom at night, would it not? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 

 10 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Just quickly turning to temperature control in 

ventilation systems.  In the joint witness statement, both you and 

Dr Chiles agree that there would be value in requiring a moderate 

degree of temperature control in a ventilation system in the rule, is that 

right? 15 

 

MR CAMP:   That is correct. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   But you are of the view that this component of 

temperature control is less critical than others, because of the climate in 20 

Christchurch? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Have you seen the Beca Report attached as 25 

appendix A to Dr Chile’s primary brief? 

 

MR CAMP:   I have read it, but I cannot say that I am an expert on what it 

says. 

 30 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Thank you.  Turning to that report, sir, the Beca 

Report which is an expert report on ventilation systems, identified that 

Christchurch in geographical consideration is warm and dry; do you 

accept the report says that? 

 35 

DR CAMP:   I will take your word for that, yes. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   And those lists of regions are because the report 

says that those regions require outdoor air supply extracts and cooler, is 

that right? 40 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   So you accept then that the Beca expert report says 

the Christchurch climate is in fact, warm and dry, means, in its expert 45 

opinion, cooling as part of any noise mitigation measure? 
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  [10.30 am] 

 

MR CAMP:   Well it is not my experience at night in Christchurch.  I survive 

quite happily without any cooling in summer. 5 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   But it is not unreasonable to specify, based on that 

expert ventilation report, that a rule in the Christchurch Plan specifies a 

temperature control? 

 10 

MR CAMP:   Certainly not unreasonable, and I think this whole discussion is 

really about what is a minimum acceptable requirement.  We have 

other submissions trying to avoid any prescription at all and we are 

trying to balance that. 

 15 

 We are trying to – remember these ventilation systems are required 

where façade sound insulation is necessary.  So it is to where 

somebody is living close to a road, or a rail, for example.  You need to, 

often in those situations, will need to keep your windows closed in 

order to be able to meet an appropriate noise level; to do that you have 20 

to find an alternative way of having ventilation. 

 

 So the question then becomes what are the minimum things we need to 

prescribe around that ventilation, to at least make it basically 

functional.  So I accept your proposition that temperature control would 25 

be nice.  I am just not satisfied that it is essential. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   And final question, sir, while you might find the 

evenings in Christchurch in your bedroom cool enough to not open 

your window, it is conceivable that many other people in the district 30 

would open their windows to experience a comfortable - - - 

 

MR CAMP:   I did not say I do not open my windows; I do have my windows 

open.  What I am saying is with a window open I do not need 

additional cooling.  The ventilation system would give me the same 35 

airflow as the open window. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:  Certainly, but the open window then brings 

necessary noise into your bedroom, is that correct? 

 40 

MR CAMP:   Yes, what I am saying is under this ventilation rule the 

ventilation would compensate for the windows, so I would get the same 

effect out of the ventilation system as I currently get out of my open 

windows. 

 45 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Thank you, sir.  Thank you, sir. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, sorry, sir, I am up. 

 5 

 Yes, just a few questions thank you, Mr Camp.  I am looking at your 

evidence-in-chief paragraph 5.12 page 8. 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 

 10 

MR DAYSH:   So this is about this SAC, special audible characteristics, and 

your main argument is that by not having this in the Plan, provides a 

simple cost-effective rule regime, that is right, is it not? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 15 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes.  On the flip side, thinking about Section 32 and costs and 

benefits; what would be the, are there advantages that you see actually 

in including the SAC for the community using this Plan? 

 20 

MR CAMP:   No, to be honest; we have not had it for 20 years.  All the 

consultants that work with it love it because it makes life very simple 

and I have not seen the downside. 

 

 I am not aware of Christchurch having problems with noise that 25 

contains special audible character.  There is always the oddball, but it is 

dealt with through other mechanisms.  The big driver for this is that 

there are a lot more assessments of noise effects in advance of consents 

than there ever is compliance checks; there are a lot of resource 

consents that nobody ever goes to check compliance.  And in advance 30 

of the activity there is room for a lot of argument over whether or not 

there will be special audible character, which just drives up the cost and 

complexity of a case and I have yet to see the benefit of that. 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right, thank you.  Your 6.18 evidence-in-chief, page 12, 35 

which compares operative limits on proposed limits. 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   There are some strange, well not strange numbers but there are 40 

some 57s, 49s, those sort of numbers in the operative Plan. 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 
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MR DAYSH:   I will not ask you how they got there – but my question really 

is, you have applied to a bit of an overs-and-unders smoothing of those 

numbers? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 5 

 

MR DAYSH:   And in your opinion with experience round the country with 

other Plans, are these sort of in the normal zone that you would expect 

to see in Plans? 

 10 

MR CAMP:   Absolutely, and you will see from that table there is one minor 

reduction from 57 to 55.  You know, two decibels is that minimum 

detectible change by the human ear so it is not a big change. 

 

  [10.35 am] 15 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right, thank you. 

 

 Just out of curiosity; on your page 17, evidence-in-chief you discuss the 

difference between LAmax and LCpeak. 20 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   I have not seen LCpeak used in plans, is that used anywhere 

and if so why would it be used over and above Lmax? 25 

 

MR CAMP:   It is only ever used for gunshots, and so that is precisely why I 

am saying let us not introduce it because nobody really understands it, 

nobody sees it, and it introduces very big numbers, peak levels. 

 30 

 You will often have controls of 100, 120 decibels and everybody goes, 

“Oh, my goodness that is really, really loud” – and it is just the way it 

has been described.  

 

 So my preference is to convert them back to LAmax. 35 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right, thank you. 

 

 Last question, your rebuttal evidence on page 6, paragraph 4.5; you are 

talking about an example of a cooling tower that was being very 40 

noticeable in your opinion that it is not tonal.  My question really is, 

how do you decide what is tonal and who decides? – and I know there 

are methodologies and things, is - - - 

 

MR CAMP:   That is part of the reason why I argue that we should not have the 45 

penalty, because part of the assessment if it is subjective and so if you 
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are not careful you get experts arguing about things on a subjective 

basis.  So I say “it is okay, CERA says it is not, you say it is fine” and 

we have a big argument. 

 

 But in that particular case if you apply the object method for tonality, it 5 

does not even come close to getting a penalty, even if you were 

assessing it for tonality. 

 

MR DAYSH:  Okay, thank you.  That is all I have, sir. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   Just one quick question thanks, Mr Camp. 

 

 In the conferencing statement, paragraph 2.5, I just wanted to have 15 

some clarification around basic dwellings; does that paragraph mean 

that people that have less to spend on a dwelling, have noisier houses? 

 

MR CAMP:   That is one way of looking at it, but yes.  In essence I liken it to 

the Building Code requirements for insulation; it specifies a minimum 20 

acceptable standard. 

 

 Now if I went and built a house tomorrow, I would do better than that.  

I would choose to do better and I think the same with this, and that is 

all I am noting, is that the 35 is a minimum acceptable standard. 25 

 

MS HURIA:   Fine, thank you very much.  Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   Thanks, Mr Camp. 

 

 You discussed with the Crown whether or not there should be any 

controls over helicopter movements which are greater than a certain 

distance, I think in this case 450 metres from a house. 35 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   If that was the case, if there were no controls over helicopter 

movements beyond a certain distance from the house, and I am 40 

thinking of the rural area where there may be spaces where there are no 

houses, are there other effects that, would there still be effects that you 

consider need to be managed, if there was no control over helicopter 

movement? 

 45 
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MR CAMP:   Well I think if you are relating it back to temporary military 

training, for example - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   No. 

 5 

MR CAMP:   No?  Okay – because you could easily argue that that was true.   

 

 My concern then is that in theory you could have a commercial helipad 

set up there and whilst you only need a consent for the land use, you do 

still end up with overflights in the area and I think it is important to 10 

have some sort of consent process to assess that. 

 

 So I think there does need to be some sort of control, or a trigger for a 

consent.   

 15 

MS DAWSON:   And does this 450 magic number that means that a house 

would not be affected, or someone in a natural area, Open Space zone 

or something where, are there other aspects that need to be considered? 

 

MR CAMP:   450 is about right, it also comes out of the operative Banks 20 

Peninsula Plan, that is the control point.  And I think based on my 

quick calculations it is about right for the number of movements that 

we are permitting, and then beyond that you would need a consent. 

 

  [10.40 am] 25 

 

 So a very big part of the aim of that rule – it is two-pronged, if you like; 

one is to make sure that people can do a few helicopter movements 

here and there without need of consent. 

 30 

 The second is to make sure that they cannot do a whole lot; that you 

cannot set up a commercial tourism activity in reasonable proximity to 

dwellings, as a permitted activity. 

 

MS DAWSON:  So it then allows some oversight of not only the particular 35 

location but what happens in terms of flights, from that point? 

 

MR CAMP:  Yes, all the flow on effects that go with it, yes.  And, of course, a 

commercial helipad would introduce traffic into the area and all sorts.  

There could be a whole raft of effects that you would want to consider 40 

as part of a consent application. 

 

MS DAWSON:   My second question is related to the sound insulation rules 

near roads – we have heard evidence about this at other hearings. 

 45 
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 Is it your view that the level of sound insulation that is required near an 

arterial – or a habitable room, I think it is – near an arterial or collector 

road, to meet the standard that is proposed is not costly.  Would it add a 

significant cost to a multiunit, or an individual apartment, or a house? 

 5 

MR CAMP:   The work that I have seen suggests it is not, particularly for new 

dwellings, which is what we are talking about here. 

 

 NZTA have actually published some documentation on that and I think 

they were talking somewhere in the region of $10,000 for a standalone 10 

dwelling as the total cost of sound insulation and ventilation systems, 

something of that order. 

 

MS DAWSON:   As additional cost? 

 15 

MR CAMP:    That is the additional cost, yes.  Much more if you are 

retrofitting it to an existing dwelling, because of all the restrictions and 

limitations that go on that.   

 

MS DAWSON:   So then there is the question that it would only apply if there 20 

was an addition to a dwelling, not to the existing dwelling? 

 

MR CAMP:   That is right – and the addition, of course, is a new piece of work 

and, therefore, it is relatively simple to do, yes. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you, that is all. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, sir. 30 

 

 All right, Mr Camp, just on that particular matter, I recall someone 

giving us evidence that one of the reasons why there were additional 

costs associated with rules related to particular circumstances, like 

adjacent such roads, is that you no longer can go down to Fletcher 35 

Placemakers or whatever else and pick up a standard set of double 

glazed windows; you have to get them specially done.  Is that the 

reason why it costs an extra 10 or so thousand dollars? 

 

MR CAMP:   In some cases.  Not quite. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, put it another way; are these standards which fit in 

with what would normally be specified as off-the-shelf glazing that can 

be purchased for dwellings? 

 45 
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MR CAMP:   In the most severe cases you might end up with a second lot of 

glazing as opposed to double glazing in one frame.  So, if you are 

really, really close to a road you might end up with secondary glazing. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So, the answer is you may have to incur those additional 5 

costs and would it be fair to say typically those who build houses 

adjacent arterials would be building them on cheaper land and, 

therefore, dealing with a more affordable end of housing? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes, although not exclusively.  I mean, we have got a whole lot 10 

of new subdivisions at Rolleston, not that it is in Christchurch. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And the beneficiary of that is the reduced reverse 

sensitivity risk for the roading authority, isn’t it? 

 15 

MR CAMP:   That is right.  That is the trade-off. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And the people bearing the cost are those who have to do 

the retrofitting?  Or putting in the special treatment? 

 20 

MR CAMP:   Potentially, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right.  Look, I have just got a couple of other queries.   

 

 And it comes back, the second thing is really a matter of detail on 25 

ventilation systems and on noise performance, and again, making sure 

costs are not unduly imposed.   

 

 We bought a heat pump system recently, and on the paperwork we got 

with it there was the manufacturer’s expectation of its decibel rating. 30 

 

MR CAMP:    Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Which influenced us to purchase that product over an 

alternative.  Is the same manufacturer’s specification system something 35 

that a rule could deal with for ventilation systems?  For instance, a 

simple rule specifying that a manufacturer’s specification of X was 

required and that would be a sufficient regulation. 

 

MR CAMP:   Unfortunately, no.  It would be nice if it was.   40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, yes, let us just look at that. 

 

 So, if I buy a manufacturer’s specified noise rated ventilation system on 

day one, and five years later it starts to rattle to bits and make more 45 

noise; would it not be the case that the owner of the property itself 
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could either put up with the noise or decide to get a new system?  Why 

regulate? 

 

  [10.45 am] 

 5 

MR CAMP:   The reason I think there is a need for some regulation is that a lot 

of the affordable houses, to use your term, are built by developers who 

have no intention of ever living in them and they might just as easily go 

and put in the equivalent of a little bathroom extract fan that is so 

incredibly noisy that nobody will ever run it and you then have a 10 

situation where the occupant immediately opens the windows and turns 

the system off. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So why would that not be answered by a rule that required 

a manufacturer’s specified noise rating? 15 

 

MR CAMP:   When you buy a heat pump you mount it on the wall and the 

rating directly relates to how much noise you will receive.  The 

problem with the ventilation, your heat pump does not bring fresh air in 

from outside.  It only recirculates the air in your room. 20 

 

 As soon as you bring air in from outside which is what this would 

require, there is a whole lot of different ways of doing that but it is not 

normally just a unit that you bolt in the wall, there would normally be 

some form of ducting associated with it. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I see, so the system complexities mean the manufacturer’s 

rating thing is simply not the answer? 

 

MR CAMP:   It is not the final answer.  That is right, yes. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just on the question of gunfire, and apologise to the Chair 

because I have to tell a little story before I ask this question.   

 

 I have had involvement and Mr Hunt was involved in this matter, 35 

declaration proceedings in the past, it involved gunfire and the matter 

in dispute was a rule that set receiving noise standard in the receiving 

environment and when it was set there were basically no houses in the 

receiving environment.   

 40 

 When the issues arose, a number of houses had been built in that 

receiving environment so there was a dispute as to whether or not that 

increased sensitivity had to be borne by either the house owners or the 

gun club. 

 45 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 



 Page 40 

  

Ch6: General Rules and Procedures Commenced 29.02.16 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just comparing the positions of the Crown, in other 

words, as advanced by Mr Hunt, in your position which of those would 

be more prone to that risk occurring? 

 5 

MR CAMP:   Well, I think in this case I am not sure that it is quite the same 

scenario because there rules now about temporary military training and 

they are, therefore, going to have to assess compliance as they come to 

do an activity.  Temporary military training is not something that is 

going to happen on the same site year-after-year.   10 

 

 It is an operational thing that they might do for two days, or two weeks, 

and it might happen on one site this year and somewhere else next year, 

but each time they plan it they will have to look at where the receivers 

are and adjust their parameters accordingly.  So I do not think that 15 

element is a concern. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you.   

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Arthur-Young, anything arising from the Panel’s 20 

questions? 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   No, sir. 

 

SJH:   Mr Campbell, anything arising from the Panel’s questions? 25 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   No, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Bazalo, anything arising? 

 30 

MS BAZALO:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Mr Laing, re-examination? 

 

MR LAING:   No, sir. 35 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [10.48 am] 
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<KELLY MARIE ANDREW, affirmed [10.48 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR LAING [10.49 am] 

 

MR LAING:   Your full name is Kelly Marie Andrew. 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes. 5 

 

MR LAING:   You have prepared a statement of evidence-in-chief, is that 

correct? 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes. 10 

 

MR LAING:   And a rebuttal statement? 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes. 

 15 

MR LAING:   And you are also a signatory to a conferencing statement that I 

think was filed with the Panel yesterday. 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes. 

 20 

MR LAING:   Do you have any corrections to make to your evidence? 

 

MS ANDREW:   No, I do not. 

 

MR LAING:   So, do you confirm that the evidence is true and correct? 25 

 

MS ANDREW:    Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   Would you now please to proceed to your highlights package. 

 30 

MS ANDREW:   Thank you. 

 

 My name is Kelly Andrew.  I am an intermediate planner at Harrison 

Grierson.  I have been engaged by the Council to provide planning 

advice on the noise provisions proposal 6.1 of the stage 2 and 3 General 35 

Rules and Procedures chapter. 

 

  [10.50 am] 

 

 The scope of my evidence excludes airport related noise which is 40 

addressed in the evidence of Ms Glenda Dixon.  A wide range of 

submissions on the noise rules were received most of which have been 

resolved during this process.  However a few outstanding matters 

remain which I will highlight right now and I will also comment on 

further changes made since my rebuttal evidence. 45 
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 Rules relating to noise in the Central City were notified in the stage 3 

Central City Proposal 13 chapter 13.14.  These rules have been 

integrated into proposal 6 so that they are now located within the 

general rules and procedures for the rest of the city.  Amendments have 

been made throughout the revised proposal to address formatting, 5 

duplication and consistency. 

 

 Amendments to the notified objectives and policies have been made in 

response to submissions.  I understand that these changes generally 

address submitters’ concerns with one outstanding matter raised by the 10 

Victoria Neighbourhood Association.  The matter relates to 

policy 6.1.1.2 and 6.1.1.1.5 which I have addressed in my evidence and 

my position remains unchanged.   

 

 Provision is made to exempt certain activities from the noise rules.  15 

Submissions sought to exempt the use of helicopters for normal 

farming practices and irrigation pumps from the noise rules.  Both 

Mr Camp and I in our respective evidence discuss the reasons why 

these activities should not be exempt.   

 20 

 The exclusion of special audible characteristics as recommended by 

Mr Camp remains in dispute between some of the noise experts and I 

have relied on Mr Camp’s expertise for the technical aspects of this 

matter.  However I also consider that his approach of excluding the 

special audible characteristics will make the provisions simpler and 25 

easier to use for the applicants and the Council.   

 

 In terms of the noise standards a number of changes were made 

following expert conferencing and Mr Camp has addressed the various 

technical changes however I wish to highlight one particular change 30 

that has been made since my rebuttal was filed and the change relates 

to noise for existing residential units in Industrial zones. 

 

 The experts agreed that there only needs to be LAeq limit that applies 

24 hours a day within the Industrial zones with no separate night time 35 

LAeq or LAmax controls.  This relates to those zones listed K and 

below in table 1 of rule 6.1.4.1.1.1.  Those zones are still required to 

achieve noise limits at any receiving zone.   

 

 As a consequential amendment and exception was made for existing 40 

residential units which are lawfully established in Industrial zones who 

would otherwise now be subject to the same 24 hour noise limits for 

Industrial zones.  And since my rebuttal was filed the noise limits 

which would apply to those affected  units has been further clarified in 

table 1, which was based on advice from Mr Camp, and the wording 45 

now specifies the daytime noise limit for Residential zones which is 
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50 dB LAeq in addition to a 75 dB LAmax noise limit to provide for 

residential amenity during those night time hours. 

 

 Construction activities were initially proposed as a separate section 

under noise standards for specific activities.  In response to 5 

submissions I have relocated the rules for construction activities to the 

activity status table in rule 6.1.4.2.1.  I have simplified these with 

reference to the acoustic standard for construction noise on advice from 

Mr Camp.  Since my rebuttal evidence a further change has been made 

to the wording of the activity specific standard relating to P2.  The 10 

amendment just clarifies the standard of measurement by adding “when 

measured and assessed in accordance with that standard” and that 

change is reflected in the most recent combined revised proposal. 

 

 In terms of temporary military training activities in response to the 15 

Crown’s submission on behalf of the New Zealand Defence Force 

specific activity noise standards are provided for in the revised 

proposal.  The noise standards differ from that which the New Zealand 

Defence Force requested.  In my opinion the noise standards in the 

revised proposal are more user friendly and less onerous for both the 20 

applicant and Council to assess or enforce. 

 

 Attempts have been made to resolve outstanding matters with the 

New Zealand Defence Force the first of which is their preference of a 

two tiered approached to controlling noise of firing weapons and 25 

explosives.  In my opinion the requirement for a noise management 

plan to undertake a permitted activity seems to defeat the purpose of a 

permitted standard.  In my view the provisions the New Zealand 

Defence Force, as they propose, are quite complex and would be more 

onerous for them undertaking their activities. 30 

 

  [10.55 am] 

 

 However I understand the reasons why the two tiered approach is 

preferred and in more recent discussions with Ms McMillan we are in 35 

some agreeance that if a two tiered approach is accepted then a 

notification requirement to Council as to which approach the 

New Zealand Defence Force is invoking would suffice as opposed to 

supplying a noise management plan. 

 40 

 The next stage would be to agree on appropriate noise limits and 

setbacks and there is still disagreement between Mr Camp and Mr Hunt 

as to the appropriate noise limits for firing and explosives.  There was 

some confusion regarding where noise is measured from when 

applying the temporary military training activities rule and since my 45 

rebuttal the rule now refers to the decibel noise limits in table 1 of rule 
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6.1.4.1.1 as opposed to just referring to that rule.  So this should now 

be clear that it is the decibel noise limits that we are referring to in that 

rule not the rule in its entirety. 

 

 I do not support the controlled activity status for non-compliance with 5 

these rules.  In my opinion a controlled activity rule should only be 

used when Council can be confident that the maximum effects of the 

activity can be adequately managed through conditions.  So for these 

activities in my opinion Council cannot be confident that all 

applications can be managed just through the conditions. 10 

 

 In terms of ventilation systems, based on advice from Mr Camp and the 

joint statement between Mr Camp and Dr Chiles, I understand that both 

the noise limits as well as requirements for flow rates are important to 

provide for a basic level of amenity and for this reason I have amended 15 

the ventilation requirements to include the flow rates.  I consider the 

provision is necessary in order to achieve the desired outcome of the 

rule.   

 

 The revised proposal does not include temperature control.  Mr Camp’s 20 

opinion is there is a balance between the complexity of a cost of a 

system with the desire for simple rules and in my opinion people still 

have the option to install temperature control if they want to, however 

the requirements that we are prescribing in the revised proposal are 

enough in order to achieve the basic level of amenity and to ensure the 25 

ventilation systems are adequate to serve their function, so in this case 

to keep the windows closed. 

 

 Since my rebuttal further change has been made to remove the 

threshold in this rule 6.1.5.2 and it is regarding the additions exceeding 30 

25 metres squared or beyond 10 percent of the existing gross floor area.  

This has been removed in light of the agreement reached between 

Mr Camp and Dr Chiles and in my opinion it is appropriate bearing in 

mind that the rule was also amended to make the specific reference to 

habitable spaces.  So this means that the insulation and ventilation 35 

requirements apply when making additions to habitable spaces. 

 

 In terms of helicopter landing the heading of rule 6.1.4.2.8 has been 

amended to “helicopter landing” so that there is distinction more 

clearly made between the definition of heli landing areas.  In her 40 

evidence Ms Cook maintains that the definition should be referred to in 

this rule.  The definition excludes helicopters for farming purposes and, 

as I discuss at various points in my evidence, helicopters for farming 

purposes are not exempt from the noise rules and therefore it would not 

be appropriate to use this definition in the rule. 45 
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 The revised proposal in relation to helicopter landing is generally 

accepted by the New Zealand Defence Force although differs from the 

relief sought.  Ms McMillan and Mr Hunt expressed concerns still 

regarding the setbacks from residential units changing from 200 to 

400 metres.  This is more thoroughly addressed by Mr Camp in his 5 

rebuttal and I defer to him on this matter. 

 

 Sensitive activities near roads and railways.  Following my evidence 

Ms Hewett and I discussed the remaining issues for KiwiRail and those 

resolved and outstanding are outlined in a joint statement between 10 

Ms Hewett and I filed on 10 March.  Relief is no longer sought by 

KiwiRail in relation to a no complaints instrument for noise in relation 

to rail and we have also reached agreement on a set of provisions in 

relation to vibration controls in order to manage effects particularly 

around annoyance but with the least imposition.   15 

 

 Changes are included as appendix A to the joint statement and a new 

rule and advice note is proposed as rule 6.1.5.2(b) under the existing 

rule for sensitive activities near roads and railways.  The rule creates a 

permitted control for any new sensitive activity within 60 metres of a 20 

railway designation and an advice note for buildings that are located 

within that same distance.  Non-compliance results in a restricted 

discretionary activity with matters of discretion relevant to vibration 

which we have drafted. 

 25 

  [11.00 am] 

 

 A further submission was made - - - 

 

SJH:   I am sorry, Mr Laing, I know it is hard with cross-examination, but I do 30 

expect council witnesses where there has been no application for an 

extension to meet their timeframe and this has gone well over.  So I 

expect council expert witnesses to abide by the time unless there has 

been an application for an extension. 

 35 

 Now if you would finish - - -  

 

MR LAING:   I am sorry, I think she is nearly finished I think, I apologise - - -  

 

SJH:   Well the point is made. 40 

 

MR LAING:   Absolutely. 

 

MS ANDREW:   A further submission was made by the oil companies 

opposing that initial rule for vibration but I have consulted with their 45 

planner, David Lima Quantum (ph 00.44) – I am not sure how to 
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pronounce his last name – He has advised me that he is not opposed to 

the revised provision for vibration, and one final issue raised regarding 

tunnel beeping of vehicles in industrial zones, I have recommended an 

advice note, in my opinion the advice note will alert users to best 

practice alternatives, without requiring those across the whole zone. 5 

 

MR LAING:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Now I am sorry, I think I might have had your name wrong, 

Ms BAZALO is it? 10 

 

MS BAZALO:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

SJH:   Yes, my apologies, I had it written down wrong. 

 15 

MS BAZALO:   That is all right. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS BAZALO [11.01 am] 

 

MS BAZALO:   Good morning, Ms Andrew.  Just quickly first in terms of the 20 

helicopter landings rule you are aware that the Crown seeks that the 

relevant the helicopter landing rule is the New Zealand, the relevant 

New Zealand standard are you not? 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes. 25 

 

MS BAZALO:   However, if the rule is to remain in the Plan you will have 

heard this morning would you not, the proposed changes set out in our 

opening submission, is that correct? 

 30 

MS ANDREW:   If the rule is - - -  

 

MS BAZALO:   If the helicopter landings rule is to remain in the Plan there are 

some proposed changes set out in our opening submissions – have you 

had a chance to see those changes? 35 

 

MS ANDREW:   Sorry, I did not look at the specific changes. 

 

SJH:   Is that the one you referred to with the last witness? 

 40 

MS BAZALO:   Yes, the changes we referred to about the distances.  That is 

right, I will just quickly run you through them, but if that rule is to 

remain; do you accept that the helicopter landings and take-offs, should 

be reworded to refer to movements, for consistency in the Plan? 

 45 



 Page 48 

  

Ch6: General Rules and Procedures Commenced 29.02.16 

 So the rule currently refers to helicopter landings and take-offs and I 

think you have just agreed that it should be changed to refer to 

helicopter movements? 

 

MS ANDREW:   The definition of helicopter movements, yes, perhaps it could 5 

be better. 

 

MS BAZALO:   For better consistency? 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes. 10 

 

MS BAZALO:   Thank you.  And as that rule is currently worded, the clause D 

is currently open ended and it would limit all helicopter movements 

from 450 metres for a residential site, would it not? 

 15 

MS ANDREW:   Yes. 

 

MS BAZALO:   Do you accept that it is unnecessary regulation, and it would 

result in additional resource consenting processes? 

 20 

MS ANDREW:   It would result in additional resource consenting processes 

but I think the intention of the rule of having that beyond 450 metres 

and still having those restrictions, is like what Mr Camp was 

explaining; we are trying to look at those uses that might come on as a 

more regular occurrence. 25 

 

 So things like commercial activities they can still cause annoyance and 

disturbance to people, so by having still that threshold it allows that 

kind of activity to go through the resource consent process, which I 

think is quite appropriate. 30 

 

MS BAZALO:   Okay, but just at least for temporary military training activities 

there should be some sort of rule in there that it enables them to occur 

given the importance and the nature of these sorts of activities? 

 35 

MS ANDREW:   Yes, I agree and it is something that we did begin to discuss 

yesterday that we could perhaps think of an additional on to that, 

specific to temporary military training. 

 

MS BAZALO:   Thank you.  Just quickly in terms of the setback approach; 40 

your evidence is that the use of setbacks is an onerous process, and that 

evidence is actually contrary to the evidence of the Defence Force, isn’t 

it? 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes. 45 
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MS BAZALO:   Thank you.  And in terms of the activity status for temporary 

and military training activities that are not permitted; have you read the 

evidence of Mr Hunt and Mr Robert Owen? 

 

MS ANDREW:   I have read their evidence, yes. 5 

 

MS BAZALO:   Both of these witnesses explain the detailed knowledge, 

understanding and experience they have with the New Zealand Defence 

Force temporary military training activities, do they not? 

 10 

MS ANDREW:   Yes. 

 

MS BAZALO:   In particular, Mr Hunt has done extensive testing w the variety 

of equipment used in such activities, has he not? 

 15 

MS ANDREW:   Yes. 

 

MS BAZALO:   Do you accept the temporary military training activities play 

an important role in our community, including for emergency purposes, 

such that they should be enabled in the Plan? 20 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes, I do. 

 

MS BAZALO:   Thank you, no further questions. 

 25 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, thank you, Ms Andrew.  Could I ask you a question at 

your 7.9 and 7.10 of you evidence-in-chief. 

 30 

MS ANDREW:   Sorry, could you repeat the paragraph? 

 

MR DAYSH:   7.9 and 7.10 on page 8 of your evidence-in-chief.  So this 

relates to your opinions about the terms “unreasonable”, “unnecessary” 

and the Christchurch International Airport Limited request? 35 

 

  [11.05 am] 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes. 

 40 

MR DAYSH:   Is that still in contention, has that been agreed that matter yet, 

or? 

 

MS ANDREW:   I have not been contacted about any particular outstanding 

issues with it. 45 
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MR DAYSH:   So your opinion is that those sorts of terms are not appropriate 

to use in a plan? 

 

MS ANDREW:   I think it is hard at an objectives and policies level, because it 

is quite open, like what is “unnecessary” and “unreasonable”. 5 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay, I accept that is your evidence.  Were those terms 

discussed in mediation with other planners? 

 

MS ANDREW:   I do not recall, sorry. 10 

 

MR DAYSH:   Right. 

 

MS ANDREW:   I do not recall it being specifically mentioned during our 

mediation? 15 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay, thank you. 

 

 Just turning to your rebuttal now, two quick questions, looking at 

paragraph 5.7 on page 4 of your rebuttal – sorry, it is 5.8 – this is your 20 

opinion about the cost being justified for ventilation requirements, and 

the rules around those I think. 

 

 You are saying that essentially. the benefits justify the costs.  Has that 

been assessed through the Section 32 analysis? 25 

 

MS ANDREW:   No, we did not look in terms of the cost of the ventilation 

systems themselves.  I think it is probably something that we need to 

investigate, in terms of actually pricing for ventilation systems, to know 

a little bit more about, but what I was trying to approach there is that, I 30 

guess, there is a balance between – there should be a cost to a certain 

extent in order to achieve that purpose of the rule, and that is why I 

think we have got those two provisions in terms of noise and the flow, 

but I have not included the temperature control because I think that sort 

of goes beyond achieving that basis level of amenity. 35 

 

 So I think it is important to prescribe so that a basic level of amenity 

can be achieved to meet the purpose of that rule, but I think we have to 

also be careful as to not impose too many costs.  But I agreed the actual 

cost would be something that we would need to look into more. 40 

 

MR DAYSH:   Your evidence to us is that needs to be done, and should have 

been done; looking at the actual real costs? 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes, I am just not aware of the actual ventilation system costs 45 

but from the advice of Mr Camp – who knows more about the 



 Page 51 

  

Ch6: General Rules and Procedures Commenced 29.02.16 

ventilation systems – he said that in a lot of cases people obviously are 

installing ventilation systems anyway, not in all cases, but to achieve 

those results and that are requiring these, by prescribing these 

requirements they would be quite insignificant to what people would 

generally be doing to achieve those outcomes anyway. 5 

 

MR DAYSH:   Right, we will move on. 

 

 Talking about temporary military training I am looking particularly 

your page 6 and your paragraph there about weapons firing and those 10 

types of things and noise limits; are you aware of the duration and 

timeframes that these temporary military training activities are 

undertaken over? – do you have a general sense about, is it a matter of 

days or weeks? 

 15 

MS ANDREW:   Yes, Rob Owen in his evidence I think provided quite a 

helpful summary, as to the kinds of activities it would undertake. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So what is you understanding of the typical duration? 

 20 

MS ANDREW:   I think they vary in different circumstances and that is what I 

think we have a bit of – well I have a particular problem understanding, 

is that because they are quite varied and it is quite hard to understand 

what the total effect of those activities would be, because they are quite 

varied. 25 

 

MR DAYSH:   What is your understanding of the range is it days or weeks or 

months? 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes, they can take days or weeks or across a longer period of 30 

time but broken up.  So they might undertake a training activity but it 

would occur in different places as part of their overall activity, so there 

would be some time in between those as well. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Have you experienced this yourself, have you seen the army 35 

immobilising in your community? 

 

  [11.10 am] 

 

MS ANDREW:   No.  I only have my experience based on what we have had 40 

discussions through with the New Zealand Defence Force, and as Rob 

Owens summarised in his evidence, I try to refer to, because I think 

that provides quite a helpful summary. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay, thank you. 45 
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 My last question is that your 6.15 of your rebuttal and I am looking at 

your last sentence here, where my understanding is you are saying – 

and correct me if I am wrong – that the requirements as proposed in the 

proposal, which is basically around restricted discretionary activity, are 

less onerous and more user friendly than a controlled activity status; is 5 

that what you are saying? 

 

MS ANDREW:   The requirements as proposed in the revised proposal, in my 

opinion, are less onerous and more user friendly.  I am talking about 

the requirements that were drafted, not requirements as opposed to 10 

assessing a restricted discretionary versus control. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay, so it is not - - -  

 

MS ANDREW:   Sorry, it is not quite – yes, it is a bit confused there. 15 

 

MR DAYSH:   So your evidence is not that, force control will be more onerous 

than the proposals drafted? 

 

MS ANDREW:   Sorry – what was the beginning of that, sorry? 20 

 

MR DAYSH:   Sorry. 

 

MS ANDREW:   I could not hear you. 

 25 

MR DAYSH:   I am trying to get my head around, the defence force would like 

a controlled status? 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes 

 30 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, right? 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   The Council is looking at restricted discretionary status, is that 35 

right? 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes.  Yes, so I think in this particular paragraph when I read 

it now, it is confusing, because the requirements as proposed in the 

revised proposal, I am referring to what we are proposing that we think 40 

that those are simpler and less onerous from the New Zealand Defence 

Force, and it is in a separate conclusion then from the rest of that 

paragraph, about control versus restricted discretionary. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Right, so we have those latest proposals in front of us from the 45 

Council? 
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MS ANDREW:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Is that the 4 March version of the proposal? 

 5 

MS ANDREW:   Yes, the most recent is 4 March. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Right, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Huria? 10 

 

MS HURIA:   No questions thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Ms Andrew, I just want to ask you about a couple 

of policies, please, particularly policy 6.1.1.12 about noise during 

night-time hours. 

 

 But, perhaps before that, could you just – I just want to point you to the 20 

objective which talks about adverse effects, managing – no, adverse 

effects on amenity values or health of people in communities are 

managed, and then when it comes to 6.1.1.12, your opinion is that there 

is only a need to refer to amenity values, and not to interference with 

sleep? 25 

 

MS ANDREW:   Mm’hm. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And I just wanted to ask you; in your view is loss of sleep an 

amenity issue or a health issue? 30 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes, I have been a bit stuck on this policy myself and it is 

one that I have come back to a number of times. 

 My reluctance that I had and I keep switching back and forth in, is that 

specific reference to sleep, and then I wanted it to be clear that it was 35 

talking about the overall amenity values for residences during night-

time hours; they do not just involve sleep. 

 

 So what we are trying to protect is that environment in the evening 

hours, so even before you go to sleep.  So, you know, going home and 40 

having dinner, spending time with your family and those sorts of 

things, and so I did keep going backwards and forwards and I did not 

want to make it too much specifically in terms of sleep. 

 

 But I accept that there could be some way that we can word this better, 45 

to be able to have that reference as well, but I just – I could not think of 
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a way where it would be much too specific, to sleep only, and I wanted 

to try and encapsulate that environment in the evening. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So on the one hand you do not want it to be just sleep, you 

need – it is to be amenity, but you are not meaning to exclude - - -  5 

 

MS ANDREW:   No. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - the aspects of sleep that are possibly more than just an 

amenity matter? 10 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I mean, do you accept that the objective has added the words 

“or health”, to amenity values when it comes to the objective regarding 15 

noise effects, that it goes beyond just amenity values? 

 

  [11.15 am] 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes, and perhaps “or health” could be inserted, maybe that 20 

would - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   Right, because we deal - - -  

 

MS ANDREW:   - - - provide that distinction to have that “amenity values and 25 

health”, then could refer to sleep as well. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So the main point really, is that you are not intending to 

downplay the effects on sleep during night? 

 30 

MS ANDREW:   No, not at all, I think it is very important. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Right. 

 

MS ANDREW:   I just had some difficulties with that current policy, trying to 35 

reword it so that it did have that reference and it emphasises that 

importance, but I did not want to place too much importance on sleep 

alone. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Alone, all right. 40 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Okay, well thank you that – at least I understand what your 

view is on that. 45 
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MS ANDREW:   Okay. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Now, the other one is, if you could just look at 6.1.1.1, and 

part 2; this talks about managing adverse noise effects by requiring 

sound insulation for receivers of noise. 5 

 

 Now do you accept that, if that was read as “requiring sound insulation 

for ‘all’ receivers of noise”, that that is not what the Plan requires? 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes, we are more interested in sensitive activities. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so if the Plan is not requiring sound insulation for all 

receivers of noise, how would you express where the Plan is requiring 

sound – because this is quite a specific policy, it is requiring 

something? 15 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But what is the Plan actually requiring, in words? 

 20 

MS ANDREW:   You mean the policy is – because to me those points are more 

like methods I guess, like you say it is quite specific. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So do you accept that the wording, as it is there, could be 

read to go further than the Plan actually goes? 25 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes, I think it could be.  I mean that was where it was; the 

submission was to make that specification requiring, and I accept that it 

is probably not appropriate in that - - -  

 30 

MS DAWSON:   It is then taking it further? 

 

MS ANDREW:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, that is enough for now, thank you. 35 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No questions thanks, sir. 

 40 

SJH:   Do I take it from your answer earlier to Mr Daysh that until this matter, 

you had no experience whatsoever of military matters and military 

training and things of that sort? 

 

MS ANDREW:   No. 45 
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SJH:   Thank you.  Just going back to your rebuttal, 5.7 and 5.8, I understood 

you to say to Mr Daysh, that no Section 32 analysis had been done of 

that. 

 

MS ANDREW:   No, not, no. 5 

 

SJH:   And that you did not know the level of cost involved. 

 

MS ANDREW:   No. 

 10 

SJH:   If you do not know the level of cost, how can you possibly say it is 

justified? 

 

MS ANDREW:   I cannot, in terms of terms of the monetary value. 

 15 

SJH:   Thank you.  Anything arising, Ms Bazalo? 

 

MS BAZALO:   No thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Mr Laing, re-examination? 20 

 

MR LAING:   No, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, you may stand down, we will take the morning adjournment 

for 15 minutes. 25 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [11.18 am] 

 

ADJOURNED [11.18 am] 

 30 

RESUMED [11.35 am] 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you, Mr Laing. 

 

MR LAING:   Sir, I think the next witness is a Crown one. 35 

 

SJH:   Oh, sorry, you are quite right, Mr Allen, it is Mr Willis? 

 

MS BAZALO:   The Crown calls Andrew Willis. 

40 
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<ANDREW PETER HEWLAND WILLIS, sworn [11.36 am] 



 Page 58 

  

Ch6: General Rules and Procedures Commenced 29.02.16 

<EXAMINATION BY MS BAZALO [11.36 am] 

 

MS BAZALO:   Can you please confirm to the Panel that your full name is and 

Andrew Peter Hewland Willis? 

 5 

MR WILLIS:   Yes, it is. 

 

MS BAZALO:   And you have prepared a brief of evidence-in-chief, dated 

17 February 2016? 

 10 

MR WILLIS:   Yes I have. 

 

MS BAZALO:   And a brief-of-rebuttal evidence, dated 25 February 2016? 

 

MR WILLIS:   Yes, I have. 15 

 

MS BAZALO:   And you have the qualifications and experience as set out in 

that evidence? 

 

MR WILLIS:   I do. 20 

 

MS BAZALO:   Do you have any corrections to your briefs? 

 

MR WILLIS:   No. 

 25 

MS BAZALO:   Can you please confirm to the Panel that your evidence is true 

and correct? 

 

MR WILLIS:   Yes I can. 

 30 

MS BAZALO:   And could you please provide your highlights package? 

 

MR WILLIS:   Certainly. 

 

 So I was asked by the Crown to prepare evidence in General Rules and 35 

Procedures proposal, and in particular, the noise topic, based on my 

background knowledge and experiences outlined in my evidence-in-

chief. 

 

 I would just like to clarify that my evidence does not cover those 40 

matters of interest in relation to the New Zealand Defence Force. 

 

 The advised 6.1 proposal has been significantly amended as a result of 

the various submissions including the Crown’s. 

 45 



 Page 59 

  

Ch6: General Rules and Procedures Commenced 29.02.16 

 In my opinion the revised 6.1 proposal addresses each of the majority 

of the Crown’s submissions and further submission points that relate to 

noise. 

 

 In terms of highlights; in terms of acoustic requirements for ventilation 5 

systems, this matter has been considered in the evidence-in-chief of 

Mr Hunt – and I would like to acknowledge here that I am not expert in 

the matter of noise, or in ventilation systems.   

 

 Mr Hunt considers that the requirements for ventilation systems are 10 

overly prescriptive, they are not necessary as the market will respond to 

the demand.  I support his conclusions, but I also question how an 

applicant would demonstrate compliance with this rule without a 

statement from an acoustic consultant and potentially a ventilation 

expert.   15 

 

 In my opinion this would be unnecessary expense, and overall I 

consider this rule as non-consistent with the Statement of Expectation 

clauses which require reduction in reliance in resource consent 

processes and the number, extent and prescriptiveness of development 20 

controls.   

 

 In terms of sensitive activities near roads and railways, I know that 

Mr Camp addresses this matter in his rebuttal evidence where he agrees 

with Mr Hunt but proposes the wording be amended by adding “to any 25 

habitual space” – and I consider Mr Camp’s suggestion sensible. 

 

 Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Laing? 30 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR LAING [11.38 am] 

 

MR LAING:   So capping on that, Mr Willis, there really are two main grounds 

on which you oppose a noise requirement on ventilation systems.  35 

Firstly you say it is unnecessarily prescriptive, is that correct? 

 

MR WILLIS:   I think it is unnecessary to prescribe specific components of a 

mechanical ventilation system, yes. 

 40 

MR LAING:   I will come back to that. 

 

 And the related issue you have, is that you say that if you were 

adopting Mr Hunt’s evidence, that the market will respond to consumer 

demand; does that capture what you were saying? 45 
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MR WILLIS:   I think – yes, that is what Mr Hunt says and I am relying on his 

statement there that the market will respond.  And I would also note 

that if you have a noisy system you could replace it; so there is the 

ability to change as a consumer or as a homeowner to amend the 

system as required.  So there is flexibility as well. 5 

 

  [11.40 am] 

 

MR LAING:   Right, we will come back to that too. 

 10 

 Can we just look at the particular rule please, 6.1.5.1.5 – and I am 

looking at the revised proposal of 4 March, do you have that version?  

It will come up on the screen anyway, but do you have that? 

 

MR WILLIS:   I have a recent version, but I think it is undated unfortunately. 15 

 

MR LAING:   Well, let us look at the 4 March one so we do not have any - - - 

 

SJH:   6.1.5.1.5. 

 20 

MR LAING:   So what is in front of you is the first page of the rule, at 

page 27? 

 

MR WILLIS:   Yes. 

 25 

MR LAING:    And if we go to the page number 28, I would like to look at 4 at 

the top of the page: “The indoor design sound levels in A(ii) shall be 

achieved at the same time as the ventilation requirements, as in 

New Zealand Building Code.  If windows are required to be closed to 

achieve the indoor design sound levels, then an alternative means of 30 

ventilation shall be required” – do you see that? 

 

MR WILLIS:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   And then down the bottom at 6, bottom of the page, “Ventilation 35 

systems shall generate sound levels not exceeding 35 dBA at night time 

in bedrooms” – correct? 

 

MR WILLIS:   Yes. 

 40 

MR LAING:   So looking at those provisions, do you accept that their purpose 

is to ensure that residents do not need to open their windows to ensure 

fresh air; do you accept that as the purpose behind the rules? 

 

MR WILLIS:   I accept that is the purpose, and I accept that is actually 45 

sensible.   
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MR LAING:   Thank you.  And so do you also accept that a ventilation 

systems needs to be adequate, to ensure that those windows will not be 

opened? 

 5 

MR WILLIS:   I think in order to ensure the amenity required, or anticipated in 

these provisions, then yes, it would need to be adequate. 

 

MR LAING:   And that the corollary of that is if the ventilation system is not 

adequate, residents are likely to open their windows – they will get 10 

desperate, won’t they? 

 

MR WILLIS:   Yes, I accept that. 

 

MR LAING:   So if I can summarise that; do you accept that it is going to be 15 

important that at least there is some minimum standard to ensure the 

adequacy of the system? 

 

MR WILLIS:   I think you need a working system; so yes, you would need a 

system that actually works.   20 

 

MR LAING:   Coming to the cost – and I am including cost in a very general 

sense – this rule will apply to any sensitive activity near a road or rail, 

whatever, does it not; so it may apply with apartment blocks, it may 

apply to individual houses. 25 

 

 So do you accept, that if the system that is installed is not adequate, it 

does not meet a sufficient noise attenuation of the system, that is going 

to be a market failure isn’t it?  There is going to be no control over that 

by the Council or anybody else; it will be the occupiers, the residents of 30 

the particular dwelling or apartment that will suffer those effects? 

 

MR WILLIS:   I think so; they could choose to replace the system. 

 

MR LAING:   They could choose to, but if the system is not adequate to begin 35 

with, Mr Willis, surely the market is not working, is it? 

 

MR WILLIS:   I understand that there are building code requirements and that 

is not my area of expertise though. 

 40 

MR LAING:   So you are not telling me what is in the building code, because 

you do not know? 

 

MR WILLIS:   Correct. 

 45 
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MR LAING:   So just coming back to my point though; why do you oppose a 

noise limit which is designed to ensure that the system is adequate and 

workable? 

 

MR WILLIS:   My concerns are probably less around the costs of the system 5 

but more – because I think it is appropriate to have a system – but in 

terms of around the cost of proving that the system proposed in every 

development meets these sound requirements and also any other 

requirements such as flow rates, and how that would be demonstrated. 

 10 

 That is really where my concern is; how would that be demonstrated by 

an applicant? – how would the Council respond if that information is 

not provided? 

 

MR LAING:   Councils regularly ask for certification, do they not? 15 

 

MR WILLIS:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   And if there was a problem with the system; if a developer put 

in a system that was too noisy to sleep, that will be a cost, or amenity 20 

issue, that will remain with the residents thereafter, won’t it? 

 

  [11.45 am] 

 

MR WILLIS:   Yes, as I said they could probably ask for a quieter system, they 25 

could choose to leave and if they own the place, they could change it 

themselves. 

 

MR LAING:   So the cost will fall on somebody, won’t it? – It will fall on the 

resident who buys the apartment or lives in the apartment; it will fall on 30 

somebody else, won’t it?  

 

MR WILLIS:   Potentially yes, I am not aware of what that - - - 

 

MR LAING:   It will not fall on the developer? 35 

 

MR WILLIS:   Probably, not unless in the first instance, no. 

 

MR LAING:   So do you think that is an acceptable outcome? 

 40 

MR WILLIS:   I think it is finally balanced in my mind of weighing up whether 

we anticipate that a standard off-the-shelf solution will actually deliver 

sufficient ventilation and at a reasonable noise point, versus actually 

requiring that and then the costs associated with confirming that a 

system meets these requirements set out in the rule. That, for me, is the 45 

issue. 
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MR LAING:   But if there I no noise limit standard relating to that system, 

there is no guarantee that the developer or the original owner will 

install a system that you will meet the purpose of the ventilation system 

in the first place, namely, to stop windows being opened, is it? 5 

 

MR WILLIS:   I think potentially I understand that most systems will provide 

with them statements around - - - 

 

SJH:   Answer the question please, Mr Willis. 10 

 

MR WILLIS:   Sorry, can you please repeat the question? 

 

MR LAING:   If there is no noise standard provided, there is no guarantee that 

the system will be installed in a manner that will enable residents to 15 

have their windows closed, is there? 

 

MR WILLIS:   Yes, correct. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, thank you, that is all. 20 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   No questions, thank you. 

 25 

SJH:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   No questions thanks, Mr Willis. 

 

SJH:   Judge? 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just one question, sir. 

 

 Just to clarify, Mr Willis, I take it from your answers to Mr Laing, that 

you do not know about the design details involved in the ventilation 

system, to be able to assess what the costs of replacing one would be? 40 

 

MR WILLIS:   Correct, I do not. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, thank you. 

 45 

SJH:   Ms Bazalo, anything arising or re-examination? 
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MS BAZALO:   No thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Willis, you may stand down. 

 5 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [11.47 am] 

 

SJH:   Mr Campbell, I understand you wish to call Mr Goodwin to give 

evidence. 

 10 

MR CAMPBELL:   Yes, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 
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<VERNON CYRIL GOODWIN, sworn [11.47 am] 
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SJH:   Before you start, there is a couple of matters, I need to clarify for the 

record.  Mr Goodwin, what are your academic qualifications? 

 

MR GOODWIN:   I have Royal Society of Health diplomas in noise control, 

air pollution control and public health inspection.   5 

 

SJH:   And who issues those? 

 

MR GOODWIN:   The Royal Society of Health, they were, for many years, the 

specified qualifications in regulations. 10 

 

SJH:   I am just asking, who issues them? 

 

MR GOODWIN:   Royal Society of Health, London. 

 15 

SJH:   Thank you.  And is there a course you undergo and examinations and 

suchlike? 

 

MR GOODWIN:   Yes, it is 18 months. 

 20 

SJH:   But there are no university qualifications? 

 

MR GOODWIN:   Well, there are now, the equivalent now - - - 

 

SJH:   You have no university qualification? 25 

 

MR GOODWIN:   No. 

 

SJH:   Now you say you are a specialist advisor to the Ministry, you are not 

giving evidence for the Ministry today? 30 

 

MR GOODWIN:   No. 

 

SJH:   Are you employed by the Ministry, or are you a consultant to them? 

 35 

MR GOODWIN:   I am an employee of the contractor who does the Ministry 

function. 

 

SJH:   Are you employed by the Ministry? 

 40 

MR GOODWIN:   No. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  And you also say as I read the list, and I just want to clarify 

this, you are giving evidence on behalf of the Canterbury District 

Health Board? 45 
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MR GOODWIN:   There will be a correction made to clarify that matter, sir. 

 

SJH:   Well, are you giving evidence on behalf of the Canterbury District 

Health Board? 

 5 

MR GOODWIN:   No, I am not. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  All right, Mr Campbell, you may proceed. 

 

<EXAMINATION BY MR CAMPBELL [11.49 am] 10 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   Do you confirm your full name is Vernon Cyril Goodwin? 

 

MR GOODWIN:   Yes. 

 15 

MR CAMPBELL:   You have prepared evidence-in-chief for this topic, noise 

general? 

 

MR GOODWIN:   Yes. 

 20 

MR CAMPBELL:   You have the qualifications and experience set out in 

appendix A to your evidence-in-chief? 

 

MR GOODWIN:   Yes. 

 25 

MR CAMPBELL:   Do you have any corrections you wish to make to your 

evidence? 

 

MR GOODWIN:   Yes.  In the intituling the term “Canterbury District Board 

and” should be deleted.  And in paragraph 1, the reference to the Board 30 

should also be deleted where it says, “I am a shared acoustical witness” 

and the words “who have agreed to be heard together” they should be 

deleted. 

 

  [11.50 am] 35 

 

 In paragraph 6, I would add that I refer to the 26 November so-called 

red line addition, I would add that I have also seen the latest version 

which I think is, dated 4 March. 

 40 

 In paragraph 10, the reference to mirror submissions by Canterbury 

District Health Board should be deleted. 

 

 Those are the corrections that need to be made to my evidence-in-chief.   

 45 

SJH:   Thank you.   
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MR CAMPBELL:   So the Canterbury District Health Board did not withdraw 

its further submissions? 

 

MR GOODWIN:   No. 5 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   With those corrections can you confirm that your evidence 

is true and correct, and to the best of your knowledge and belief? 

 

MR GOODWIN:  Yes, I do.   10 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   You participated in expert witness caucusing on the topic 

Noise General, and signed the joint statement dated 3 December 2015? 

 

MR GOODWIN:   Yes. 15 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   And you participated in the 21 January mediation meeting 

before Commissioner Mills on this topic? 

 

MR GOODWIN:   I did. 20 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   To assist the Panel you have produced copies of the two 

New Zealand standards? 

 

MR GOODWIN:   I do. 25 

 

MR CAMPBELL:   I understand you have prepared a summary presentation 

for the Panel.  Can you please take them through it and remain for 

questions.   

 30 

MR GOODWIN:   Yes, this is a brief summary and highlights related to my 

evidence.   

 

 Basically, the submissions that were made were to make improvements 

to the Plan over a lot of small matters, each and all of which were 35 

adopted.  The one big one item and the reason for being here today is 

this one legal-technical issue, about one particular rule in the Plan. 

 

 By way of an introduction, I am going to talk about two standards; the 

1991 and 2008 versions; two adjustments, that is the Special Audible 40 

Characteristics and the Ancillary Duration Adjustment, and the two 

problems that arise from this, that is; setting noise limits and benefits 

and the two possible outcomes in here, either inclusion of the Special 

Audible Characteristics – which is what I want – and/or exclusion.  So 

there are two positions to be argued here.  Mr Camp has one view.  I 45 

have another view. 
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 Looking at these topics in turn; in the operative Plan there is no 

reference with respect to permitted activities to NZS 6802 as the 

assessment method.  Now, of course, when that plan was written the 

then current standard was 6802 1991; different than the 2008 version 5 

we are talking about.   

 

 Now, so the Plan did not require assessment using that method, and 

many people had seen that as a deficiency in the Plan. 

 10 

 In the Replacement Plan, they are basically seeking to introduce 

assessment in accordance with NZS 6802 which, of course, is a 

revision of the 1991 standard. 

 

 Now, this 2008-era assessment method uses a rating level to compare 15 

noise limits in rules, with levels in the Plan, and this rating level is 

derived from calculations which require consideration of two main 

adjustments.  One is for Special Audible Characteristic, the other is for 

Duration. 

 20 

 Looking at these adjustments, Special Audible Characteristics such as 

tonality or impulsiveness or a screech or whine, bangs, thumps, are 

there to correlate with the way people perceive sound. 

 

 Duration adjustments are there basically to adjust for the intermittency 25 

of sound so that a noise maker, who is not making noise all the time, 

gets some benefit from the fact that they are not producing the noise all 

the time – but that only applies in the daytime. 

 

 But the reality is the Special Audible Characteristics for assessment 30 

purposes, act has a penalty, and the Duration Adjustments Act has a 

bonus for noise makers.   

 

 The problem is; if there is no penalty for Special Audible 

Characteristics it does not address the character of sound, which is one 35 

of the prime issues in the question of people’s perception.  For the 

Duration Adjustment, where it might apply in the daytime – and that 

could mean noise limits in the Plan can actually be exceeded by up to 

5 decibels. 

 40 

 So these numerical values in the Plan which has been argued would 

need to be reviewed if there was to be adjustments if Special Audible 

Characteristics applied. 
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  [11.55 am] 

 

 In fact, appear not to have been reviewed because of this Duration 

Adjustment which has been introduced as part of the 6802 method. 

 5 

 The problem lies largely with the dis-benefits on the people in 

communities, whose one expectation about noise limits being met to 

find that, in fact, no; they can actually make five decibels more than 

that for a lot of the time because the reality is people’s personal 

perception of sound is, if it is unwanted as noise, is largely driven by 10 

character of the sound rather than its mere sound pressure level – and a 

situation where people’s human perceptions would not align to a rule 

because there is no adjustment for Special Audible Characteristics in 

the assessment method, is an anomaly in my view. 

 15 

 So, the solution is, I believe, to ensure that Special Audible 

Characteristics are included.  This will be consistent with the rest of 

New Zealand, and would also be consistent with the National Standard 

of New Zealand.  It would also be consistent with the practices of many 

OECD countries. 20 

 

 And if you accept the City’s position, and exclude SAC then I believe 

you must also – and so do the experts in their agreement, except 

Mr Hegley – you should also exclude the Duration Adjustments.  I 

appreciate that there may be a legal issue of scope that arises there, but 25 

the Court can deal with that in other ways. 

 

 My concern is to ensure that we protect the health of people and 

communities while enabling noise producers to make the most of the 

technologies available to quieten and reduce any special audible 30 

characteristics and their sound emissions. 

 

 That is all I wish to highlight. 

 

SJH:   Thank you very much.  Thank you, Mr Harwood? 35 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR HARWOOD [11.57 am] 

 

MR HARWOOD:   Thank you, sir. 

 40 

 I have looked at your qualifications and experience in appendix 1 of 

your evidence-in-chief and it appears that your recent experience is 

predominantly in drafting rules, enforcing rules and various other 

training in noise assessment, is that correct? 

 45 

MR GOODWIN:   I did not quite catch the first words you said then. 
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MR HARWOOD:   I looked at your qualifications and experience in your 

appendix 1, and what I took from it was that it looks like your recent 

experience is predominantly in drafting rules, enforcing rules and 

various other training in noise assessments.  Is that a fair summary? 5 

 

MR GOODWIN:   Yes. 

 

MR HARWOOD:   Is it correct that you have little experience as a consultant 

preparing noise assessments for resource consent applications? 10 

 

MR GOODWIN:   I have very little experience in preparing such – I essentially 

do public good work for public health services, advice to the Ministry, 

rather than for private individuals or concerns. 

 15 

MR HARWOOD:   Thank you. 

 

 Would you agree there is a difference between noise assessments for 

enforcement proceedings and consent applications, because in 

enforcement proceedings you can go out and measure the actual noise 20 

whereas in consent applications it often involves a more hypothetical 

analysis.  Would you agree with that? 

 

MR GOODWIN:  Yes, you must, as part of your approach, is to consider 

avoiding the need for enforcement by making sure you address any 25 

issues that might arise; you can predict these things. 

 

MR HARWOOD:  Applying the Special Audible Characteristic to a consent 

application would involve acoustic assessments most likely from the 

applicant and Council and also possibly submitters, would it not? 30 

 

MR GOODWIN:   It would involve consideration of the potential for there to 

be Special Audible Characteristics.   

 

MR HARWOOD:   And would you agree there is potential for acoustic experts 35 

to disagree about whether Special Audible Characteristics are present? 

– and if so, what the decibel penalty should be? 

 

MR GOODWIN:   There is potential for such disagreement, yes. 

 40 

MR HARWOOD:   And if those disputes could be avoided it would simplify 

processing consent applications and could save all those involved time 

and money; would you agree with that? 
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MR GOODWIN:   Not entirely, because the saving of money is a factor which 

does not take in account the intangible costs potentially to the receivers 

of noise. 

 

  [12.00 pm] 5 

 

MR HARWOOD:   Thank you. 

 

 Now at paragraph 28 of your evidence, you state that the noise limits 

proposed are very similar to every other district.  Now, could I please 10 

take you to paragraph 3.10 of Mr Camp’s rebuttal – that is on page 5.   

 

MR GOODWIN:   Yes. 

 

MR HARWOOD:   In that paragraph he states that he reviewed 29 plans and 15 

found 14 of them set a daytime residential limit of 55 decibels, would 

you agree that it appears that a significant percentage of other districts 

consider 55 decibels to be an appropriate noise limit for Residential 

zones? 

 20 

MR GOODWIN:   Yes. 

 

MR HARWOOD:   And a decibel penalty for the special audible characteristic 

adjustment is between 1 and 5 decibels; that is right, isn’t it? 

 25 

MR GOODWIN:   It could be 6 decibels, if the reference method is used. 

 

MR HARWOOD:   Now, if Christchurch had set its residential noise limit at 

55 decibels and used the special audible characteristic adjustment, in 

circumstances where the special audible characteristic adjustment was 30 

applied to its maximum extent would you agree that the residential 

noise limit would be adjusted down to 49 decibels – 55 minus 6? 

 

MR GOODWIN:   It could potentially, that would be although it is done by the 

rating level method the effect would be as if the limit was reduced, 35 

made more stringent by the 5 or 6 decibels as applied at its maximum. 

 

MR HARWOOD:   The proposed noise limit for Residential zones in 

Christchurch is 50 decibels not 55 decibels, that is right, isn’t it? 

 40 

MR GOODWIN:   Correct. 

 

MR HARWOOD:   Thank you, those are my questions. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Daysh? 45 
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MR DAYSH:   Yes, just one question, thank you, Mr Goodwin.  Your 

paragraph 33 describes a sound level analyser including software 

applications, do you see that there? 

 

MR GOODWIN:   Yes. 5 

 

MR DAYSH:   Is that process and technique, the software, can that be run by 

anyone or does it need expertise to apply it and make judgements on it? 

 

MR GOODWIN:   It is a skill which most environmental health officers can 10 

cope with adequately with little training. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Right, thank you.   

 

SJH:   Ms Huria? 15 

 

MS HURIA:   No questions, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   No questions, thanks, Mr Goodwin. 

 

SJH:   Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Goodwin, just some questions arising from the Chair’s 25 

earlier questions of you.  Who is or what is the Environmental Noise 

Analysis and Advice Service, is it a part of the Ministry of Health? 

 

MR GOODWIN:   It used to be but it was contracted out in 1996 when a lot of 

other Ministry functions were contracted out so it is a contestable 30 

contract which is the same function it is being doing since 1972 when it 

was called Regional Noise Control Office Department of Health.  It is 

the same function but there has been 13 different administrators since 

that time, most of them government departments and District Health 

Boards, DSIR, ESR, National Radiation Laboratory.  The current 35 

contractor for the last 10 or so, 15 years has been Southern Monitoring 

Services Limited. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And that is the company you refer to in your appendix? 

 40 

MR GOODWIN:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And I look at the submission 2456 lodged in the name of 

the Environmental Noise Analysis and Advice Service and you are 

named as the contact person, did you prepare the submission? 45 
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MR GOODWIN:   Yes, I did. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And at the footer, “no signature required electronic 

submission”, and then the statement “For and on behalf of 

Environmental Noise Analysis and Advice Service Ministry of Health”.  5 

So do I take from your answer to the Chair earlier that you don’t speak 

for the Ministry of Health, that the submission lodged was incorrect in 

referring to it being on behalf of the Ministry of Health? 

 

MR GOODWIN:   Sir, the submission was lodged and I was contacted - - - 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Can you answer my question and then give your 

explanation, was it correct or incorrect? 

 

MR GOODWIN:   What you said as on that document is incorrect.  I was 15 

contacted by counsel for the Crown who pointed out that I had used 

that.  I had included “Ministry of Health” in the address and could I 

change it so I amended the submission. 

 

  [12.05 pm] 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, you go further than that, don’t you, and you say it is 

“on behalf of the Ministry”, that is what my question was about not that 

you include it in the address for service, which you do below that, but 

in saying who made the submission the critical words used by you in 25 

preparing it were “for and on behalf of Environmental Noise Analysis 

and Advice Service Ministry of Health” and I asked you was that 

correct or incorrect and you said “incorrect”, is that right? 

 

MR GOODWIN:   That was not on behalf of the Ministry of Health. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So when you wrote that you had no authority on behalf of 

the Ministry of Health to say that it was on their behalf? 

 

MR GOODWIN:   No, it wasn’t. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is that correct, you had no authority? 

 

MR GOODWIN:   Sorry, no authority from the Ministry, I don’t, it is not 

within – if I can explain, sir, it was a one in 94 year event.  40 

Submissions were prepared in fact for the District Health Board. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Would it have been more honest of you, given those 

circumstances, to put it in the name of the company that you are part 

of? 45 
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MR GOODWIN:   No, well, yes, I am part of the company, employee of the 

company but basically I am the service, in effect. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But you had no authority to put the submission in; would 

it have been more honest of you to put it in the name of a person who 5 

did have authority to put the submission for? 

 

MR GOODWIN:   I should not have used the words “Ministry of Health” on it 

but if I could continue, sir, to explain, counsel for the Crown 

(INDISTINCT 1.33) an amended version was submitted with the 10 

words “Ministry of Health” removed the same day I think it was and 

submitted to the Hearing Panel – sorry, to the Secretariat with an 

explanation. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, I have just received a copy from the Secretariat, and 15 

we can double check that, but the copy I have got in front of me from 

the Secretariat has those words on it hence my question and you are 

saying it has been replaced by another one? 

 

MR GOODWIN:   It was replaced within a day I think and there is 20 

documenting evidence of that being the fact. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well, we can easily check that. 

 

 Secondly, when you prepared your evidence you said you were doing it 25 

for the Environmental Noise Analysis and Advice Service, in part; 

now, I know it has been contracted out, but the reality is it is funded 

through the health budget, correct? 

 

MR GOODWIN:   Correct, sir. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And effectively it is done as a service of the Ministry of 

Health by a contractor, correct? 

 

MR GOODWIN:   Yes, a service which they provide for the – our clients, 35 

clients if we use that word, are the people to whom we advise are the 

District Health Boards primarily, it is funded by the Ministry of Health. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It is a Ministry of Health service, isn’t it? 

 40 

MR GOODWIN:   Correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And again when you wrote your evidence it was incorrect 

for you to say that you were doing it on behalf of a service of the 

Ministry of Health, because you had no authority to do it and you had 45 
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confirmed that by putting in an amended submission which we can 

check the record on? 

 

MR GOODWIN:   Correct. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So you shouldn’t have done that in your evidence either, 

should you, knowing that information it wasn’t a mistake, it was 

deliberate and it wasn’t correct? 

 

MR GOODWIN:   You are right it was a mistake, I should have been more 10 

careful about the matter. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, it is not just a slip of the pen, is it? – you say you 

did it for a service and you had no authority and you knew that you had 

no authority when you wrote your evidence, hence your earlier 15 

explanation to me about changing the original submission? 

 

MR GOODWIN:   I do not think I refer to the Ministry of Health - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You refer to the service - - - 20 

 

MR GOODWIN:   - - - in the evidence. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - which is part of the Ministry of Health, is it not, done 

under contract? 25 

 

MR GOODWIN:   The service is the name the Ministry gives to a contract 

which is administered by Southern Monitoring Services Limited. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   On behalf of the Ministry of Health, funded by the 30 

Ministry of Health; it is a Ministry of Health service, isn’t it? 

 

MR GOODWIN:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, the Canterbury District Health Board, you have 35 

asked us to change your evidence there.  When you wrote your 

evidence did you have any explicit authority from the Canterbury 

District Health Board to write evidence on its behalf? 

 

MR GOODWIN:   To prepare draft submissions for them which was - - - 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Answer my question please, about the evidence which is 

what is in front of us. 
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MR GOODWIN:   Well, yes, it was, I did have authority it was discussed, 

there was an expectation that I would draft submissions for them, 

prepare evidence and come to a hearing. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes? 5 

 

MR GOODWIN:   What happened, sir, was and the reason why this has arisen 

because the week, I was preparing the submissions as a draft it would 

go and be tacked on to the other submissions of the Canterbury District 

Health Board.   10 

 

 In the lead up to the deadline my mother was diagnosed with a terminal 

illness and admitted into hospital.  I ran out of time, it was too late to 

get the submissions into Canterbury District Health Board because they 

had their own internal process, so I put it in under the name of 15 

Environmental Noise Service, Ministry of Health, which was a mistake, 

I had to correct that when I was contacted by Crown counsel. 

 

 That is what happened there. 

 20 

  [12.10 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 

MR GOODWIN:   With the further submissions, again a one and 94, it 25 

happened to be the – when the further submissions, the reason why it 

was done again to compound the error or the mistake or the confusion, 

happen to be the week my mother died and again we ran into a 

deadline.  So I do not normally make submissions in our own half, 

submissions are normally made by the District Health Board. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, Mr Goodwin, I am just going to stop you there, 

all your answers been about the submission, and my question was about 

your evidence, your evidence refers to it being by the Ministry of – on 

behalf of the Canterbury District Health Board, in that first paragraph 35 

that you corrected? 

 

MR GOODWIN:   Yes, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now that was subsequent to what you have just described, 40 

significantly subsequent and yet you put the same thing there. 

 

MR GOODWIN:   Yes, sorry, I assumed, sir, that you knew that the 

Canterbury District Health Board had advise the Secretariat, as I advise 

the Secretariat about two weeks ago, after this evidence was written - - 45 

- 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay. 

 

MR GOODWIN:   - - - that they no longer wish to appear on this particular 

topic.  I am sorry, there was correspondence about this. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MR GOODWIN:   I communicated - - -  

 10 

SJH:   Who specifically from the Canterbury District Health Board authorise 

you to do this? 

 

MR GOODWIN:   Jane – I have forgotten her surname, but I dealt with things, 

I had meetings with them, I had discussions with them – I have just 15 

forgotten her surname. 

 

SJH:   Could it be Jane Murray? 

 

MR GOODWIN:   Yes, that is correct. 20 

 

SJH:   But are you aware whether or not she has the authority of the Chief 

Executive, or the board of the Canterbury District Health Board to so 

authorise? 

 25 

MR GOODWIN:   Yes, it is a routine function that - - -  

 

SJH:   You are aware of that? 

 

MR GOODWIN:   I am aware of that, sir, and in fact they have had meetings 30 

about it - - -  

 

SJH:   All right. 

 

MR GOODWIN:   - - - when they decided that they would not support this part 35 

- - -  

 

SJH:   Well we have had a continuing issue of people just turning up from the 

health board who have not had the proper authorisation, but you 

understand it needs to come from the CEO or the board? 40 

 

MR GOODWIN:   I fully understand that and that is exactly what I 

recommended and told them about the procedure, sir. 

 

SJH:   But you went ahead anyway? 45 
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MR GOODWIN:   About their procedures. 

 

SJH:   Now you said that earlier in your highlights package that if we exclude 

the SAC, I think you said, “You will also need to exclude the Duration 

Adjustment”, is that correct? 5 

 

MR GOODWIN:   Correct, sir. 

 

SJH:   And you said that was a scope issue but that is something the Panel can 

just deal with some way or another? 10 

 

MR GOODWIN:   It is a legal matter, sir, and I - - -  

 

SJH:   Well what way are you suggesting we deal with such a scope issue? 

 15 

MR GOODWIN:   Well it may be that it comes under Section 293. 

 

SJH:   Have you thought about it or you just saying “it is up to you”?  “It is a 

scope issue but it is nothing to do with me, you sort it out”  

 20 

MR GOODWIN:   No, well I have thought about it, sir, but it is a legal matter 

and I had a brief discussion with Mr Camp about it and we agreed that 

there could be some legal implications. 

 

SJH:   All right.  Can I suggest to you, Mr Goodwin, and in future when you 25 

are giving evidence on oath you take a great deal more care - - -  

 

MR GOODWIN:   Yes, sir. 

 

SJH:   Giving evidence on oath is a very, very serious matter, you understand 30 

that? 

 

MR GOODWIN:   Yes, sir. 

 

SJH:   Well you take more care in the future – Mr Harwood, anything arising? 35 

 

MR HARWOOD:   No thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Mr Campbell, anything arising, or any re-examination? 

 40 

MR CAMPBELL:   No, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, you may stand down, Mr Goodwin. 

 

MR GOODWIN:   Thank you. 45 
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<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.13 pm] 

 

SJH:   Now Ms Arthur-Young we have just got things reversed a little bit; we 

have got your first witness ahead of your opening, so we will go 

straight to your opening. 5 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Then we will go to you first witness, Ms Hewett, who now I think there 

is no longer any cross-examination of any of your witnesses? 10 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   That is right, sir, and that was a matter that both 

witnesses are here, as at until early this morning I had understood that 

some parties wished to cross – I am happy to introduce them, sir, if 

there are any Panel questions or equally very comfortable if they are 15 

able to be excused, but they are both here. 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Sir, you have some brief legal submissions from me, 20 

this morning, thank you, I will not traverse those in detail. 

 

 In essence we are very grateful for the hard work from the witnesses. 

and particular the Council witnesses, in working to narrow the issues 

and contention and you will have seen a small wave in that tsunami 25 

paper, sir, you referred to this morning, a joint planning statement late 

last night. 

 

 The two outstanding matters of disagreement between KiwiRail and the 

Council, sir, are summarised in my Section 3 of those legal 30 

submissions; the first which you have heard, were crossed by witnesses 

this morning around noise limits for ventilation systems, for sensitive 

activities, Dr Chiles for KiwiRail supports a noise level of 30 dB or 

lower for ventilation systems in bedrooms at night, and KiwiRail seeks 

that limit be included in the rules. 35 

 

  [12.15 pm] 

 

 The second issue, sir, is relation to temperature control; in the acoustic 

joint witness statement both the noise experts agree there could be 40 

value in requiring a degree of temperature control.  KiwiRail’s relief 

sought is at my paragraph 3.7, proposing an additional subparagraph 

under that rule, to provide cooling matters controllable by the occupant 

and that can maintain the temperature at no greater than 25 degrees C. 

 45 
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 And those are the two outstanding matters, sir, as between the City 

Council and KiwiRail.   

 

 Sir, I just note in my Section 4 that there is a consistency matter 

between Chapter 14 and Chapter 6, regarding the acoustic insulation 5 

rules.  The provisions in the Council’s revised proposal for this Chapter 

6, provide much more stringent controls for the management of noise 

effects than the decisions versions of the Chapter 14, sir. 

 

 And we respectfully request that the Panel exercises its discretion under 10 

the Order to delete the acoustic insulation rule, at the rules listed in my 

paragraph 4.8 in my legal submissions in Chapter 14, and instead cross-

reference rule 6.1.5.2 of Chapter 6.  In my submission, sir, that will 

have no more than a minor effect on the operation of the Plan and in 

fact will have positive benefits for users and readers and applicants 15 

under the Plan. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   So those are my brief submissions, I am happy to 20 

answer any questions, equally happy to introduce my witnesses if there 

are any questions from the Panel. 

 

SJH:   Mr Daysh, do you have any questions? 

 25 

MR DAYSH:   Actually I would like to ask, I am not sure which witness - - -  

 

SJH:   No, at the moment I am just checking if there are any questions of 

counsel. 

 30 

MR DAYSH:   No, none for counsel. 

 

SJH:   All right. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you. 35 

 

MS HURIA:   No thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   No, no questions thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, but just to signal one thing, that I am still troubled by 45 

the concept of the value, the benefit cost value of the vibration controls.   
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 I appreciate the extent of work gone in by experts to come to a 

consensus, but I can just flag to you that I still need your assistance on 

my anxiety that it seems over the top. 

 5 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Well perhaps some questions to Dr Chiles or maybe 10 

the appropriate witness. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, they may be for closing as well. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Thank you. 15 

 

SJH:   Now do people want to question Ms Hewett, Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No. 

 20 

SJH:   Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   Questions for witnesses? 

 

SJH:   Do you have questions for Ms Hewett? 25 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   All right, well if you call Ms Hewett please. 

30 
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<DEBORAH ANNE HEWETT, affirmed [12.18 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS ARTHUR-YOUNG [12.19 pm] 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Ms Hewett, can you confirm your full name is 

Deborah Anne Hewett? 

 5 

MS HEWETT:   Yes. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   And you have prepared a statement-in-chief and a 

joint witness statement with Ms Andrews? 

 10 

MS HEWETT:   Yes. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Do you have any corrections to either of those 

documents? 

 15 

MS HEWETT:   No. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Thank you.  And you can confirm both statements 

are true and correct to your knowledge? 

 20 

MS HEWETT:   Yes, I can. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   I think in the circumstances we can go straight to questions rather than 25 

the highlights package. 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Thank you, sir.  If you could answer any questions 

from the Panel. 

 30 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, thank you, Ms Hewett, my questions are about the 

vibration agreement and we have just received this, this morning and 

the first question is about your experience with vibration controls as a 35 

planner, are you familiar with those anywhere else in other plans or 

other experience in New Zealand? 

 

  [12.20 pm] 

 40 

MS HEWETT:   Not specifically in terms of rail related vibration, in the sense 

that that is something that KiwiRail has been putting in submissions to 

a number or other councils. 

 

 Over the years we have gone through a range of testing of vibration on 45 

the rail track and the noise associated with that, and as a result of some 



 Page 85 

  

Ch6: General Rules and Procedures Commenced 29.02.16 

work with NZTA in regards to Peka Peka and MacKays and Dr Chiles 

has been involved in that work for KiwiRail. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Sorry, who was involved sorry? 

 5 

MS HEWETT:   Dr Chiles has been involved in some of that work for 

KiwiRail. 

 

MR DAYSH:   You are not giving evidence as an expert planner? 

 10 

MS HEWETT:   No, that is correct.  I work for KiwiRail. 

 

MR DAYSH:   The fact that you do have planning qualifications? 

 

MS HEWETT:   I do. 15 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes.  So have you, outside of KiwiRail, have you been 

involved in vibration cases or issues around effects on vibration before? 

 

MS HEWETT:   No, I have not. 20 

 

MR DAYSH:   No, right, so you have got no knowledge about the complexity 

and the cost of vibration assessments and those types of things. 

 

MS HEWETT:   No. 25 

 

MR DAYSH:   You could not help us? 

 

MS HEWETT:   No, I cannot help you with that. 

 30 

MR DAYSH:   Right, so either in your general planning practises or KiwiRail, 

have you seen a provision or a rule like this in another plan, district 

plan in New Zealand before? 

 

MS HEWETT:   No.  As is have mentioned that is something that KiwiRail has 35 

submitted on, and most of the Plans that we do submit on, to provide 

the vibration rule around a plan. 

 

MR DAYSH:   But you have not been successful in getting those - - -  

 40 

MS HEWETT:   No, we have not been successful. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So why would Christchurch be – Is there something about 

Christchurch which would make it more important than other plans? 

 45 
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MS HEWETT:   We have had I guess particular examples in Christchurch, and 

that may have arisen as a result of the earthquakes as well – and I 

mention that in my evidence-in-chief in relation to Heathcote, and we 

have some similar issues arise around the old railway station on the 

opposite side of Moorhouse Avenue and that is more on the 5 

commercial area.   

 

 We have those sorts of issues in other parts of the country, but at the 

end of the day the decisions are a political decision and the politicians 

make those decisions.  To date we have not been successful, and 10 

Auckland I guess you could say as an example of that as well. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So are you suggesting that the decisions of decision making 

Panel are political decisions, is that what you have - - -  

 15 

MS HEWETT:   No, no, not the decision making in terms of a council Panel - - 

-  

 

MR DAYSH:   Can I ask you about - - -  

 20 

MS HEWETT:   - - - Council laws. 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right, I will leave that.  But can you tell me about this 

Norwegian standard again? – my experience with vibration is there is 

not a New Zealand standard dealing with vibration, is that your 25 

understanding? 

 

MS HEWETT:   I am not an expert in noise. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes. 30 

 

MS HEWETT:   But that is my understanding.  I think that you would be better 

placed to put that to Dr Chiles. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Dr Chiles, all right. 35 

 

 Look my final question about this is the use of advice notes, are you 

generally in favour of advice notes in plans as a planning technique? 

 

MS HEWETT:   I guess from my experience the Planning, notes do provide a 40 

heads up and that only occurs if and when people read the Plan and that 

effects them and I guess if you do not need to get a resource consent or 

the like then you are probably unlikely to go down that path and there 

may still be effects on the buildings and individuals as a result of 

vibration and noise. 45 
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 I guess at best they could be helpful to provide a bit of a heads up, if 

you happen to be looking at the Plan. 

 

  [12.25 pm] 

 5 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, would you characterise it as an information purpose? 

 

MS HEWETT:   It is an information tool, yes.  It is simply just information. 

 

MR DAYSH:   As a planner do you think they have any status or legal 10 

provision of how you might interpret the Plan? 

 

MS HEWETT:   Not at all. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Right, thank you.  Thank you. 15 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you sir. 

 20 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, Mr Daysh has asked my questions, thank you very much. 

 

SJH:   Judge? 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just one question arising from your discussion with 

Mr Daysh, the examples you referred to of the problems at Heathcote 

and Moorhouse Avenue and your paragraph 3.6 where you refer to it as 

noise and vibration; am I right to understand from that there is no 30 

property damage claims that TranzRail deal with, it was resident 

complaints? 

 

MS HEWETT:   Correct, yes. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  I think I have got further questions I take it I 

direct to Dr Chiles, any questions around the engineering end of things 

from the TranzRail side, for instance what can be done on the 

TranzRail track, I will direct that to Dr Chiles, unless you feel you can 

help? 40 

 

MS HEWETT:   No, I think that that would be the best way. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you. 

 45 

MS HEWETT:   Thank you. 
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SJH:   Anything arising? 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   No sir. 

 5 

SJH:   Thank you, you may stand down. 

 

MS HEWETT:   Thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.26 pm] 10 

 

SJH:   Can you call Dr Chiles now please? 
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<DR STEPHEN GORDON CHILES, affirmed [12.26 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS ARTHUR-YOUNG [12.26 pm] 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Dr Chiles your full name is Stephen Gordon Chiles? 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes. 5 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   You have prepared a primary statement of evidence 

and also signed a joint witness statement with Mr Camp is that right? 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes. 10 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Do you have any corrections to make to either of 

those documents? 

 

DR CHILES:   No. 15 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   You can confirm both statements are true and 

correct? 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes. 20 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Thank you, again I do not think you need to 

summarise - - -  

 

SJH:   No, again I think we can go straight to questions Ms Arthur-Young. 25 

 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Mr Daysh? 

 30 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, thank you.  Look the first question is not on the topic of 

vibration, it is about special audible characteristics; were you involved 

in the mediation or the expert conference? 

 

DR CHILES:   No, I was not. 35 

 

MR DAYSH:   Right, just talking about vibration – you have heard the 

questions I had of Ms Hewett about the Planning issue and the rule, I 

think she mentioned that you had some experience in Kapiti District 

with the new Roads of National Importance that are being built there 40 

currently, is that correct? 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes, as a consultant I worked on the Peka Peka to Otaki section 

which involves railway alignment as a part-time Transport Agency 

employee I have been in various aspects. 45 
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MR DAYSH:   Can you describe what that experience is, why is that relevant 

for us looking at this Christchurch rule? 

 

DR CHILES:   From Ms Hewett’s answer to your earlier question I have had 

experience in a wide range of rail vibration around the country.  I did 5 

not take it to be particularly that case.  That was just a good example 

where vibration levels have measured some distances from the track so 

we get a feel for it.   

 

 A more relevant example that might be of interest to the Panel is in 10 

Tauranga, there is currently another Transport Agency project where 

the rail has been shifted out of the road corridor to make room for a 

wider road.  The rail is going in a decade old designation which has 

been empty and going behind some houses that have been built up 

against the designation. 15 

 

 So there the track is actually going on a resilient mat to control 

vibration.  So there was an assessment done; measurements done from 

the existing rail in its current location, measurements done with the 

ground attenuation and the new location that it has found to achieve 20 

reasonable vibration levels which is the same standard that has been 

recommended here, the new track or a section of the new track 

essentially it is a foam mat up underneath the ballast. 

 

 Were there particular aspects of past experience you were interested in? 25 

 

MR DAYSH:   No, I am just trying to get your experience to help us with 

whether this agreement in this rule is appropriate given he Statement of 

Expectations, and the Strategic Directions about getting on with 

Christchurch. 30 

 

  [12.30 pm] 

 

DR CHILES:   Certainly.  So there are vibration complaints around that crop 

up and I have experienced the road network as well.  Lots of people 35 

live with vibration levels above recommended values, in exactly the 

same way as lots of people do of noise levels of recommended values. 

 

 We know from international research that that is causing adverse health 

effects in those people and while we have got an opportunity, we are 40 

not going to go and fix all the existing exposure, but where we can 

avoid compounding it by putting these rules in so that as the housing 

stock gets refreshed, you address that existing known health issue.  So 

there is a direct parallel with the way that noise is proposed to be 

addressed. 45 
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 It is just because vibration is more complex and harder to deal with.  It 

has sort of been brushed under the carpet to some extent, and it appears 

to be the case. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Is that the reason – because it is complex and difficult to deal 5 

with – that there has not been a New Zealand standard or guidance on 

vibration? 

 

DR CHILES:  I cannot say definitively.  If you go back a certain number of 

years you do not see very many submissions.  You do not see very 10 

many assessments on vibration matters where if you look at current big 

infrastructure projects going through there is much greater focus on 

vibration. 

 

 I suspect that when, for example, the Construction Noise Standard is 15 

revised it will write vibration into it and I think it will come through as 

New Zealand standards.  There appears to be a greater awareness of the 

issue.  The issue has always been there.  There has not been a sudden 

event where people are getting more affected than they used to be.  

There just does not seem to have been a focus on it previously. 20 

 

MR DAYSH:   Vibration can be an operational issue, as well as a construction 

issue, can’t it?   

 

DR CHILES:   It can, yes.  As I was advising KiwiRail, they were recently 25 

conducting measurements in Hornby.  There is a section of track where 

they replaced the timber sleepers and they put concrete sleepers down 

and they cleaned the ballast and they ground the rail surface and we did 

measurements before and after and it makes a big difference to the 

vibration of the track, so yes.   30 

 

 And the 60 metres is on the basis of a well-maintained track so there 

will be parts of the network at the moment where 60 metres would not 

be anywhere near sufficient because the track is not in good condition.   

 35 

 Although, through working with KiwiRail – they hired, two years ago, 

a rail grinder which I think came from Australia, and so went round the 

network and improved the rail so that the feelable vibration, often it is 

more about the – the rail grinder deals with short wavelengths, 

deformations in the top of the railhead.  Vibration is often to do with 40 

the sleepers in longer wavelengths, so replacing the sleepers and 

cleaning the ballast tend to be the measures. 

 

 So, KiwiRail does have a maintenance programme I am aware of where 

it addresses these issues and that is a key part of the equation. 45 
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MR DAYSH:   Right. 

 

DR CHILES:    Sorry, but just to confirm, the criteria has been set on the basis 

of a well-maintained track, so it is not trying to make up for deficient 

maintenance. 5 

 

MR DAYSH:   Were you involved in developing this rule or this provision? 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes, so the 60 metres in the criteria, I had made a 

recommendation to KiwiRail that that would be inappropriate. 10 

 

MR DAYSH:   And you think, as an expert in this field, that the Norwegian 

standard is the best international standard to use? 

 

DR CHILES:   I would not use the word “best” because there might be 15 

something out there I am not aware of, but it is a very good standard in 

the fact that it has been written specifically for this issue, for 

transportation vibration and the criteria are based on some solid 

objective research into human response to that vibration.  So you will 

find a lot of standards, someone has put a bit of a finger in the air and 20 

you have ended with criteria that feels about right. 

 

 In this case it is actually sort of well-founded on research into human 

response, so I think it is an appropriate standard. 

 25 

MR DAYSH:   Is the vibration issue that we are dealing with here any different 

to vibration from heavy transport on the roading network? 

 

DR CHILES:   No, the Transport Agency uses exactly the same criterion.  The 

heavy traffic on the road network generates a lot less vibration than 30 

rail.  Rail generates more vibration than roads. 

 

 But there is a recent example; Fletcher Building are developing the site 

in the corner of Colombo and Brougham Streets and the Transport 

Agency required them to – it was a square (INDISTINCT 4.47) site 35 

where the school was at one stage, the Transport Agency required them 

to design to this vibration standard.  They took measurements in the 

site without buildings on it.  It was above the standard and I have not 

checked where it has got up to but the foundation design may have to 

be adjusted for the buildings closest to Brougham Street. 40 

 

  [12.35 pm] 

 

 In Christchurch, we have got an ace up our sleeve where a lot of 

buildings are now being built with two slabs so that you can jack them 45 

up after an earthquake or whatever it is and that actually provides very 
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good opportunities for vibration isolation which would not have 

otherwise existed. 

 

 So, that was one of the solutions that was being looked at on that 

particular site. 5 

 

MR DAYSH:   Your Tauranga examples where KiwiRail actually dealt with 

the effect and paid for the solution, would you agree that this rule 

imposes the cost on the neighbouring landowners rather than KiwiRail? 

 10 

DR CHILES:   Undoubtedly yes.  The benefit also, I mean, I heard a question 

earlier about the benefit being the reverse sensitivity but the true 

benefit is the health effect on the residents, so that they have paid 

money and they have got a better environment in which they are living 

so they have directly benefited from that cost.   15 

 

MR DAYSH:   And if a developer or someone within 60 metres wanted to do 

something, they would presumably need to get a vibration, some of sort 

assessment or report or study done? 

 20 

DR CHILES:   Correct, yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   And is that, in your experience, what would that cost? 

 

DR CHILES:   $1,000 or so.  Someone has to go out with a device, put it on the 25 

ground and take some measurements.  If your measurements are under 

the criteria that is the end of the deal.  If there is a design process then 

there is further work required but it is the cost for a man to go out with 

a meter and measure for a couple of hours on site.   

 30 

MR DAYSH:   And would the Council expect a report on that? 

 

DR CHILES:   I have not got the wording of the proposal in front of me, but 

the normal way is that the specialist who did that assessment would 

provide a report that would be submitted to the Council, yes. 35 

 

MR DAYSH:   And you think that would be $1,000 to do the work, write a 

report? 

 

DR CHILES:   To go and do the measurements.  If there is an assessment 40 

required and so forth, then the cost will be higher – and I go back to 

that Colombo Street example, depending on the building type or 

depending on the degree of the extent of assessment required but in that 

case it will certainly be more than that sort of $1,000 mark. 

 45 

MR DAYSH:   What might it be? 
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DR CHILES:  $5,000, $10,000.  So the Colombo Street development that’s sort 

of 50 or so units so they got an acoustic specialist involved in the job 

anyway but it is a very variable quantity. 

 5 

 Sorry, I do not think I could give you a realistic number. 

 

MR DAYSH:   But if someone is looking at this type of rule on a cost benefit 

section 32 basis you could actually look at an assessment and include 

costs and - - - 10 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes, you could do a case study for this scenario; this is what the 

costs would be. 

 

MR DAYSH:   But are you aware that it has been done for this proposition? 15 

 

DR CHILES:   I am not aware that that has been done for this proposition. 

 

MR DAYSH:   One last question; the health affects you talk about, about 

vibration and the whole purpose of this is to deal with health effects on 20 

people – that is your evidence? 

 

DR CHILES:   Health and amenity. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, and so what are those health effects? 25 

 

DR CHILES:   Sleep disturbance is the health effect.  Amenity is related to 

annoyance. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Right, thank you. 30 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No questions, thank you. 

 35 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Mr Daysh has answered most of my questions.  But just 

talking about the cost and what might be involved. 

 40 

 I notice that this rule that has been agreed would not apply to just a 

single residential unit, Is that on the basis that the costs are starting to 

get up in terms of the value for one house? 

 

DR CHILES:   I believe so.  My opinion is it should apply to all developments 45 

near to the railways, from an acoustics perspective. 
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MS DAWSON:   All right, so you have not necessarily agreed to that.  That has 

been agreed between the Planners to include that? 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, but say it was applied to two or three new units on a 

property adjoining the railway, the way that the rule is written at the 

moment it would require a design report prior to construction so 

presumably that is someone going out and doing the measurements of 10 

the vacant site, design report, and then another design certificate prior 

to occupation to say that it has been constructed and meets the 

standards as expected. 

 

 For a site with just a few units on it, what sort of cost do you think for 15 

that package of reports and certificates? – would it be more than 

$1,000? 

 

DR CHILES:   Yes, it would, yes.  Because you are requiring someone to go 

back and do a site specific – I have not thought through the costings 20 

and so I am bit worried about misleading the Panel by giving answers 

off the top of my head, but yes, it would be more than that figure I 

quoted. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, that’s all, thank you. 25 

 

SJH:   Judge? 

 

  [12.40 pm] 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Thank you, sir.  Just probably one matter, I think 

everything else has been covered for me as well. 

 

 Dr Chiles, just in terms of your comments and in summary that your 

assumption was that KiwiRail would have a well maintained track, and 35 

you described for instance replacing sleepers with concrete ones and 

that sort of thing and grinding the rail and making it smooth, that sort 

of thing.   

 

 So on an assumption that the track adjacent to a building is not well 40 

maintained, are the vibration issues going to remain in the building 

notwithstanding this work? 

 

DR CHILES:   Essentially, yes. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:  All right, thank you very much.  The rest is for submission 

and I am still not satisfied. 

 

SJH:   Anything arising? 

 5 

MS ARTHUR-YOUNG:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Dr Chiles, you may stand down. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.41 pm] 10 

 

SJH:   Yes, maybe something that could be helped with and I think it would 

probably need to involve KiwiRail, the Council and the Crown at least, 

and that is if we could get some supplementary information around the 

actual cost of this. 15 

 

 I mean it is great that agreement has been reached but we have got a 

concern that there does not seem to be a proper 32 analysis around it. 

 

MR LAING:   Look, I absolutely accept that and I have been thinking about the 20 

appropriate way we could deal with that.  I would like to confer with 

Council, but in principle either some supplementary evidence or an 

agreed statement of witnesses might be very helpful I think. 

 

SJH:   If it is possible to get an agreed statement of evidence of the witness’s, 25 

agreed facts that would be very useful to us.  But we will accommodate 

that because I just think we are still in a little bit of doubt as you will 

appreciate. 

 

MR LAING:   I will speak to Council involved and come back to the panel on 30 

that issue. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Look we will take the luncheon adjournment until 1.30, 

thank you. 

 35 

ADJOURNED [12.42 pm] 

 

RESUMED [1.33 pm] 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you.  Mr Laing I believe you wanted some clarity on a point? 40 

 

MR LAING:   If the Panel pleases, I just wanted to make sure that in terms of 

the further information whether it is evidence or caucusing, it related 

both to ventilation and to vibration. 

 45 
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SJH:   Yes, but I think it was more around vibration that we were concerned 

about, but I think it would be useful to address both because again, I 

think the paucity of the cost benefit analysis applies to both. 

 

MR LAING:   I thought it would be appropriate to address both- - - 5 

 

SJH:   Yes, I think that is right. 

 

MR LAING:   - - - to have that clarified, and I will approach Council 

accordingly. 10 

 

SJH:   And unless there is a need for evidence, if you reach agreement, just a 

joint memorandum would be fine. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, I think that is what we will trying to reach anyway, I am 15 

grateful.   

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Now Mr Vesey.  You wish to give evidence? 

 

MR VESEY:   Yes, sir. 20 

 

SJH:   If you come forward to the witness box please. 
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<JEFFREY THOMAS VESEY, affirmed [1.35 pm] 
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SJH:   Now, your full name is Jeffrey - - - 

 

MR VESEY:   Yes, Jeffrey Thomas Vesey. 

 

SJH:  Thank you, and you have filed a statement of evidence dated 17 February 5 

2016? 

 

MR VESEY:   Yes, I did. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Do you have any corrections you wish to make to it? 10 

 

MR VESEY:   No, sir. 

 

SJH:   You can confirm it is true and correct? 

 15 

MR VESEY:   Yes, I do, sir. 

 

SJH:   All right, well, you have got an opportunity to take us to a highlights 

package and then we will go to the – it is fairly short so it may be just 

more apt you just simply read it through to us. 20 

 

MR VESEY:   Yes, if I just read it through and then - - - 

 

SJH:   And we will go to questions, thank you. 

 25 

MR VESEY:   Yes, thanks very much. 

 

 My name is Jeff Vesey, I am a Christchurch resident, I wish to present 

my following evidence on Special Audible Characteristics and how not 

being to use them in assessing noise has affected me and my family.   30 

 

 Just section 16 of the Resource Management Act imposed the duty on 

occupiers of land to ensure noise levels are kept at a reasonable level.  

Reasonable levels of noise it is not necessarily the loudness of the noise 

but other factors need consideration that receivers of noise regard as 35 

unreasonable, for example, the type of noise, the nature of the noise 

and its frequency, and also its duration and characteristics.   

 

 Unreasonable noise can include noise that interferes with the health, 

welfare and amenity of the noise receiver all of which special audible 40 

characteristics attempt to address.  I think to delete Special Audible 

Characteristics for the measurement of noise does not meet the intent of 

Section 16 of the RMA or necessarily protect the wellbeing of receivers 

of unreasonable noise. 

 45 
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 It would seem logical that receivers of noise are also able to argue for 

adjustments to ensure that their health, wellbeing and amenity are taken 

into account which is what Special Audible Characteristics would assist 

with.  It is not difficult in 2016 with technological advances for noise 

makers to adopt a best practical option to avoid the emission of 5 

unreasonable noise.   

 

 So I thought I would just skip those bits.  My story, I have lived in 

Darvel Street since November 2012.  Across the road we have got a 

commercial user which is a large hotel complex.  It has a cooling 10 

system on the boundary, on the residential boundary away from the 

hotel rooms so that obviously the noise doesn’t affect guests et cetera.  

This operates 24 hours a day.  When I first got there it operated noisily 

for 24 hours until I made a complaint to the City Council which then 

got them to reduce the noise during night time but even between the 15 

hours of 7 am and 10 pm the noise produced still exceeds the noise 

limit of 50 decibels.  It doesn’t sound a lot but, you know, just 1, 2, 

3 decibels means even 10 to 30 percent over the limit.   

 

 I have complained numerous times to the City Council.  They have 20 

responded to my complaints but I never see what the outcomes are.  

Even with adjustments the noise is still non-compliant.  The City 

Council accepts the noise levels and said they cannot be taken into 

account because characteristics of the sound cannot be taken into 

account because special audible characteristics are unable to be 25 

assessed under the current district plan. 

 

 I have complained about the noise because of its tonal characteristics 

and the duration doesn’t stop from about 7.10 in the morning when it 

starts until about 10 to 10 when they cut the motor to try to get it down 30 

to about 40 decibels.  It has an effect on me and my family; we have 

lost amenity, that is not able to sit outside and have quiet enjoyment 

and peace.  It can also be heard quite clearly inside the home.  Some 

people say “Oh, just close your windows, you’re double glazed and 

you’re fully insulated” but that does not really work because you have 35 

got to let fresh air into the house.  It has an effect on my wellbeing.   

 

 Having to put up with unreasonable noise every day for quite a long 

period of time.  It is not intermittent, it is not intermittent noise but 

constant.  It causes irritability and other emotions that I suppose just 40 

make you more irritable.   
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  [1.40 pm] 

 

 It has interrupted peace that I have needed to recuperate from a major 

illness over the last two years.  I just think that if the special audible 

characteristics were allowed to be measured, the City Council could 5 

then be more sympathetic to the unreasonableness of the noise. 

 

 And so just in conclusion, I request that my submission is accepted and 

I am sure I am not alone in the residents that are affected by noise that 

if we could put back the Special Audible Characteristics back into the 10 

District Plan, it would help residents have some sort of argument that 

the noise is unreasonable. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Now Mr Laing, or Mr Harwood? 

 15 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR LAING [1.40 pm] 

 

MR LAING:   Mr Vesey, good afternoon, you do not say in your evidence 

about your sort of background.  I take it you are not an acoustic noise - 

- - 20 

 

MR VESEY:   No, I am a resident. 

 

MR LAING:   - - - or a resource management specialist, nothing like that at all, 

no? 25 

 

MR VESEY:   No. 

 

MR LAING:   Were you here this morning when Mr Camp was giving 

evidence? 30 

 

MR VESEY:   No, I was not. 

 

MR LAING:   He did say that he did not think that the cooling tower that you 

are obviously concerned about had a special audible characteristic. 35 

 

MR VESEY:   No, I disagree. 

 

MR LAING:   You disagree – If it has not got a special audible characteristic, 

doesn’t that help you? 40 

 

MR VESEY:   Did he measure it? 

 

MR LAING:   He has been to the site. 

 45 

MR VESEY:   Did he measure it? 
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MR LAING:   I do not know.  But I am just asking you the question, would 

you mind answering it now, please? 

 

MR VESEY:   It does have a special audible characteristic. 5 

 

MR LAING:   So you disagree with Mr Camp? 

 

MR VESEY:   Yes. 

 10 

MR LAING:   Isn’t your issue looking in around simply a one of compliance 

anyway – whether the special audible characteristic or not, you have a 

compliance issue, don’t you? 

 

MR VESEY:   Yes, I do. 15 

 

MR LAING:   And the special audible characteristic, one way or another, 

probably is not going to make much difference to that compliance issue 

is it? 

 20 

MR VESEY:   In what way, I do not understand? 

 

MR LAING:   Well, your evidence really is to the effect that your neighbour 

has got a non-complying cooling tower in terms of noise- - - 

 25 

MR VESEY:   That is correct. 

 

MR LAING:   - - - and that is non-complying even whether or not there is a 

special audible characteristic? 

 30 

MR VESEY:   That is correct. 

 

MR LAING:   Have you had your own noise consultant take measurements? 

 

MR VESEY:   No, I have not. 35 

 

MR LAING:   Pardon? 

 

MR VESEY:   No, I have not. 

 40 

MR LAING:   Would that not be a good idea? 

 

MR VESEY:   It will do, I do not understand what you are getting at - - - 

 

MR LAING:   I am asking the question, just answer, please 45 
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MR VESEY:   - - - we are now just talking about this water cooling.  I am 

talking about these things in general – that is just an example. 

 

 We are not negotiating whether we are going to just talk about the 

water tower that’s opposite property; I am talking about this in general.  5 

I am a resident in Christchurch, I am sure I am not the only person that 

is affected by Special Audible Characteristics, and noise that comes 

from makers of noise. 

 

MR LAING:   Mr Vesey, you gave evidence about your personal situation in 10 

your evidence, I am asking you questions about that – can we just stick 

to that for the moment please, thank you.   

 

 I will ask you again.  Have you had any expert advice or measurements 

done by- - - 15 

 

MR VESEY:   No, I have not. 

 

MR LAING:   You haven’t, no?  Thank you.   

 20 

SJH:   Mr Daysh. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, thank you, Mr Vesey, and thank you for your clear 

statement, it has been very helpful. 

 25 

 I really just have one question, have you – you say to Mr Laing you 

have not actually had any noise measurements done, but have you had 

any advice on these sort of issues from anyone in preparing this 

evidence? 

 30 

MR VESEY:   No, I have not. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay, thank you. 

 

MR VESEY:   I am purely here just as a resident wanting to give my – and 35 

how I think of it. 

 

MR DAYSH:   I do not know whether we can actually see where your property 

is in relation to the cooling tower, that would be actually quite helpful – 

thank goodness for Google. 40 

 

 So there is your property there, 31 Darvel Street? 

 

MR VESEY:   Yes, that is marked correctly. 

 45 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, and the cooling tower, could we point to where that is? 
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MR VESEY:   That is exactly where you are pointing. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Right there? 

 5 

MR VESEY:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So it is an outdoor cooling tower? 

 

MR VESEY:   Yes, it is.  It is one of those old technology type things that have 10 

been around for a long time. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay, thank you very much. 

 

SJH:   Ms Huria? 15 

 

MS HURIA:   Is that the front of the Chateau just across the road from you, is 

that the entryway, I am just trying to get my bearings. 

 

MR VESEY:   The main entry comes off Kilmarnock Street. 20 

 

MS HURIA:   Oh yes, I see, thank you. 

 

MR VESEY:   Just where that arrow is, that is just the back where, I suppose 

the maintenance man has his shed and all that sort of thing. 25 

 

MS HURIA:   Thank you.  Thank you, sir. 

 

  [1.45 pm] 

 30 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you.  I was just wondering, are we able to have the 

zoning map just to see what is sort of anticipated in that area.   

 35 

 Your area is just a residential zone? 

 

MR VESEY:   Yes, it is medium residential density. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, but apart from that it is coherent residential area with 40 

this big hotel on the other side of the road? 

 

MR VESEY:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you very much, I think I understand it. 45 
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SJH:   Judge. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, so just one question, have you taken the 

matter up with the hotel people at any stage? 

 5 

MR VESEY:   I have done, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, and so they know of your concerns? 

 

MR VESEY:   They know of my concerns. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Do they know as recently expressed to them or some time 

ago? 

 

MR VESEY:   I have not done this year but certainly did last year.  They are 15 

quite sympathetic, but they say if Council says we are allowed to do, 

we are allowed to do it.  That is basically what they say. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, thank you very much. 

 20 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Vesey, how long have you lived in this property? 

 

MR VESEY:   Since late 2012. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Laing, anything arising? 25 

 

MR LAING:   No, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you very much Mr Vesey. 

 30 

MR VESEY:  Thanks very much. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [1.46 pm] 

 

SJH:   Ms Hill, you are firstly just calling a witness on airport noise and then 35 

you are going to open on Lyttelton Port, is that correct?    

 

MS HILL:   Yes, sir. 

 

SJH:   Well, for the first witness, I will hand over to the deputy chair, thank 40 

you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Hill, just before you call the witness, just a couple of 

matters, if I could have you as courier of the news to Ms Appleyard for 

Monday. 45 
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 The first thing is in regard to the Standards, New Zealand Standards, 

that are matters of contention between the noise experts, Mr Day and 

Dr Chiles, that we asked Mr Laing this morning if he could co-ordinate 

for the Standards to be in front of the Panel for Monday, so if you could 

just make sure that if Mr Laing needs any assistance from your end that 5 

that could be given. 

 

MS HILL:   Yes, of course. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Secondly, Ms Appleyard asked for Panel response on 10 

whether there are various documents that we needed for Monday in 

addition to those that she has provided in the memorandum. 

 

MS HILL:   Yes. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So that information is going back to her this afternoon, 

but if I could just note one other thing.  In addition to the list that has 

been given, there were a couple of documents on that that we have 

asked for – there is one other document that I wonder if you could find.   

 20 

 Ms Dixon’s evidence at paragraph 3.10 refers to the Airport’s 2015 

Noise Monitoring Report, and it seems from that evidence that that is 

not available on the Airport’s website.  I wonder if that could be made 

available to us for Monday and to counsel as well. 

 25 

MS HILL:   Yes, thank you.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If you could now call Mr Bethwaite.  And Ms Dawson 

thinks it may be attached to Mr Day’s evidence, I can check that over 

the weekend.  If it is then you do not need to worry about it, but if it 30 

isn’t, if you could make it available. 

 

MS HILL:   We will check if (INDISTINCT 3.55).   
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MS HILL:   Excuse me, sir, my client has just informed us that the 2015 Noise 

Monitoring Report has not been produced yet, so there is a 2014 one, 

and I think maybe one 2015. 

 

MS……….:   The 2015 one will be available within the next two to three 5 

months because it last year’s data. 

 

SJH:   Then it is no use to us. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, it may be a case of clarifying relevant evidence 10 

which refers to it I think.  I think the issue is Ms Dixon is referring to 

perhaps Mr Bonis’ evidence in saying I have not seen the report he is 

referring to. 

 

 So Mr Bonis may wish to correct his evidence and refer to the relevant 15 

report. 

 

MS HILL:   Yes, sir, thanks.   

 

<EXAMINATION BY MS HILL [1.49 pm] 20 

 

MS HILL:   Do you confirm that your full name is Kevin James Bethwaite? 

 

MR BETHWAITE:   Yes, that is correct. 

 25 

MS HILL:  And you have prepared a statement of evidence, dated 17 February 

2016? 

 

MR BETHWAITE:   Yes, that is right. 

 30 

MS HILL:   And you have the qualifications set out in that evidence? 

 

MR BETHWAITE:   Yes, I do. 

 

  [1.50 pm] 35 

 

MS HILL:   Are there any corrections that you wish to make to that evidence? 

 

MR BETHWAITE:   No. 

 40 

MS HILL:   Can you confirm then that to the best of your knowledge that 

evidence is correct? 

 

MR BETHWAITE:   I can, yes. 

 45 
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MS HILL:   Thank you, I understand you have a brief summary which you 

would like to present? 

 

MR BETHWAITE:   Yes, thank you. 

 5 

 My evidence covers a very narrow issue, and I have been asked by 

CIAL to revisit my 2007 evidence from the Environment Court 

Hearing in the Foster case, and the 2007 expert panel report to consider 

whether are any major changes in the flight tracks for Christchurch 

International Airport at the capacity. 10 

 

 Flight paths and altitude have an impact on operational noise levels.  

The flight tracks have not changed since 2007 apart from one minor 

new approach for use on the crosswind runway, or runway 29.  This 

new approach allows aircraft to fly the approach using instruments 15 

rather than visually. 

 

 The actual ground tracking for this new approach is almost identical to 

the tracking that was used for the expert panel modelling.  I do not 

consider the new approach to be of material significance in a way that 20 

would affect the accuracy of the noise contours. 

 

 And I am happy to answer any questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Mr Daysh? 25 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, thank you, Mr Bethwaite, I do have a couple of questions, 

the first one is at your paragraph 20, page 3 of your statement, right at 

the bottom of the page; you say there that the airways tracks are 

established through thorough consultation and you cite a number of 30 

affected parties.  In your experience with establishing these tracks do 

actually other community groups and people, are they involved as an 

affected party through that sort of consultation process? 

 

MR BETHWAITE:   It is interesting the way life is changing because if you 35 

had of asked me the question 10 years ago - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well Mr Bethwaite, best to answer the question, and then 

to go to the explanation. 

 40 

MR BETHWAITE:   The question was today, right now? 

 

MR DAYSH:   No, I am asking in your experience should those affected 

parties include, or have they included residents, community people 

before, and probably secondly should they in your opinion? 45 
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MR BETHWAITE:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes. 

 

MR BETHWAITE:   They have, and I believe they should. 5 

 

MR DAYSH:   So in 2007 there were community representatives involved in 

the airways track establishment? 

 

MR BETHWAITE:   No, the tracks that I presented were the theoretical tracks 10 

which would be applicable to a scenario where you had 175,000 

movements per annum, and that the decision on that was the result of 

the expert panel that was set up. 

 

MR DAYSH:   I am still not clear, you are saying that the airways tracks are 15 

established through thorough consultation with the relevantly affected 

parties, that is a technical job as you see it, you are not looking at 

consultation in the wider effects of where the tracks go is that what you 

are saying to us? 

 20 

MR BETHWAITE:   There is two parts to this, you have got a theoretical 

situation which I was asked to comment on in the 2007 report, which 

the challenge was; what would the tracks look like in a scenario where 

you had 175,000 movements using Christchurch Airport and you had 

SIMOPS which was a crossing scenario for landing on one runway and 25 

the other one at the same time. 

 

 So we were asked to predict what the tracks would be like in that 

scenario, and there was no public consultation in my prediction of those 

tracks. 30 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay, that is clear, thank you. 

 

 The second question about paragraph 24; the expert panel is that still in 

existence, or was that disestablished after 2007? 35 

 

MR BETHWAITE:   It is disestablished.  It was set up for the purpose of 

coming up with that result. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Right.  Thank you, that is all I have. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:  No, thank you, sir. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson? 
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MS DAWSON:   No questions, thank you Mr Bethwaite, that is clear. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, Mr Bethwaite I do not have any questions either and 

thank you very much for your assistance.  Before you go, any questions 5 

arising Ms Hill? 

 

MS HILL   No thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you very much, you are free to go.   10 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [1.55 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Hill, if I could just come back to the issue of the 2015 

report or perhaps draft or whatever it is; if the position is that Mr Bonis 15 

is referring – I think it was Mr Bonis or the relevant witness that 

Ms Dixon refers to – If the position is they are referring to an in house 

draft report for that evidence, then I think if that is that to be the 

evidence that that person is leading on the basis of that information, 

that document must be provided to the Panel and to counsel in case 20 

there are questions arising. 

 

 It may well be that your client has got issues in terms of confidentiality, 

if so they can make an application, but if the position is that the witness 

just simply referred to the wrong date, then clearly that can be 25 

corrected so I just thought I would make that clear so that you could get 

instructions before Monday. 

 

MS HILL:   Thank you, sir.  That is clear. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you.  We will come to the opening for Lyttelton Port 

which we have read and you can just speak briefly to it if you would 

please, Ms Hill. 35 

 

MS HILL:   Thank you very much sir.  I will just briefly take you through the 

Port’s position which is that there are two outstanding issues remaining 

issues, the first being noise which Mr Hegley will deal with in a 

moment in his evidence and he will take you through the details of that. 40 

 

 The second issue remaining of the Port is the lighting and glare matter; 

we are still working with the council in the hopes of resolving this in 

the next few days but Andrew Purvis will be appearing later on in the 

proceedings to deal with that lighting and glare issue if it were not 45 

resolved between now and then. 
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SJH:   All right.  Well if you go ahead and call Mr Hegley then. 

 

MS HILL:   Thank you. 

5 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS HILL [1.57 pm] 

 

MS HILL:   Do you confirm that your full name is Nevil Ian Hegley? 

 

MR HEGLEY:   Yes. 5 

 

MS HILL:   You have prepared the statement of evidence, dated 17 February 

2016? 

 

MR HEGLEY:   Yes. 10 

 

MS HILL:   You have the qualifications set out in that evidence? 

 

MR HEGLEY:   Yes. 

 15 

MS HILL:   Do you have any corrections that you would like to make? 

 

MR HEGLEY:   No. 

 

MS HILL:   Do you confirm then that to the best of your knowledge that 20 

evidence is true and correct? 

 

MR HEGLEY:   I do. 

 

MS HILL:   Thank you.  I understand you have a summary that you will 25 

present to the Panel and then please remain and answer any questions. 

 

MR HEGLEY:   Thank you, my name is Nevil Ian Hegley, my experience and 

qualifications are set out in my evidence-in-chief, dated 17 February 

2016.  I have read the rebuttal evidence of Stuart Camp acting on 30 

behalf of the Christchurch City Council.   

 

 As a general comment there has been significant agreement between us 

and the respective lawyers, with one point of difference remaining.  I 

note that Mr Camp has accepted my concerns with ambiguity of the 35 

original construction noise rule and has proposed the modified wording 

of my recommendation.  The meaning of Mr Camp’s wording is clear 

and I am happy to accept the wording as proposed.   

 

 The one unresolved issue between myself and Mr Camp is with respect 40 

to the recommended change to the industrial noise controls for 

industrial general limits from 65 decibels Leq to 70 decibels, and 75 

decibels for the industrial and heavy industrial activities. 

 

 I note Mr Camp agrees my views have some validity, however he is 45 

focused on my comment about offices located within an industrial zone 
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who generally operate with closed windows.  The issue is not really 

one of windows being open or closed as this is – and sorry, that should 

be user-preference – for what has been zoned for. 

 

 The zoning of a site as industry (INDISTINCT 4.38) is to allow for 5 

activities that have difficulty in complying with the more onerous but 

rigorous expectations of the noise sense of neighbours such as 

residents, residential.  If a site is zoned to allow for these industrial uses 

the rules should acknowledge this by setting the appropriate 

environmental standards of one of those being (INDISTINCT 4.56). 10 

 

  [2.00 pm] 

 

 Setting a noise condition that reflects the zoned use will not cause any 

unreasonable noise for the neighbours.  As I said in paragraph 22 of my 15 

evidence, this is the evidence-in-chief dated 7 February setting out the 

current proposed levels of 65 decibels, would put sites such as the city 

depot site into non-compliance if they could no longer rely on their 

consent conditions.   

 20 

 I queried with Mr Camp the many sites involving heavy vehicle 

movements where compliance can be achieved and the city depot is 

one such site.  However, the use of forklifts on the city depot site would 

not comply.  The comment about trucks is simply an easily identified 

area of concern. 25 

 

 The real issue is there are zones for industry and heavy industry, and 

controls to acknowledge this.  I am surprised that Mr Camp has agreed 

that truck movements may exceed the current level of 65 decibels and 

supports the level, with the knowledge that this will make some 30 

industries non-compliant.   

 

 To set a level knowing there will be non-compliance does not seem 

logical or necessary when history has shown there is no adverse effect 

for the neighbours. 35 

 

 Higher noise level does not automatically mean there will be a problem 

for the office staff.  In many cases the office will be well clear of a site 

boundary.  Where the office is near the site boundary this is often 

adjacent to a road boundary where high traffic noise can be 40 

experienced.  The District Plans do not require industry design for 

traffic noise but many District Plans do require residential uses to be 

zoned to control traffic noise. 
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 In conclusion, I do not see any noise problems with the proposal to 

modify the industrial noise level from 65 to 70 decibels and heavy 

industry sites to 75.   

 

 Sir, just to make an adjustment, they should not have the “a” after those 5 

numbers.  Should be “dB” not “dBa” and they are our LAeq values.  

Apologise for that. 

 

 Thank you. 

 10 

SJH: Thank you.  Mr Harwood? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR HARWOOD [2.02 pm] 

 

MR HARWOOD:   Thank you, sir, just a couple of questions on that final 15 

matter of disagreement between you and Mr Camp. 

 

 In relation to the noise limit for industrial zones, one of your 

assumptions in your evidence is that offices in those zones will 

generally operate with closed windows.  Now, there is no certainty that 20 

those offices will operate in that manner in all cases, is there? 

 

MR HEGLEY:   No, that is absolutely correct but the problem in industrial 

zones is normally a self-inflicted one; that an office in industrial zone 

is, in itself, is an industrial zone, so they have to design if they think 25 

noise is an issue for their own noise.  That will automatically cover the 

other issue of neighbours. 

 

 But the real point is that it is zoned for heavy activity, let it be a heavy 

activity.   30 

 

 For instance, if I am going to build a house in an industrial zone, I have 

to design that house accordingly knowing what the levels are.  If I am 

building an office in an industrial zone I know what the rules are, I can 

design accordingly.   35 

 

MR HARWOOD:   Thank you.  Now, if the noise limit was to be increased as 

you are suggesting, that would affect all industrial zones across the city 

would it not? 

 40 

MR HEGLEY:   Be logical because all industrial zones, each zone is allowed 

to do the same sort of thing so it would be logical.  It is between new 

zones I am talking. 
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MR HARWOOD:   And it would be important to consider the possible 

ramifications of that change thoroughly before the increase is made, 

would it not? 

 

MR HEGLEY:   Absolutely but I think the logic of why do you zone industry 5 

as a heavy industrial zone if you are not going to allow the heavy 

industry to take place? – that is the basic philosophy of it. 

 

MR HARWOOD:   Right and you have not looked at every industrial zone in 

your evidence and considered specifically whether or not those limits 10 

would be appropriate, have you? 

 

MR HEGLEY:   It is the zoning that is important.  Location of it is not 

important to me.  It is the fact that it is in between industry to industry 

zone.  It is the whole basis of the zoning. 15 

 

MR HARWOOD:   Now, under the proposed rule an activity which exceeds 

65 decibels by less than 10 decibels would require consent on a 

restricted discretionary basis, would it not? 

 20 

MR HEGLEY:   Yes. 

 

MR HARWOOD:   And would you agree that obtaining consent on a restricted 

discretionary basis would be a relatively straightforward process given 

the Council’s discretion is limited? 25 

 

MR HEGLEY:   My job revolves around people not agreeing with things so 

you are asking for agreement to start with.  You are automatically 

going to put an industry through what I believe is unnecessary cost in 

many cases. 30 

 

MR HARWOOD:   Would the consent process be relatively straightforward on 

a restricted discretionary basis? 

 

MR HEGLEY:   I am not a planner so I cannot answer that. 35 

 

MR HARWOOD:   Now, would you accept that the rules as proposed will not 

affect Lyttelton Port’s existing city depot activities because those 

activities operate under resource consents? 

 40 

MR HEGLEY:   That is correct.  If they change anything that requires a 

resource consent you are immediately caught with the new rules. 

 

MR HARWOOD:   Thank you, those are my questions. 

45 
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  [2.05 pm] 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, thank you, Mr Hegley.  The Port’s city depot, has that 5 

been constructed, is that basically in place now, is it in operation? 

 

MR HEGLEY:   Yes, that has been in operation for some years.  The latest 

hearing that was on it was about two years ago, maybe three years ago. 

 10 

MR DAYSH:    Is there room for expansion on that site or is it pretty full up? 

 

MR HEGLEY:   We have just been through an exercise of expanding it or 

expanding the uses.  The site, they purchased, they have moved onto 

another adjacent site so yes. 15 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, all right, and just really following up from a question from 

counsel, your assumption in paragraph 13 about industrial zones – 

about sensitive activities in industrial zones – your working assumption 

is a general one; you have not looked at all of the zones in Christchurch 20 

that this rule would apply to? 

 

MR HEGLEY:   No I have not and it is a philosophy of how zoning should 

work in my view and it is not just because Lyttelton Port has one.  I 

would not support it just because one particular site may or may not 25 

need it. 

 

MR DAYSH:   But if sensitive activities could establish in some of the 

industrial zones, as they are proposed in this Plan, would your views 

change? 30 

 

MR HEGLEY:   If you going to allow, say, a residential activity within the 

zone it should be on the basis that they are designed to take whatever 

level is, into account, otherwise you are creating a reverse sensitivity 

effect and the zone does not allow, as I understand it, residential 35 

activities as of right.   

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, just from another hearing, where that in Woolston there is 

abilities to establish, for example, a preschool within an industrial 

general zone.  If that was the case do you think your suggestion could 40 

apply across all zones without having looked at the detail of how each 

zone works? 

 

MR HEGLEY:   I think if that is scenario exists you have a problem even at 65.  

So you are not creating a problem, you might be making it slightly 45 
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worse but if you allow them in there without specific design you are 

creating problems straight off at 65. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you, and my last question is about your suggested 

increases in dB in industrial zones, are those levels standard practice 5 

around the country for heavy industrial zones? 

 

MR HEGLEY:   I couldn't say for all of them.  We have some areas where they 

do not even have controls between industrial zones and those areas, 

they range from, I think – Thames Coromandel District Council, I 10 

think, ridiculous level of 55 decibels for industrial zone.  Then it goes 

right up to 75 or up to no controls whatsoever. 

 

 Hamilton City, for instance, used to have that in there and their 

argument was, it was an industry and that is all there was to it, no 15 

controls.   

 

 The control is, in actual fact, normally to the nearest residential site 

which maybe some distance away, but that usually controls. 

 20 

MR DAYSH:   Sure, okay, that is helpful, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No thank you, sir. 25 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Mr Hegley.  Mr Daysh has asked the question I 

was going to ask about typical industrial zones around the country, and 30 

your comment that you just made to Mr Daysh that in the end it is not 

going to affect residential neighbours, I presume that is because the 

rules in the Plan, including this Plan, say that irrespective of what the 

zone standard is, it is also controlled by a rule that is the standard at any 

receptor which may be an adjoining residential zone.  Is that correct? 35 

 

MR HEGLEY:   Absolutely, correct, and the city depot is a good example.  I 

have the residential activities adjacent to them on one side in 

Nuttall Drive, and they have to control there and that actually controls 

them but on the other side they have got industry so you are absolutely 40 

correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so depending on where the nearest residential or other 

sensitive zone might be that may be the controlling factor as opposed to 

the noise limit in the zone itself. 45 
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MR HEGLEY:   Absolutely correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Have you – I mean, I presume over the years you have done 

typical measurements of sound levels within both general and heavy 

industrial zones? 5 

 

MR HEGLEY:   I have indeed. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And in what sort of typical measurements do you get? 

 10 

MR HEGLEY:   Okay, if you take a sawmilling industry, they are one of the 

noisier industries.  They will be up on their boundaries, often up to 

85 decibels, quite honestly.  Quarries are the same, depending how far 

away their boundary is but they can be that and if it is adjacent, a 

quarry next to a rural area it does not really matter because the house is 15 

a long way away. 

 

  [2.10 pm] 

 

 I would say the typical heavier industry runs round about 70, 75 20 

decibels at their site boundary.  If you are on the industry it does not 

seem particularly loud because of the environment you are in but it is 

often there. 

 

MS DAWSON:   What about a more general industrial zone, it might be, 25 

nowadays a lot of distribution or warehousing and that sort of thing? 

 

MR HEGLEY:   Well the warehousing you come down the only control there 

is normally the forklift and trucks.  So as long as your trucks are 

appropriately located you will comply with the 55 on the boundary.  30 

But then that is a commercial type or a light industry shall we say. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So what is the zoning at the city depot site, is it a heavy or a 

general industrial zone? 

 35 

MR HEGLEY:   There is a combination of zonings on that but they are 

basically heavy industry because trains bringing the containers in and 

forklifts moving the containers around, that is the basic activity there. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And you say that if they were not able to rely on their 40 

resource consent they would not comply with the noise standards? 

 

MR HEGLEY:   They would on the side where there is other activities 

controlling them anyway because it has been designed like that but 

over on the other side which is on the north-western side, no, they 45 

would fail miserable because - - - 
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MS DAWSON:   What was that?  What noise standards are they actually 

operating at to - - - 

 

MR HEGLEY:   They operate to within the 75 decibels.  70 would restrict the 5 

use of the site to certain locations, below that it just means that you get 

further and further away and you have dead land.  The noise source 

there is the forklifts running round moving the containers. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So 65 would - - - 10 

 

MR HEGLEY:   They could not comply with that. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Would not comply. 

 15 

MR HEGLEY:   No. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you very much, Mr Hegley. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Judge? 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just one question I think I have left, Mr Hegley, 

 

 I take it effectively you have just summarised the theory of your 

evidence, that really is that you are seeking to avoid a jeopardy of 25 

breach which you would see as being in effect a likely occurrence on a 

typical industrial site? 

 

MR HEGLEY:   Yes, also on the basis if you have heavy industry; allow for it 

– don’t say we are going to put heavy industry in, now we will stop 30 

having heavy industry without the exorbitant cost in complying with 

particular environmental standards. 

 

 So it goes, I am not, the fact someone may be not complying now, that 

is second issue.  It is a fact that “why zone it heavy industry if you do 35 

not allow for it?”  And that is why we have residential, commercial, 

light industry right through to heavy industry, because the necessities, 

if you like, get worse as you go through. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And just clarifying, and I take from that you are saying it 40 

is in the nature of the normal operation of the heavy industrial site that 

these noise levels will be higher than what the Council is proposing? 

 

MR HEGLEY:   Yes, and forklifts and trucks are good examples and every 

heavy industry has those.  And if you have the access on your 45 
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boundary, you have got trucks running down there, we all know how 

noisy a truck is, it will not comply with 65. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 5 

SJH:   Thank you.  Anything arising, Mr Harwood? 

 

MR HARWOOD:   Nothing, sir. 

 

SJH:   Anything arising, Ms Hill, or re-examination? 10 

 

MS HILL:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Hegley, you may stand down. 

 15 

MR HEGLEY:   Thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [2.13 pm] 

 

MS HILL:   Sir, may I please request to be excused as well. 20 

 

SJH:   Yes, you may be. 

 

MS HILL:   Thank you, sir. 

 25 

SJH:   Now, Mr Laing, we come to Ms McLaughlin. 

 

MR LAING:   Thank you, sir.  Ms McLaughlin. 
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<ALISON MCLAUGHLIN, affirmed [2.13 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR LAING [2.14 pm] 

 

MR LAING:   Your full name is Alison McLaughlin? 

 

MS MCLAUGHLIN:   Yes it is. 5 

 

MR LAING:   And you hold the position of policy planner at Christchurch City 

Council? 

 

MS MCLAUGHLIN:   Yes. 10 

 

MR LAING:   Relevant to today, you have prepared a statement of evidence-

in-chief, is that correct? 

 

MS MCLAUGHLIN:   Yes. 15 

 

MR LAING:   And that is dated 4 February 2016? 

 

MS MCLAUGHLIN:   Yes. 

 20 

MR LAING:   And do you understand that today we are dealing with section 8 

of your evidence. 

 

MS MCLAUGHLIN:   Yes, that is correct. 

 25 

MR LAING:   Relating to public safety and emergency services? 

 

MS MCLAUGHLIN:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   Just for the record, panel that is at page 102 following.  Now 30 

you will be giving evidence later in this hearing as well but do you 

confirm at this stage that those provisions are, those parts of your 

evidence are true and correct? 

 

  [2.15 pm] 35 

 

MS MCLAUGHLIN:   Yes, I do. 

 

MR LAING:   Do you have any corrections to make to them? 

 40 

MS MCLAUGHLIN:   Not to those sections, no. 

 

MR LAING:   Thank you.  Could you now answer any questions, please. 

 

SJH:   We will just have the highlights package first thank you. 45 
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MR LAING:   Sorry? 

 

SJH:   The highlights package. 

 

MR LAING:   Oh, I am sorry. 5 

 

SJH:   That is all right, you are not the first. 

 

MR LAING:   I am trying to get through this fast. 

 10 

SJH:   I just did it; lots of people have done it. 

 

MR LAING:    Yes, your highlights package please. 

 

MS MCLAUGHLIN:   Thank you, this is just very brief.  15 

 

 Proposal 6 that apply across the district; in selecting topics for the 

general rules proposal I considered the complexity of the provisions, 

the need for specific objectives or policies for those topics and the 

possibility of reducing substantial repetition in the other chapters.   20 

 

 Over the course of the review there have been several suggestions for 

new general rules topics.  These include provisions relating to water 

supply for firefighting and setbacks from transmission lines.  These 

provisions have already been considered in a number of previous 25 

hearings and are currently repeated in a number of zones.   

 

 I do not consider that the rules are generally very complex or that they 

would need to sit under their own objectives or policies.  Therefore I 

agree with the New Zealand Fire Service that the notified section 6.10, 30 

public safety and emergency services, can be deleted and that we can 

rely on the provisions as they appear in the zones.  I also agree with 

Transpower that a new general rule for setbacks from transmission 

lines is not necessary. 

 35 

 I do support a new general rules topic for works for the purposes of 

earthquake recovery as requested by the Crown.  The operative Plan 

included a rule inserted by the Minister for Earthquake Recovery to 

provide for demolition works carried out by CERA.  This rule is not 

retained in the revised proposal because of uncertainty around the 40 

approach that will be taken after the expiration of the CERA Act in 

2016. 

 

 The Crown submitted seeking a version of this provision to be included 

as a new general rule.  I support that addition and have included it in 45 

section 6.x of my evidence.  This rule will provide for the remaining 
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clearance and land restoration programme for Crown owned sites in the 

Port Hills as a permitted activity.  It would require that these works by 

undertaken by an appropriate certified professional and that sufficient 

notice be provided to the Council and to affected parties to review the 

proposed works. 5 

 

 The scope of these works and the methodology behind them is set out 

in Mr Winters’ evidence for the Crown.  I have discussed this proposal 

with Janice Carter, the chapter lead for natural hazards and Ian Wright, 

who is one of the Council’s senior geotechnical engineers.  They are 10 

confident in the robustness of the processes used to date and the 

standard set out in section 6.x.  I therefore recommend that the panel 

include the section in its decision. 

 

 Thank you. 15 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   No, no questions, sir. 

 20 

SJH:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   No questions this time thank you. 

 

SJH:   Judge? 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, thank you though. 

 

MS MCLAUGHLIN:   Thanks. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 35 

 

MS MCLAUGHLIN:   Thank you very much. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [2.17 pm] 

 40 

SJH:   Mr Mora, welcome back; you have a submission to make? 

 

MR MORA:   Yes, sir. 

 

SJH:   Yes, just come forward to the microphone for me please, just go straight 45 

ahead when you are ready. 
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<MIKE MORA [2.18 pm] 
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MR MORA:   Thank you very much for the opportunity and our submissions 

today are in support of the general rules and in support of 6.6, 6.7.2.3, 

6.6.1.1.3 and 6.6.31.  And our community board has looked at those 

general rules and procedure and support them and request that they be 

retained as notified.   5 

 

 So 6.6 is in regards to Waterway Setbacks; 6.7.2.3 is rules for Defence 

Wigram – both of those we support and want them retained as notified.  

6.6.3.1 Natural Hazards, support and we wish that to be retained as 

notified; and finally we go to 6.6.1.1.3 Management of Activities and 10 

Water Body Setbacks – we support that and want that retained as 

notified.  And that is that in a nutshell. 

 

SJH:   All right.  I will see if the panel have any questions for you. 

 15 

MR MORA:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   Have you seen the latest proposal from the Council in terms of 20 

those provisions? 

 

MR MORA:   No, sir, I have not.  And I hope there are no drastic changes but 

anyway that is something that I should really have studied before I 

came before you this afternoon. 25 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Ms Huria? 

 30 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No questions, thanks, Mr Mora. 35 

 

SJH:   Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No thank you, sir. 

 40 

  [2.20 pm] 

 

SJH:   Thank you very much, Mr Mora, as always, thank you. 

 

MR MORA:   You are welcome. 45 
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<MIKE MORA WITHDREW [2.20 pm] 

 

SJH:   Now, Mr Jordan is not here because we have got well ahead.  Could we 

go ahead with Ms Dixon? 

 5 

MR LAING:   Yes, she has just arrived, sir, so I can call. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.   
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<GLENDA MARGARET DIXON, affirmed [2.20 pm] 
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SJH:   Now, Mr Laing, I think some of this is airport stuff and some of it is 

height and such like, isn’t it, whatever the airport part of it I will be - - - 

 

MR LAING:   It is related to the airport. 

 5 

SJH:   So I will hand over to Judge Hassan. 

 

MR LAING:   If I can assist the Panel, it is part of Ms Dixon’s evidence-in-

chief which is very large. 

 10 

SJH:   I think we have it now and I will back off again. 

 

<EXAMINATION BY MR LAING [2.22 pm] 

 

MR LAING:   Your full name is Glenda Margaret Dixon? 15 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, it is. 

 

MR LAING:   Amongst other things you have prepared a statement of 

evidence-in-chief relating to a variety of airport noise issues? 20 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   And they include the Specific Purpose Golf Resort zone, is that 

correct? 25 

 

MS DIXON:   That is right. 

 

MR LAING:   Do you wish at this stage to make any corrections to that part of 

your evidence? 30 

 

MS DIXON:   No, I don’t. 

 

MR LAING:   No, you don’t.  So do you confirm that that evidence is now true 

and correct? 35 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   And would you now read your highlights package please. 

 40 

MS DIXON:   Thank you.  The Specific Purpose Golf Resort zone replaces the 

Open Space 3D zone which was in the operative City Plan.  It covers 

the Clearwater Golf Resort and also provides for the development of a 

second golf resort located in the Lower Styx area now known as the 

Whisper Creek Golf Resort.  The two Golf Resort zonings share the 45 

same objectives and policies but have slightly different rule packages.   
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 The Golf Resort zone provisions were deferred to this hearing because 

the Clearwater Golf Resort is now totally within the revised 50 dB Ldn 

airport noise contour in the regional policy statement and in the city 

plan.  The aerial photo at attachment G to my evidence-in-chief, which 5 

is the second to back attachment, illustrates how the contours have 

expanded in this area in comparison to the old contours which were for 

some years in the operative city plan.   

 

 So if you are to look at that attachment the solid coloured lines show 10 

the previous noise contours and the edges of the shaded bands show the 

new contours.  For example, the 50 dB contour has moved east from 

the solid green line to a position across the north western corner of 

Belfast. 

 15 

MR LAING:   Ms Dixon, maybe we could just wait until it comes on a screen 

to help the Panel. 

 

MS DIXON:   Okay. 

 20 

MR LAING:   There it is. 

 

MS DIXON:   Would you like me to repeat any of that? 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, please, just go back. 25 

 

MS DIXON:   Okay.  So this aerial photo illustrates how the contours have 

expanded in the Clearwater area and the black line is the zone boundary 

of the Clearwater Golf Resort zone in comparison to the old contours 

which were for some years in the operative city plan.  So the solid 30 

coloured lines show the previous noise contours, that is the red, blue 

and green going outwards from the extended centreline of the main 

runway, and the edges of the shaded bands show the new contours.  For 

example the 50 dB contour has moved east from the solid green line to 

a position across the north western corner of Belfast.  That is the edge 35 

nearest the bottom right. 

 

  [2.25 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Perhaps the Secretariat could use the pointer to see if we 40 

can coordinate what you have just said. 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, so that is the new 50 contour, that is it.  And the 55 contour 

has moved from the blue line slightly eastwards to take in more of the 

built up area of Clearwater so that is the new 55.   45 
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 I understand that following the stage 1 hearings the wording of the 

strategic directions objective 3.3.12 infrastructure, the wording by the 

Panel reflected a general acceptance, including by the Airport 

Company, that the replacement plan should provide for the Clearwater 

Resort as an exception to the general RPS policy relating to noise 5 

sensitive activities within the 50 dB Ldn contour.  However that 

situation also means that the only realistic provisions I can recommend 

for the zone are those which were notified.  I drafted those provisions 

to provide for the same amount of development as under the operative 

city plan in the same locations as if the contours had not shifted but not 10 

to allow for further development beyond those quotas. 

 

 So in paragraph 13.14 of my evidence-in-chief I provide a summary of 

the remaining development potential at Clearwater.  I compiled this 

information by comparing resource consent and building consent 15 

information with the actual development now in place on the ground 

and I note that there are more buildings in place on the ground than are 

shown on that aerial photo, it is a few years old. 

 

 Considerable opportunity remains for the construction of additional 20 

resort hotel bedrooms and many of those additional bedrooms have 

already been consented but are not yet built.  The remaining quota 

appears likely to be used for a more traditional style hotel adjoining the 

clubhouse.  The scale of hotel being proposed at 90 bedrooms or more 

is likely to require the surrender of some of the resource consents for 25 

some of the bedrooms consented but not built in the Rotoiti Lane area.  

I understand from Council consent staff that there are discussions 

underway now between parties in an attempt to achieve this. 

 

 Mr John Lonink’s evidence has – well, you didn’t hear him but his 30 

evidence illustrates he has addressed the potential height of such a hotel 

from an urban design perspective and agreement has been reached with 

Clearwater Holdings Limited on some additional design standards if a 

larger scale building were to eventuate so there are no outstanding 

issues there. 35 

 

 There is still scope for further houses at Clearwater within the quotas 

and the vacant subdivided lots are slowly being built on.  If you go 

back to my table in 13.14 I think there is in the region of 40 vacant lots 

but that may be starting to decrease further. 40 

 

 So there is still scope for further houses at Clearwater within the quotas 

and the vacant subdivided lots are slowly being built on.  Beyond those 

existing vacant lots there is a relatively limited amount of scope for 

further subdivision.  As explained in my evidence I do not believe there 45 

is any justification for additional houses to be permitted beyond this.   
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 Further I am comfortable with the wording of the exception for 

Clearwater in strategic objective 3.3.12 although I would note that the 

name of the zone will need to be updated at some stage.  I also draws 

the Panel’s attention to two minor errors in the Plan provisions which 5 

were not picked up in submissions.  One is explained in 

paragraph 14.13 of my evidence-in-chief and it relates to a narrow strip 

of land which was wrongly zoned golf course resort in the operative 

city plan and that was continued into the reviewed plan, that is the last 

attachment H in my evidence.   10 

 

 And the other one is some numerical errors in ground levels which are 

the ground levels set for flood protection in the undeveloped areas of 

Clearwater.   

 15 

 So lastly, as noted in my evidence, the submissions on the Whisper 

Creek Golf Resort zoning have resulted in a minor amendment to that 

zoning so that there are no outstanding issues between the parties on 

that zoning.  I am happy to answer any questions. 

 20 

MR LAING:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Mr Daysh? 

 

  [2.30 pm] 25 

 

MR DAYSH:   Good afternoon, Ms Dixon.  At your paragraph 14.2 on page 55 

you talk about the fact you don’t think it is appropriate to add wording 

about this being an existing urban area, is that because that would, in 

your view undermine RPS urban limits, is that the thinking or is there 30 

some other reason? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, that is part of the thinking, and the RPS policies are 

reflected to some degree in the City Plan policies as well.  So yes, it is 

basically what is urban that is at issue; Clearwater obviously wanted to 35 

add in wording which would indicate that they are urban. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Right.  I would like to go back to that figure that was up on the 

screen and ask you a few questions to get some bearings because I have 

not been to Clearwater myself. 40 

 

 And these are just some general clarification questions.  So Clearwater 

is a resort style golf course, so people come here to play a special golf 

course? 

 45 
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MS DIXON:   Yes, it is of international standard as you might know from 

Ms Lydia Ko being there recently who won the women’s 

championships I think.   

 

MR DAYSH:   Right, yes, so this is the course.  Is there more than one golf 5 

course? 

 

MS DIXON:   No, it is all one. 

 

MR DAYSH:   One 18 hole golf course? 10 

 

MS DIXON:   One 18 hole – so the holes are dispersed around most of that 

area, there is an area to the southern part of that black line that is not 

golf course, some of it is ECan leased land but it is zoned for 

Clearwater Resort. 15 

 

MR DAYSH:   So it is a high end type resort, is that how you would explain it? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, yes, it is sort of a similar character to Millbrook, only it 

may be slightly smaller, I am not sure how many residential units or 20 

hotel units Millbrook has got. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, I do know Millbrook, so that is very helpful, but in terms 

of access to the resort and proximity to the Airport for airport 

accommodation for example; how far away is it by car from the 25 

Airport? 

 

MS DIXON:   A total guess, probably about 5 kilometres around Johns Road, 

State Highway 1. 

 30 

SJH:   Usually five minutes but with heavy traffic at the moment, about 45. 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right, so is the market – we talked about some perhaps new 

hotel developments, is that for like, potentially overnight stays for 

people staying at the Airport and then moving on, is that- - - 35 

 

MS DIXON:   Well, the Airport already has a hotel there, and I think there also 

is the Commodore Hotel just down Memorial Avenue, so there are 

other hotels in the Airport environs but that is not to say that people 

might want to choose to stay at Clearwater. 40 

 

MR DAYSH:   But if you wanted to stay overnight, you could grab a taxi and 

stay there? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, assuming, that you know, they have free units obviously, 45 

yes. 
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MR DAYSH:   Free as in vacant? 

 

MS DIXON:   As in vacant – wrongly put, sorry. 

 5 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, all right, thank you, that is really useful.  Can I ask you 

some questions about your table at 13.14, page 54. 

 

 So you use a term in your evidence about quota as in these numbers are 

what are permitted by current resource consents, is that right? 10 

 

MS DIXON:   No, by the current operative zoning- - - 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right. 

 15 

MS DIXON:   - - -which was introduced by Variation 93, but pretty much was 

unchanged since that became operative in 2009 and I just rolled over 

the numbers for the houses which is 111 at the bottom there, and 350 

for resort hotel bedrooms. 

 20 

MR DAYSH:   I think you have said already that those are – you are looking to 

just duplicate those, allot those in the new zone? 

 

MS DIXON:   Keep the status quo in terms of the amount of development that 

was provided for previously. 25 

 

  [2.35 pm] 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right, that is good, thank you.  I do have a question about 

these errors that you talked about, is it 14.13 and 14.14 or paragraphs, 30 

page 58, where you talk about those errors? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, I think so, yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   What do you recommend we do about those errors? 35 

 

MS DIXON:   The 14.13, there is no submission, so that is difficult.  14.14 

there is no submission either, but that was pointed out to me by one of 

our storm water engineers who noticed that there was an error and I 

have explained there, basically my fault for a mathematical error, that 40 

would be good if those figure in the right hand column were to be 

corrected.   

 

MR DAYSH:   In your opinion, would anyone be prejudiced by correcting 

either of those errors? 45 
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MS DIXON:   No, I do not think so.  The first one, the picture on the last 

attachment H, I think it is, shows it as a very small strip and is already 

farmed as part of an adjoining farm so it is not going to change the 

existing situation at all. 

 5 

 And I do not think there are any other parties because, as you can see, 

there is no title boundaries within that adjoining farm, it is all one title, 

the boundary, I think, potentially just – you know, there are obviously 

boundaries just into Clearwater, but the actual land that is kind of a 

fawny colour, is all one. 10 

 

MR DAYSH:   And the corrected levels, how significant is that error, is it a 

significant- - - 

 

MS DIXON:  Well, it is pretty silly as an error because it causes the levels to 15 

be indicated to be below ground, so that is clearly nonsensical.  So say 

3.01 as I had had it, would be six metres below ground, or something 

like that. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Just looking at – that is useful to understand that – just looking 20 

at your 14.15 and 14.16, page 58 and 59; the company has asked for 

some additional development rights, haven’t they? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 25 

MR DAYSH:   Is your reason for not agreeing with those, effects based, or just 

– could you encapsulate, going from 11 more houses or 50 more hotel 

units; what is the real planning or effects reason why you do not agree 

with that? 

 30 

MS DIXON:   In the case of the 11 houses, the company is arguing or was 

arguing that they are due those as a result of the original transfer of 

development rights and I do not think that argument is valid because it 

is pretty clear to me that there was never any agreement for those extra 

11, it was just something that was discussed at some point before that 35 

agreement was made between the companies and the Council. 

 

 So in practical terms, I do not think the argument stacks up. 

 

MR DAYSH:   With respect, that is not what I asked you. 40 

 

MS DIXON:   No, I am aware of that and that extra 11 houses probably would 

not make a lot of difference in terms of the scale of the existing built 

development at the resort that is currently filling up at the sort of 

eastern end on that picture we had up there, so Kaikainui Lane area- - - 45 
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MR DAYSH:   Could we perhaps bring up the chart again. 

 

MS DIXON:   Just a little bit further to the north-west, there is a block north of 

those two lakes, Kaikainui Lane is indicated on the aerial and that area 

is sort of largely built up now with houses, so there is some remaining 5 

quota anyway in terms of the potential for – I think it is nine or so extra 

houses, I would have to check the figures again, so they could be 

developed on the eastern block, but what we are talking about is 

additional to that, so as you can see, that eastern block is very large and 

obviously nine houses is not going to make much of a dent in that, so it 10 

could be argued that 11 more is not going to make much more of a dent 

either. 

 

  [2.40 pm] 

 15 

 It is just that it does not seem to me that it is necessary in terms of the 

fact that we now have the Regional Policy Statement policy about 

development within the 50 and we also have the Strategic Directions 

which is seeking I think essentially just to preserve the status quo rather 

than add to it. 20 

 

MR DAYSH:   So it is nothing to do with exacerbating issues in terms of the 

airport’s future or more people living there in these areas.  You are not 

concerned about that? 

 25 

MS DIXON:   Well those areas in the eastern part of Clearwater are actually 

the least noisy effectively if you look at the runway configuration.  So 

they are probably sort of the easiest to justify in terms of if you are 

going to make an exception you make the exception a bit bigger.  I 

would not take the same view if it was a case of additional houses 30 

much closer to the centre line, the extended centre line of the runway. 

 

MR DAYSH:   But it is fair to say that your planning reason for not supporting 

that is really around; this is in a defined urban area, there has been 

some agreement in the past and you think that should be adhered to? 35 

 

MS DIXON:   What has happened with Clearwater is there has been kind of an 

incremental scale over time.  So I guess from the perspective of the 

Regional Policy Statement there probably needs to be kind of an end to 

that in terms of a cap. 40 

 

MR DAYSH:  There is what some people call planning creep, is that what you 

mean? 

 

MS DIXON:   Well there was certainly resource consent creep.  There are 45 

numerous consent over the years.  But the zoning then provided for that 
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amount of development anyway so they are pretty much the same 

thing. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, okay well that is helpful, thank you.  That is all I have. 

 5 

SJH:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   Following on from the questions of Mr Daysh; do you go so 

far as to say that any further houses or bedrooms, hotel bedrooms, but 

particularly houses at Clearwater, over and above what is provided for 

at the moment, would not give effect to the Regional Policy Statement? 15 

 

MS DIXON:   I have to double check the wording of that policy 6.3.5.  I did 

have it somewhere.   

 

SJH:   It could be brought up on the screen. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   It might be able to be brought up on the screen, yes.   

 

SJH:   The Regional Policy Statement 6.3.5. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   That is probably here. 

 

SJH:   Oh, here it is. 

 

MS DIXON:   Oh, here we go.   30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If you bring it up so that 4 could be seen as well. 

 

MS DIXON:   That already has a bit of an issue in that it does not provide for 

an exception for Clearwater but your Strategic Directions decision does 35 

so to that extent they are not totally aligned.  I think it is realistic to 

provide for that section in the Strategic Directions Chapter. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, but I did not ask you about that. 

 40 

MS DIXON:   No. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I asked you about your interpretation of 4 and perhaps 5 of 

that policy there, and whether you read that as not providing for further 

new development at all at Clearwater? 45 
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MS DIXON:   I think to the extent that it is probably not an urban area in terms 

of the definition of urban area.  In the Regional Policy Statement it 

probably does say at the moment that further development should be 

avoided because the contour is so far out. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   It is well within that 50. 

 

MS DIXON:   It is well within that 50. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And it is not a residentially zoned urban area, you have 10 

already answered that question. 

 

MS DIXON:   No well I mean we have called it a Specific Purpose zone 

because it is not a standard urban scenario. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   And previously it was an Open Space zone. 

 

MS DIXON:   And it had a very low coverage overall, albeit that some of that 

coverage was concentrated around the clubhouse area and east and west 

of. 20 

 

  [2.45 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:   Right, thank you, that is all.  Thank you. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dixon, I have got no questions for you at this stage 

given you are coming back on Monday on airport matters but just to 

flag to you my indication earlier for the airport to provide clarity on the 

2015 noise monitoring report referred to in your rebuttal evidence of 

Mr Bonis, 2015 one. 30 

 

 We will find out on Monday whether that report is to be provided as a 

draft or whatever or the evidence is going to be amended in some way 

to correct an error, but obviously counsel will be able to talk to you 

about those matters and you may have any supplementary comments 35 

you have on that in light of that. 

 

 Mr Laing, just one other matter, just on those issues of possible 

technical errors of mapping.  That issue did come up at an earlier stage 

in another chapter and a work around was provided for that which 40 

involved the Council communicating with the landowner in a situation 

where the landowner’s interests could well have been relevant to 

indicate the common position was they wanted it changed and it was 

able to be changed but I suppose there is a primary question as to 

whether those errors are so immaterial, as to not impact a landowner at 45 

all. 
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MS DIXON:   Sorry to interrupt. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sorry, I was just talking to Mr Laing.  So if you wanted to 

just bear that in mind. 5 

 

MR LAING:   I can make some inquiries, Judge, and see if we can just get 

some more clarity around whether it is possible that they could actually 

just provide a document saying that there is no issue around that. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS DIXON:   There was in fact a landowner - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dixon, sorry I did not ask you a question but did you 15 

have something to say? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, I am sorry.  It was in fact the landowner who advised us of 

this mistake. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Oh, I see.  So it may well be very straightforward. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes.  Well I will follow that up and provide something to the 

panel by way of memorandum. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you very much, that is all for now.  Any 

questions arising? 

 

MR LAING:   No, sir. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, see you again. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [2.47 pm] 

 

SJH:   All right I believe Mr Jordan is on his way, stand down but I think given 35 

there is no cross-examination the Crown may be excused and I think 

the Council needs somebody here, but it might fall on Mr Harwood if 

you want to be excused, Mr Laing. 

 

MR LAING:   I think it is more the other way around. 40 

 

SJH:   Oh, is it? 

 

MR LAING:   The young hold sway. 

 45 

MR LAING:   No, sir, we will be here. 
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SJH:   Well how long - - -  

 

MR LAING:   Have we got any idea about how long Mr Jordan will be?  

 5 

SJH:   Well he has appeared a number of times and he usually is on time if not 

early.  We have rung his residence and he is not there but they think he 

is coming so I would think about 10 or 15 minutes at the longest. 

 

MR LAING:   Can I just raise one further minor matter, chair? 10 

 

SJH:   Yes, of course. 

 

MR LAING:   Ms Dixon has been sworn, I would like to communicate with 

her over the weekend - - - 15 

 

SJH:   Could I just make a blanket ruling that counsel are able to communicate 

and discuss fully with their witnesses all matters.  She is not under 

cross-examination, so in other words we will treat each section of 

evidence as completely separate.  So once that is finished she is no 20 

longer a witness. 

 

MR LAING:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   We will have her re-sworn so you have the normal freedom as if she was 25 

not a witness. 

 

MR LAING:  Thank you, sir, I just wanted to make sure that is - - - 

 

SJH:   Because you have got two or three witnesses in that category and I think 30 

- - - 

 

MR LAING:   Yes there are a number of witnesses - - - 

 

SJH:   - - - and I think the Crown may have so that is a blanket ruling to make 35 

it work for everybody. 

 

MR LAING:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Okay, thank you, thanks. 40 

 

ADJOURNED [2.48 pm] 

 

RESUMED [3.13 pm] 

 45 
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<CHRISTIAN JORDAN [3.13 pm] 
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MR JORDAN:   Just very briefly; a 30 metre setback I note in 

Belinda Margetts’ evidence, 7.5C, she notes that the downstream 

waterway setback, she says that the 30 metre distance is already 

substantial and a greater setback is considered to be too onerous. 

 5 

 So my point is that the 30 metre setback that currently is in the Plan is 

too far where there are residential properties without a roadway in 

between the river and the road. 

 

 So, for instance, my property is in Heathcote Street in Woolston.  The 10 

original boundary was 15 metres from the river and there is a 20 metre 

reserve requirement under the Resource Management Act and there is a 

further 10 metres so 15 metres of the section has been lost so on the 

rear yard the section is 20 metres deep on one of them and half the 

distance of that site is actually in that zone and cannot be built on. 15 

 

 So, my point is that it takes too much into private sections along the 

river and the only advantages really is for flooding or prevention or that 

sort of issue for the Council getting a benefit from it, it is not really – it 

is not ecological when it is that distance and I think Belinda Margetts 20 

acknowledges that in her 7.5C 

 

  [3.15 pm] 

 

 So I had said 25 metres – sorry, 20 metres would be more reasonable, 25 

acknowledging that is the same as the Resource Management Act, but I 

mean even if it was 25 metres it would, say on my site, “Yeah, that has 

got a 20 metre dimension to that 20 metre setback”, at the moment only 

10 metres is buildable.  If it was a 25 metre setback, 15 metres would 

be buildable, which at least gives you a bit more room, so that is my 30 

reason for the submission and why I think it is too restrictive. 

 

 And it is only on a small number of properties because in most cases 

there is a road between the river boundary and the property.  So where 

you have got a road in front, 30 metres might not seem so 35 

unreasonable, but on the properties that do not have a road, it is quite a 

long distance – there are properties down in Woolston, I think in some 

parts of lower part of Fendalton as well along the Avon River, probably 

the areas most affected by those setbacks, and along the lower part of 

the Avon is of course mainly red zone now. 40 

 

 So that was the point of my submission. 

 

SJH:   You have got a number of other submissions, do you wish to deal with 

them all now or? 45 
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MR JORDAN:   Which ones were those? 

 

SJH:   Well it was the one around fill and - - -  

 

MR JORDAN:   That was - - -  5 

 

SJH:   - - - flooding and – we got them all here together, so is it the only one on 

the rules? 

 

MR JORDAN:   The fill one was on the – I think we have had that before, on 10 

the natural hazards. 

 

SJH:   And the character zone about the - - -  

 

MR JORDAN:   The character zone, yes. 15 

 

SJH:   So it is only the setback - - -  

 

MR JORDAN:   It is only the setback - - -  

 20 

SJH:   - - - for the rules. 

 

MR JORDAN:   For the rules, yes. 

 

SJH:   Okay. 25 

 

MR JORDAN:   Because the rest of them I think I have – I think this is the 

very last one I will be presenting as well, I think all those other ones 

have been dealt with in previous hearings. 

 30 

SJH:   All right, thank you.  I will just see if the Panel have questions, 

Mr Jordan.  Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, thank you, sir.  Mr Jordan, it is quite a practical issue you 

are raising. 35 

 

MR JORDAN:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Could we have a look at your property on Google maps and just 

- - -  40 

 

MR JORDAN:   If you put 41B or 41A or B Heathcote Street in Woolston – I 

mean I know of another property just slightly further along there that is 

virtually the entire property’s been mapped, down on the corner of 

Catherine Street. 45 
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MR DAYSH:   We might be able to look at that as well. 

 

MR JORDAN:   Yes, so if you zoom in - - -  

 

MR DAYSH:   So this is the Heathcote River is that right? 5 

 

MR JORDAN:   Yes.  So at the moment where that back boundary fence is, 

15 metres from the riverbank. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes. 10 

 

MR JORDAN:   The Council’s taken another, I think it is – well actually it was 

meant to be 15, but I think that is from erosion, so they have actually 

taken about seven or eight metres, to bring it up to the 20 metre 

setback, so that is beyond that current fence line which was taken a few 15 

years ago, and then the balance of that title at 41A is around 20 metres 

from the start of it to where the legal boundary is, so essentially where 

that dark – the light grey area that was a gravel pad put in for 

foundations, that - - -  

 20 

MR DAYSH:   So that light grey area - - -  

 

MR JORDAN:   That light - - -  

 

MR DAYSH:   - - - where the red - - -  25 

 

MR JORDAN:   - - - that light grey area is the extent you can build on, the area 

behind you cannot build on, so that – as you can see there – as I said it 

was half, but some of that is actually looks less than half because there 

is that reserve is behind the – so the esplanade reserve comes behind 30 

that boundary. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, how long have you lived at 41A? 

 

MR JORDAN:   That is the property that I have owned. 35 

 

MR DAYSH:   You own that? 

 

MR JORDAN:   Yes. 

 40 

MR DAYSH:   You do not live there? 

 

MR JORDAN:   No. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Right. 45 
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MR JORDAN:   No, so those rear sites – so this is the rear sites, they are both 

individually titled, so they would – I subdivided those before the 

earthquakes but there was issue there with earthquake damage and 

things, so. 

 5 

MR DAYSH:   All right, so how long have you owned this property? 

 

MR JORDAN:   2006. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Right.  And has it – is there a flooding issue with that back area 10 

from time to time? 

 

MR JORDAN:   I think there has been water lying there once, when the 

Woolston cut gates – it is in the 10 year – they have particular sites in 

the 10 year, so there is an issue on that property with potential flooding. 15 

 

MR DAYSH:   But you are looking at a more general issue. 

 

MR JORDAN:   Yes, if you look down on the corner of Catherine Street, the 

next – just - - -  20 

 

MR DAYSH:   Can you come down? Yes. 

 

MR JORDAN:   Yes, so properties there on the corner, and actually if you go 

down a little bit further, the property on the corner of Maronan Street, it 25 

is probably a better example, that one there, that is actually on an 

elevated platform. 

 

  [3.20 pm] 

 30 

MR DAYSH:   Yes. 

 

MR JORDAN:   And as you can the entire properties within that 30 metre 

setback, so in theory they cannot do anything. 

 35 

MR DAYSH:   Yes. 

 

MR JORDAN:   And nor can the neighbour down there at number – I think it is 

the next property along at 21. 

 40 

MR DAYSH:   So if we are looking at encouraging intensification and inner 

city living, this could be an issue for a number of properties? 

 

MR JORDAN:   If you scroll through the Woolston cut and you will see that 

there are quite a number of properties in this area – down the Woolston 45 

cut, the wider bit of the river.   
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 So you can all those properties there are well within 30 metres where 

the existing dwellings are, so they in theory cannot do anything under 

that rule. 

 5 

MR DAYSH:   Okay, that is very helpful, thank you Mr Jordan. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir. 10 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Mr Jordan, so the 30 metres is from, is it 

downstream waterways? 15 

 

MR JORDAN:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And as you say, probably on the Avon a lot of that is all red 

zoned? 20 

 

MR JORDAN:   It is all red zoned anyway, 

 

MS DAWSON:   But in the Heathcote, I actually do not know where the 

downstream waterway starts? 25 

 

MR JORDAN:   I think it actually starts in Fendalton; so this also affects like 

properties down at the bottom end of Fendalton Road south 

downstream from Mona Vale, they have that 30 metre setback as well. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   From about Mona Vale down? 

 

MR JORDAN:   From Mona Vale down, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And presumably further up the Heathcote, as you say, there is 35 

often a road on each side? 

 

MR JORDAN:   There is a road, yes, and there are quite a lot of places where 

there are roads on both sides. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   But there are places, as you have pointed out here where 

there is intensive existing development within that 30 metre setback. 

 

MR JORDAN:   That is actually zoned residential medium density through 

there as well, so it was intended to be – that is right by the Woolston 45 

shops. 
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MS DAWSON:   And further upstream there looks like it is possibly an 

industrial or commercial zone? 

 

MR JORDAN:   They are industrial and they are actually well – you know, as 5 

close as 10 metres near a dwelling, so within 10/15 metres along that 

part of the river and on the other side of the river as well.  So it is quite 

common that buildings already exist in that area, further along you will 

see the roads with slightly more separation.   

 10 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, thank you for bringing that practical issue to our 

attention, as you have done.  Thanks very much. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. Judge? 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No thank you, sir, but thank you. 

 

SJH:   Were you going to raise something, Mr Laing. 

 

MR LAING:   If Mr Jordan has finished. 20 

 

 Just in terms of Judge Hassan raising the question of standards; we 

have done a scan on all the remaining evidence, there are various noise 

standards that are directly affected, or directly around the Airport 

issues, but there are other ones as well. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I see, no I could quickly clarify.   

 

MR LAING:   I just want to clarify which one you want? 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  the one of specific interest for Monday for me is the 

industrial noise standard which I think Mr Day says a certain 

methodology of measurement is not appropriate, and Dr Chiles says it 

is – Mr Day says it does not accord with that standard to apply and 

Dr Chiles says it does. 35 

 

 So I think it is important for that standard, recorded in both of their 

statements before the Panel, I think it is NZS 6802 – hang on a minute, 

I will just double check that- - - 

 40 

MR LAING:   That is actually one we have not got so far. 

 

SJH:   Just pause, I do not want to keep Mr Jordan, but I just want to place on 

the record, Mr Jordan, and in the transcript, that you have been before 

us a number of times and I think you said this is your last submission, 45 

and we know you have got property interests but your submissions 
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have been much, much broader than your own personal interests and it 

is a pity there has not been a few more concerned citizens like you 

because you have always been very succinct, very practical and really 

on top of the subject and we are grateful for you for taking part in our 

process. 5 

 

MR JORDAN:   Thank you, sir.   

 

SJH:   You can be released, thank you. 

 10 

<CHRISTIAN JORDAN WITHDREW [3.24 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So the reference Mr Laing that I have got is 

NZS 6802:2008. 

 15 

MR LAING:   And they have been produced today. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is that this one? 

 

MR LAING:   Exhibit 1. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay so that is that one. 

 

MR LAING:   So that is that one. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, so that is good – so we need that for Monday. 

 

MR LAING:   So they have got that, we have also found NZS 6805:1992, 

Airport Noise Management and Land Use Planning. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, it might useful to have that one as well, one Panel 

member obviously was not part of the Panel that heard these matters in 

regard to residential. 

 

MR LAING:   We can send that in. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   Road traffic noise, I do not think you- - - 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No. 

 

MR LAING:   No, acoustics wind farms, no. 

 

  [3.25 pm] 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   No. 

 

MR LAING:   Building acoustics ASNZ Joint Standard 2107 2000 Acoustics 

Recommended Design Sound Levels.  That is in there. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I do not think I - - - 

 

MR LAING:   You do not think so?   

 

MR……….:   That will be noise insulation for the houses. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, that is not of interest to me anyway. 

 

MR LAING:   No.  And then there is 6807 1994, Noise Management Land Use 

in Helicopter Landing Areas.  We probably should have that. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Should have that one, yes. 

 

MR LAING:   Construction noise, not particularly relevant. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No. 

 

MR LAING:   And the 6805 1992, Airport – no, sorry, I have talked about that.  

So I think that has covered it. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   We will get those sent by pdf to the panel. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, and perhaps if someone was able to email 30 

Ms Appleyard to indicate that it is under control. 

 

MR LAING:   We will copy those to her as well. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you. 35 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you.  Thank you very much.  We will adjourn until 9.30 

Monday morning, thank you. 

 

MATTER ADJOURNED AT 3.26 PM UNTIL 40 

MONDAY, 14 MARCH 2016 


